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YOUR LEASING SOLUTION
FOR SUSTAINABLE
TRANSPORTATION

For 160 years, Touax
has been offering
tailor-made solutions
for leasing and selling
transport equipment.
With environmentally
responsible solutions at
the heart of global trade
Hows, Touax continually
adapts to its market
and its customers,
enabling it to play

the role of operator

In its own right, agile
and outsider.
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2" in Europe
on the intermodal
market

FREIGHT
RAILCARS
11,078 platforms
(9,574 freight
railcars)

| 1%t in Europe
and South America

RIVER BARGES
97 barges

1stin Europe
3 in the world in

| asset management

CONTAINERS
434,816 TEU




Raphaél

Walewski

RAPHAEL
WALEWSKI
Managing Partner

Dear Shareholders, Customers and Partners,

Having successfully shifted its focus to transport
equipment leasing in 2018, the Group continued

to deploy its continuous improvement programme
throughout 2019, increasing profitability and improving
customer satisfaction.

The strategy has undoubtedly borne fruit, leading to an
improvement in operating performance (a 44% increase
in operating income at the end of December 2019, and a
positive net profit before tax) along with an increase in
investment.

2019 saw our utilisation rate improve for freight railcars
(89.5% at the end of December 2019) and stabilise at
high levels for containers (95.9% at the end of December
2019) and river barges (85.3% at the end of December
2019). At the same time, our modular buildings activity

in Africa improved in profitability and revenue from this
business significantly increased. In 2019, the Group

also increased its sales and trading activities (up 72%
compared to last year) which are complementary to the
leasing services.

The Group has increased its financial capabilities, too,
thanks to new sources of funding and an increase in
assets managed on behalf of investors (more than 1.2
billion euros in assets under management for nearly
1,000 customers).

As we look forward to 2020, we feel confident about the
year ahead, for the following reasons: - we are seeing an
acceleration in demand from our customers, financial
partners, investors and communities to promote
environmentally-friendly modes of transportation.

By investing on behalf of our customers in freight
railcars, river barges and containers, we are helping
them to achieve their CO2 reduction commitments;

- outsourcing (operational leasing vs. ownership)
continues to be favoured by our customers, who are
keen to maintain their flexibility. The current situation

- with the ongoing health crisis, geopolitical risks

and uncertainties surrounding growth - should only
reinforce this trend; - thanks to our responsive and

FABRICE
WALEWSKI
Managing Partner

competent teams,our international presence, the
excellent reputation of the Touax brand, and our unique
and combined expertise in intermodal, rail and river
transport, we are perfectly placed to offer tailor-made
operational leasing solutions, come up with innovations,
and best meet the needs of the market.

In 2020, we will focus our efforts on strengthening
relationships with our main financial partners in
order to increase our investments and assets under
management, while helping our customers transition
towards more environmentally friendly means

of transport, and

strengthening the

creation of value for “

our shareholders. With
regard to the impact

of COVID-19, while

we remain extremely
vigilant and in crisis
management mode,

the Group is seeing
relatively little impact in
the first quarter of 2020,
since long-term leasing
activities generally tend
to be spared during
health crises. Utilisation
rates in the container activity have remained high, at
96%, and reaching 98% in river barges and around 89%
in the railcar business at the end of March 2020. Our
activities are resilient, with 76% of our budgeted leasing
income under contract for 2020.

Fabrice
Walewski

We would like to thank our shareholders, our customers,
our partners and all the Touax teams for

their loyalty and total commitment to our work.

The Managing Partners



CUSTOMER SATISFACTION

AT THE HEART

OF OUR CONCERNS

To improve the quality of our
services and the satisfaction
of our customers, we are
deploying a continuous
improvement programme,
and have set up a new
management structure for
our fleet of railcars, with
results already visible in 2019:
» anincrease in utilisation

rates, reaching 89.5%
at the end of the year;

» 1,396 wagons upgraded
to support this rise;

« the introduction of a GPS
fleet tracking initiative to
optimise their operation.

Similarly, in the Containers
business, we have:

» developed a promising
trading activity for new
and used containers
which has produced
very encouraging results
x2 since 2018;

- extended our range of
refrigerated containers; and

- strengthened our
commercial presence
alongside our customers,
particularly through our
platform, with additional
agents in the three regions,
North America, Europe

and Asia.

OUR COMMITMENT
TO SUSTAINABLE MODES
OF TRANSPORT

Our focus is now firmly

on sustainable modes of
transport, and we actively
support our customers to
facilitate their transition
to environmentally friendly
means of transport.

Barges

River transportation is
particularly green thanks to
its low energy consumption,
and its low levels of pollutants
and CO2 emissions. It
contributes to unclogging
roads and helps absorb a large
part of freight traffic.

Freight railcars

Touax Rail is delighted to have
been chosen as one of the
eight projects selected for EU
funding in September 2019.
These projects will help reduce
noise pollution from rail

freight in the EU by improving
the braking systems of
wagons. Quieter and more
efficient brakes will result in

a better energy performance
from the trains themselves, as
well as better conditions for
those who live near railways.
Nearly 75,000 rail freight cars
will be modernised across
Europe as part of these eight
projects for railcar owners.

INVESTING
TO BECOME
PROFITABLE
AGAIN

Since the end of 2017,

the Group has successfully
shifted its focus onto

the long-term leasing

of transport equipment.

In 2019, the Group
continued to implement
this strategy with

a focus on continuous
improvement and growth:

railcars:

upgrading and maintenance
investments in order to increase the
fleet of leased railcars and improve the
platform's profitability (utilisation rate
up to 88.7%);

barges:

new investments in Europe with the
delivery of three new barges on the
Seine and the Rhine;

containers:

investments in new equipment and

development of the trading platform for
new and used containers.

* €40 million in disintermediated
corporate financing from an
infrastructure fund

« supplemented by €10 million of Euro
PP bonds.

* EBITDA: up 44% to reach
almost €37 million

« Positive EBIT of nearly €700,000



THE TOUAX MODEL

FOR SUSTAINABLE
GROWTH AND
PERFORMANCE

Tuned in to global market trends,
Touax pursues a profitable development
policy, which relies in particular on

a diversified offer, renowned expertise
in each of its businesses and

a longstanding relationship of trust
with its stakeholders. Mindful

of environmental issues, the Group
places sustainable development

at the heart of its innovation policy
and the management of its operations.
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11,078
Platforms

(9.574 freight railcars)

znd

leasing company in Europe,
for intermodal railcars

70

railway operators, industrial
companies and logistics

providers

FREIGHT RAILCARS

THE SATISFACTION

OF OUR CUSTOMERS

IS AT THE VERY

HEART OF

WHAT WE DO

Touax Rail provides a comprehensive service for leasing,
sale and maintenance of freight railcars. The expertise

that Touax Rail has in its management of railway
maintenance and safety is recognised by our clients.

We have been providing these services for long-standing

rail operators for several years now.

ouax Rail manages
a diversified range
of freight railcars:

intermodal railcars (containers,
swap bodies), car-carrier railcars,
coil carriers (steel coils), sliding
wall railcars (palletised products),
hopper and powder railcars
(cement, cereals).

In 2018, the European market for
rail freight transport experienced
general growth, particularly in the
intermodal segment (+1.7% tonnes
(tk) combined with a rail transport
market share that increased

to 17%), the automotive segment
(+2.3% tk combined with a rail
transport market share of 18%)
and that of building materials
(+0.9% tk).

These increases are reflected

in the increase in our average
European utilisation rate to 87.5%
in 2019, up +3% compared to last
year.

To meet the demand of our
customers, we have redesigned
our organisation around a "fleet
management" service with the aim
of improving our service offer,

to provide greater responsiveness
and efficiency and therefore
improve the satisfaction of our
customers. Alongside this, and for
the same purpose, we have begun
to equip our railcars with a GPS
system to improve maintenance
management and its cost.

(I
oo mes!

ISO 9001 - 2015
for the leasing

and maintenance
of freight railcars

ECM: certified
Entity in Charge
of Maintenance

Touax Rail offers
its leasing services
in two main areas:
in Europe through
offices located

in Ireland (Western
Europe area)
complemented

by a network of
agents covering

all of Europe,
including the
United Kingdom,
and in Asia in
partnership with a
local operator.
Given the need for
railcar fleet renewal
and the demand
of our clients,

our ambition is

to continue our
growth based

on a process

of continuous
improvement and
by prioritising the
satisfaction of

our customers.



RIVER BARGES

AN EXCLUSIVE
AND TAILOR-MADE

OFFER

With more than 165 years' experience in river
transport, Touax River Barges develops innovative

and exclusive solutions for leasing and sales of assets
for manufacturers and logistics operators across

the world's largest river systems. We bring added value
by providing a tailor-made service offer.

e offer our customers
a full range of expertise
in the river transport

sector:

operational leasing of barges;
trading of barges and push tugs;
sale and lease back of river fleets;
technical design and monitoring
of construction;

advice, assistance and technical
expertise in river transport;
management of river transport
certificates and administrative
documents.

97
barges

1er

Leading operational lessor
in Europe and in South
America

250,000 tonnes
of freight transport capacity

3 times less
CO2 consumption
than by road

2019 was marked by a demand
recovery in Europe supported by
long-term infrastructure projects
(Greater Paris site, development
of biomass power plants and wind
farms in the North Sea).

UNIQUE INTERNATIONAL
PRESENCE
Touax River Barges has an
extensive geographic presence
across the world's main river
systems:
in Europe: on the Seine, the
Rhine, the Main and the Danube
which connect France, Germany,
Austria, Slovakia, Hungary,
Croatia, Serbia, Bulgaria and
Romania;
in North America: on the
Mississippi, Ohio and Missouri
in South America: on the
Parand-Paraguay river that
crosses Brazil, Uruguay,
Argentina, Paraguay and Bolivia.

PRESTIGIOUS CUSTOMERS
Logistics operators:
NAVROM-TTS, MILLER, RHENUS,
P&O MARITIME SERVICES,
ATRIA LOGISTICS..
Industrialists: CEMEX,
ARCELOR-MITAL, YARA,
BUNGE, ADM, TOTAL...

Touax offers
turnkey-delivered
river assets across
its business areas.

River transport,
besides its
environmental and
cost benefits, helps
to clear road
networks (1 convoy
of 24 barges in the
United States is equal
to 2,200 lorries).

In 2020, Touax will
continue its selective
investments on the

Rhine and the Seine




CONTAINERS

A LEADING
BUSINESS PARTNER

Touax Global Container Solutions contributes to
the global growth of its customers through value-added
solutions for the leasing, sale and trading of new and

used containers.

Thanks to the flexibility and proximity of our operational
platform, we are a leading business partner for

our customers and suppliers.

through investments in new

and used containers through
Sale & Lease back contracts. We
have strengthened our commercial
partnership with our customers
and expanded our panel of
financial partners. We maintained
a utilisation rate of over 97%
throughout

In 2019, we renewed with growth

the year, thanks to the favourable
market environment and

our long-term contracts
representing 85% of our fleet.

We maintained our used container
sales volumes thanks to returns
by shipping companies of used
containers that have reached the
age limit for sea transport.

30 years of experience

434,816 containers (TEU)
under management

200 depots
throughout the world

97 % utilisation rate

+1,000 customers

In addition to our long-standing
equipment, standard dry
containers, we developed trading in
refrigerated containers.

Lastly, we consolidated our new
and used container trading activity
in North and South America, in
Europe and in Asia. After 5 years of
growth, we are now considered as
an important and reliable operator
in the trading of containers.

EXPANSION OF SERVICES

In 2020, we will be expanding our
range of innovative solutions with
formulas for managing fleet sales
on behalf of ship-owner clients and
the development of containerised
products for logistics and storage
markets.

We are also going to broaden

our range of products through a
diversification of rental and sales
equipment.

Leasing, sale

and trading

New and used dry
and refrigerated
containers

A FAVOURABLE
ENVIRONMENT FOR
CONTAINER LESSORS
In 2020, with

the need to
replace an ageing
container fleet and
to keep up with
the considerable
investment
required to comply
with IMO 2020
standards on their
ships, shipping
companies will
continue to rely

on leasing
companies for
their long-term
container needs.

We confirm our
objective to invest
and renew our fleet.



ASSET MANAGEMENT

INVESTMENT
IN REAL ASSETS

MANAGED BY TOUAX

The Touax Group enables qualified and professional
investors seeking diversification to invest directly or
indirectly in leased transportation assets, offering

stable yields.

ninvestment in real assets
has several characteristics
for investors:

diversification with regard to
traditional investments (stocks
and bonds);

generally low volatility, as these
asset categories are usually less
exposed to speculation in the
financial markets and benefit from
along leasing term (3-6 years);

an attractive yield, as yields on
financial assets (stocks, bonds)
are currently low;

a stable leasing revenue flow,
while maximising a residual value
that can be significant;

potential protection against
inflation, with real asset values
showing a strong correlation
with inflation.

+20 years in the management
of real assets on behalf
of investors

1.2 billion euros of assets
under management at end
of December 2019,

of which 733 million euros
was for third parties

DIVERSIFIED INVESTORS
Among the current qualified

and professional investors are

a range of profiles, including
family office, wealth managers,
insurance companies and
financial institutions, foundations,
businesses and infrastructure
funds.

AN ORGANISATION
DEDICATED TO MANAGEMENT
FOR THIRD PARTIES

TOUAX has dedicated team of
experienced professionals who are
there to organize the process and
answer any questions investors
may have as they review and
analyze investment opportunities
in containers, railcars and barges.
TOUAX's Asset Management

team has a solid understanding of
the legal, business and technical
aspects of the assets, as well as
the characteristics of each market
and is constantly looking for
opportunities to leverage

the Group's skills, knowledge

and experience.

It also relies on operational
divisions and their strong expertise.
It also relies on the operational
divisions and their strong expertise.
This includes asset life-cycle
management, from negotiations
with manufacturers to initial
leasing contracts and subsequent
renewals and asset disposal to end
users at the end of their useful life.

Mobile and
standardised asset
management

with low risk of
obsolescence and
useful life between
15 and 50 years.

Any investment in
real assets presents
potential risks
associated with

the transportation
sector, geopolitical
issues and the global
economy, rental
activity and customer
credit risk. These
risks are identified
by Touax and further
discussed in the

risk factors of the
Universal Registration
Document.

Any investment
involves a high

level of risk, and a
poor performance
may affect the
overall return on an
investment. It may
be possible that an
investor does not
obtain a return on
investment or a return
on capital. Moreover,
past performance is
not a guarantee of
future results.



TOUAXIN THE WORLD

Containers

Eall]
Agents

River Barges
Agents ==

Freight Railcars
Agents i

AS CLOSE AS POSSIBLE
TO OUR CUSTOMERS

3]

Miami, USA

vT;;clnmcl
Our network is a strength
in the international supply
chain and our growth is always
in step with the uniqueness
of our business model: service,
responsiveness, integrity,
reliability and accountability.
Our objective is not to be
everywhere, but rather to prioritise
dynamic and profitable markets

and be in closer proximity
to our customers.
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Pennsylvania,
Philadelphia, USA

Casablanca, Morocco 7

Panama City,

Germany

Constanta,
Romania

Augsburg, Germany,
Castenedolo, Italy,
Beddingestrand,
Sweden, Swidnica,
Poland, Prague, Czech
Republic, Gyor,
Hungary, Vienng,
Austria, Etten-Leur,
the Netherlands

53,

Sao Paulo, Brazil

el



Ireland

Paris, France

EUROPE

Augsburg,
Hamburg,
Germany
Beddingestrand,
Sweden
Etten-Leur, Rotterdam,
the Netherlands

Dublin, ‘
Swidnica,
_ Poland
Prague, Czech Republic
London, England

Gyor, Hungary
Constanta,
. . Romania
' Vienna, Austria
Castenedolo, Genoa, Italy

(el

.— Seoul

Shanghai

Calcutta, Indi (e

Singapore A

Istanbul, Turkey

Touax Offices . Containers
Touax Agents e &= River Barges

bewg Freight Railcars

13



A STRUCTURE
SPECIFICALLY ADAPTED
TO THE PRINCIPLES

OF GOOD GOVERNANCE

Touax SCA is a partnership limited by shares the indefinite responsibility of the general
under French law. The law and the specific partners, which is testament to the balance
characteristics of its statutes provide for: that has been established between strong

. commitment, power and responsibility; and

a clear separation of powers between

Management, which runs corporate affairs assignment to the Supervisory Board of the
and the Supervisory Board, made up of same powers and rights of communication
shareholders responsible for supervising the and investigation as those devolved to the
management and accounts; Auditors.

Executive Supervisory
committee Board

Ensures the effective management
and steering of the Group through regular
meetings, generally held twice a month. Financial

committee meetings of a technical nature are also .
held among certain members of the committee. - Alexandre COLONNA WALEWSKI, Chair

- Jéréme BETHBEZE (independent)

- Marie FILIPPI (independent)

- Julie de GERMAY (independent)

- Sylvie PERRIN (independent)

- Francois SOULET de BRUGIERE (independent)

THIERRY MARCO
SCHMIDT POGGIO
DE LA BRELIE Managing Director 500/ 4
Managing Director— of the Containers ° : :
Administration division women ;noeleq’u;gi/m

Lo A ; (J
and Finance JEROME sk
TORSTEN LE GAVRIAN R P
WOLF anaging Director
Managing Director  of the Freight 78
Strategy and Railcars division
80.

DIDIER Yo

STEPHEN BACON independent
PONAK Managing Director members R
Managin of the River Barges
Director isset division

Management




Audit

Committee

The Supervisory Board has set up

a specialised committee to provide technical
and critical support to directors for

the monitoring of the company's accounting
and financial policy, composed

of 3 members:

- Sylvie Perrin (Chair)

- Jéréme Bethbeze, (independent)

- Alexandre Colonna Walewski

2

meetings in 2019,
100% attendance

SR

Management

Board

The company is managed and administered
by two Managing Partners, Fabrice et
Raphaél Colonna Walewski.

Partners

There are two categories of partner:

- the limited partners: these are the
shareholders;

- the general partners: these are Société
Holding de Gestion et de Participation and
Société Holding de Gestion et de Location
two companies belonging to Fabrice and
Raphaél COLONNA WALEWSKI respectively.

Since 2015,

Touax has chosen
to refer to the rules
of governance
recommended

by the Middlenext
Governance Code
for Small and
Midcaps *

he Middlenext Code
contains points of
vigilance that serve
as a reminder of the questions
that the Supervisory Board
should ask itself in order to
promote the sound workings
of active governance that
is both embodied by and a
vehicle for a project adapted
to the reality of each company,
to give it the means to be
competitive and efficient,
and based on clear and
lasting principles.
It stresses the importance
of exemplary duty that should
guide shareholders, board
members and managers
and clarify their role.
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CHANGES IN THE FLEET
OF ASSETS MANAGED

(in € millions)

1,181

1,214

versus
2018

Assets owned by investors
(in € millions)

733

2018 2019

Assets owned by the Group

(in € millions)

448

2018 2019

REVENUES
FROM ACTIVITIES

(in € millions)

169.0

DISTRIBUTION OF REVENUE BY ACTIVITY
ON 31 DECEMBER 2019

9%
36

. Freight Railcars
. River Barges

Containers

"8‘% Miscellaneous
7‘%
CURRENT OPERATING EBITDA
INCOME (in € millions)
(in € millions)
[ ]
25.7

8.0

2018 2019 2018 2019
TOTAL BALANCE SHEET LOAN TO VALUE
AT 31/12/2019
(in € millions)

54%

52%

in
2018

L47




OUR ENVIRONMENTAL
APPROACH

TOUAX contributes to the development of alternative forms of transport
to road transport with its Freight Railcar, River Barge and Container
businesses. A calculator has been established to measure the reduction in

CO2 emissions on the http://www.ecotransit.org website.

Our road-using customers were asked to compare their CO2 emissions
according to their road-use and tonnes transported. Thanks to the equipment
leased by TOUAX, customers can achieve significant reductions in CO2
emissions that they can measure in an efficient way.
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Employees
all over
the world

2

All railcars no longer Barges are cleaned, Containers are sold on
in use are either sold, dismantled and the secondary market
or scrapped, deconstructed for multiple uses
then recycled. (in other words, (transport, storage,
il broken into pieces) by transformation into
||m"":J . approved companies. housing, spare parts,
(AEOE The steel (scrap etc.) or recycled,
mmu" “ an metal) is resold which is easy given
) LA and melted down the large amount
—_— in blast furnaces. of steel that they

are made up of.

29% of which are in France
19% in Europe (outside France)
‘l-‘l-% in Africa

ll-% in America

‘l-% in Asia



SHAREHOLDERS
& INVESTORS

COMPANY FILE

+ ISIN code: FROOO0033003

* Mnemonic code: TOUP

« Listing stock exchange: NYSE Euronext

¢ Market: Euronext Paris - Compartment C
¢ Activity sector: Transport Services

* PEA/SRD Eligibility: Yes/No

¢ Indices: CAC INDUSTRIALS, CAC MID&SMALL,
CAC SMALL, ENT PEA-PME 150

* Share price 2019:
- highest = €648
- lowest = €4.03

FIRST LISTING:

7 May 1906

NUMBER OF SHARES:

7 011 547

SHARE PRICE:

€5.30

at 31 December 2019

AGENDA

15 MAY 2020
Revenue from activities 1st quarter 2020

24 JUNE 2020

General Meeting of Shareholders

9 SEPTEMBER 2020
2020 half-yearly results
SFAF Presentation

11 SEPTEMBER 2020
Half-year results conference call

13 NOVEMBER 2020

Revenue from activities 3rd quarter 2020

SHAREHOLDING STRUCTURE
AT 31/12/2019

(in percentage ownership of capital)

12°/o
10%

9%

64 o

[l ~lexandre COLONNA WALEWSKI

Société Holding de Gestion et de Participation
(Fabrice COLONNA WALEWSKI)

Société Holding de Gestion et de Location
(Raphaél COLONNA WALEWSKI)

City Financial Absolute Equity Fund (OEIC)

Floating

BREAKDOWN OF VOTING RIGHTS
AT 31/12/2019

(as a percentage)

10%
54% 16%

15%
5%

[l ~lexandre COLONNA WALEWSKI

Société Holding de Gestion et de Participation
(Fabrice COLONNA WALEWSKI)

Société Holding de Gestion et de Location
(Raphaél COLONNA WALEWSKI)

City Financial Absolute Equity Fund (OEIC)

Floating



GUIDELINES

he company has adopted

ethics guidelines inspired by

the Middlenext anti-corruption

Code of conduct (this code refers
to the United Nations Convention against
corruption and focuses on combating
all forms of corruption).

This charter is an integral part of the
company's internal regulations and is
published on the company website
https://www.touax.com/en/documents.

It has been sent to all French employees
and has been translated and distributed
to all foreign entities.

In particular, the guidelines promote
"responsibility towards the environment"
and calls on each employee to:

contribute to the TOUAX environmental
initiatives;

think about their behaviour, in all areas
of activity that have an impact on

the environment, in order to minimise
this whenever possible (number of trips,
saving energy, saving water, reducing
waste); and

immediately inform their line manager
of any unusual discharge or emission
into the ground, air or water.

It helps to make employees aware of
discriminatory practices and to prevent
this type of behaviour as much as possible,
as well as the ethical choice of suppliers.

Finally, it includes several preventive
chapters (subject of gifts and invitations,
corruption, conflicts of interest ...) and
gives recommendations for the ethical
behavior to adopt in these situations.

CHARTER

ouax has

also drawn

up a Charter

to prevent
discrimination in the
workplace. Because of the
international nature of
the Group, our different
entities bring together a
wide variety of cultures
and nationalities. This
Charter is our way of
making an even stronger
commitment to our
values when it comes to
diversity, and we see it as
a key asset, essential for
the dynamic growth and
evolution of the Touax
Group. The diverse origins
of our teams stimulate
creativity and allow us
to better understand our
customers. The Charter
was sent to all of our
employees in French and/
or in English. It contains
specific definitions on the
concept of discrimination,
whether direct or indirect.

It covers the 25 usual
grounds of discrimination
adopted by the laws

that apply to our
employees around the
world (ethnicity, religion,
sex, political opinion,
age, disability, etc.), and
by extension, includes
reminders on the concept
of harassment in the
workplace.

To reinforce this
commitment to
diversity, the Charter
establishes a formal
process for handling
complaints related to
acts of discrimination or
harassment.

These principles are also
incorporated into the
internal regulations of our
legal entities in order to
give them all the binding
force required for their
protection.
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Tour Franklin

100-101 Terrasse Boieldieu
Paris La Défense (France)
Tel : (+33) 1 46 96 18 00

contact-touax@touax.com
www.touax.com

contact-railcars@touax.com
www.touaxrail.com

contact-riverbarges@touax.com
www.touax-river-barges.com

contact-containers@touax.com
www.touax-container.com

contact_maroc@touax.com
www.touax.ma
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2019 UNIVERSAL REGISTRATION DOCUMENT

YOUR LEASING SOLUTION FOR SUSTAINABLE TRANSPORTATION

2019 UNIVERSAL REGISTRATION DOCUMENT

Containing the Annual Financial Report

This universal registration document was filed on 30 April 2020 with the AMF, in its capacity as competent authority
under Regulation (EU) No. 2017/1129, without prior approval in accordance with Article 9 of this Regulation.

The universal registration document may be used for the purposes of a public offering of securities or the admission of
securities to trading on a regulated market if it is supplemented by a note relating to securities and if applicable, a
summary and any amendments made to the universal registration document. This is all approved by the AMF in
accordance with Regulation (EU) No. 2017/1129.
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1. PERSONS RESPONSIBLE, INFORMATION FROM
THIRD PARTIES, EXPERT REPORTS AND APPROVAL
BY THE COMPETENT AUTHORITY

1.1. PERSONS RESPONSIBLE

Fabrice and Raphaél Walewski, Managing Partners

1.2. DECLARATION OF THE PERSONS RESPONSIBLE

« We confirm that we have taken every reasonable measure to ensure that, to the best of our knowledge, the information in this
universal registration document gives a true and fair view and does not contain any omission likely to change the scope thereof.

We confirm to the best of our knowledge that the financial statements, prepared in accordance with applicable accounting standards,
give a true and fair view of the assets, financial position and profit or loss of the company as well and all the companies included in
its consolidation, and the management report of this document presents a true and fair view of the development and performance
of the business, profit or loss and financial position of the company and all the companies included in its consolidation, together with
a description of the principal risks and uncertainties that it faces.

30 April 2020
Fabrice et Raphaél WALEWSKI

Managing Partners

1.3. EXPERT STATEMENT OR REPORT
N/A

1.4. CERTIFICATE RELATING TO INFORMATION FROM A THIRD PARTY
N/A
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2. STATUTORY AUDITORS

2.1. STATUTORY AUDITOR DETAILS

Date first appointed Mandate expiry

Principal Statutory Auditors

DELOITTE & Associés

Represented by Mr. Jean-Frangois VIAT
6, place de la Pyramide
92908 Paris La Défense CEDEX

Appointed at the Ordinary General
Meeting on 6 June 2000, renewed at
the Ordinary General Meeting on 21
June 2017.

Following the Ordinary General
Meeting held in 2023 to approve the
2022 financial statements.

RSM PARIS

Represented by Mr. Stéphane MARIE
26 rue Cambacéres 75008 Paris

Appointed by the Ordinary General
Meeting held on 9 June 2016.

Following the Ordinary General
Meeting held in 2022 to approve the
2021 financial statements.

Substitute Statutory Auditors

FIDINTER
26 rue Cambacéres 75008 Paris

Appointed by the Ordinary General
Meeting held on 9 June 2016.

Following the Ordinary General
Meeting held in 2022 to approve the
2021 financial statements.

2.7. CHANGE IN STATUTORY AUDITORS

Not applicable
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3. RISK FACTORS

TOUAX has carried out a review and a new presentation of its risk factors, taking into account their importance according to the
probability of seeing these occur and the estimated level of their negative impact. In this new approach, the number of categories
and, where applicable, sub-categories of risks has been reduced with, in each category and sub-category, the most significant risks
presented first. The impact of each risk has been clarified. The information has been reduced to include only significant risks specific
to Touax (and/or its actions) and which are important for making an investment decision. These risks have been submitted to the
Audit Committee.

The risks specific to the activity of Touax, on the date on which the universal registration document was filed, are therefore presented
in compliance with article 16 of Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 called "Prospectus 3" of 14 June 2017, whose provisions relative to risk
factors came into force on 21 July 2019, under 6 principal categories:

1. risks linked to our equipment;

2. risks linked to dependence on our partners;

3. risks linked to the geopolitical, international and global context;
4. legal and regulatory risks;

5. financial risks;

6. risks linked to Covid-19.

3.1. RISKS LINKED TO OUR EQUIPMENT
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3.1.1.Leasing prices for our equipment are closely correlated to purchase prices of new equipment
and therefore, sustained reduction in the purchase prices of new equipment creates a risk

When there is a decrease in new equipment purchase prices, leasing rates for older equipment subject to a leasing contract are also
expected to decrease as well as the sales prices for second-hand equipment. While leasing rates in the shipping container division
had generally followed a downward trend in past years, linked primarily to a decline in steel prices and a resulting decline in the
purchase price of new shipping containers, these have been increasing since 2017. In addition, lower interest rates may make it more
attractive for companies to buy containers rather than lease it. The reduction in the purchase price of new equipment resulting in
the drop in leasing rates or resale value for all equipment could harm our business, our operating results and financial situation, even
if this sustained reduction in price also allows us to purchase new equipment at a lower cost. Since 2017, an increase in the purchase
prices generated by a rise in the prices of raw materials and in particular of steel has been observed and has been accompanied by
an increase in the leasing rates and selling prices of second-hand equipment.

We cannot predict whether these trends will continue in the medium term.

3.1.2.Gains and losses associated with the sale of used equipment may fluctuate

In addition to our purchase of new equipment, we also purchase used containers for resale from our customers and other sellers
with a view to reselling them. If the supply of equipment becomes limited because these sellers develop other means for disposing
of their equipment, develop their own sales network or simply continue using such equipment for a longer period of time, we may
not be able to purchase the inventory necessary to meet our goals, and our sales of equipment revenue and our profitability could
be negatively impacted.

We regularly sell used, older containers upon lease expiration. The residual value of these containers therefore affects our
profitability. The volatility of the residual value of containers may be significant. This value depends upon factors that are beyond our
control such as raw steel prices, applicable maintenance standards, refurbishment needs, comparable new container costs, used
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container availability, used container demand, inflation rates, market conditions, materials and labour costs and container
obsolescence and damages.

Containers are typically sold after taking into consideration earnings prospects, book value, remaining useful life, repair condition,
suitability for leasing or other uses and the prevailing local sales price for containers. Gains or losses linked to the disposal of used
containers and the commissions earned on the disposal of managed containers may fluctuate significantly, and these fluctuations
could have a significant impact on our business if we sell large quantities of used containers.

The market value of any given piece of leasing equipment could be less than its depreciated value at the time it is sold. The market
value of used leasing equipment depends on several factors, including:

- ¢ the market price for new equipment of a like kind;

- e the age of the equipment at the time it is sold, as well as wear and tear on the equipment relative to its age;

- e the supply of used equipment on the market;

- ¢ technological advances relating to the equipment;

- ¢ worldwide and domestic demand for used equipment; and

- ¢ general economic conditions.

We include in our revenues the sales price of equipment sold, as well as the difference between the sales price and the depreciated
value of an item of equipment sold. Changes in depreciation policies could change our depreciation expense, as well as the gain or
loss realized upon disposal of equipment. Sales of used leasing equipment at prices that are significantly below our projections or in
lesser quantities than we anticipate, will have a negative impact on our revenues, operating results and cash flows.

3.1.3. We may incur significant expenses in connection with under-used equipment in stock,
particularly storage costs, and we may not be able to successfully store this equipment in a cost-
effective way to meet demand

In the ordinary course of business of each of our three divisions, a portion of our equipment fleet is unused at any given moment. If
we are unable to lease or sell equipment in a timely fashion, the size of our unused fleet may increase, which may generate storage
and maintenance costs in view of their leasing that are significant and may not be able to be passed through to our customers through
higher rents or sales prices. If such equipment remains unused for an extended period of time, it could fall into disrepair and/or any
certificate or authorization required to operate such equipment could expire or be revoked. The result of either of those events
would be the partial or total loss of such equipment’s residual value. If demand picks up for a particular asset class and we are unable
to mobilize the equipment we have in stock in a timely fashion or if we are forced to write off all or a part of our inventory, we may
lose market share to our competitors who are able to meet customers’ needs more rapidly. The occurrence of any of these events
could adversely affect our business, financial situation, operating results and cash flows.

3.1.4. We own a significant amount of equipment in our fleet and it faces a number of ownership-
linked risks. The increase in our own-owned fleet has led to an increase in our debt

Ownership of equipment entails greater risk than management of equipment for third-party investors. The amount of equipment in
our owned fleet fluctuates over time as we purchase new equipment, sell used equipment into the secondary resale market, and
acquire other fleets. In terms of gross book value, as of 31 December 2019, we owned 68% of our fleet of freight railcars and 11% of
our total fleet of shipping containers. Generally, the increase in the number of owned equipment rises accordingly our ownership
risk, which may result in increased exposure to financing costs and risks, litigation risks, as well as risks linked to changes in rates, re-
leasing risks, changes in utilisation rates, lessee defaults, repositioning costs, depreciation charges and changes in sales price upon
disposition of containers. Additionally, the various additional costs associated with overcapacity such as the occurrence of additional
storage and maintenance costs, as well as equipment degradation and partial or total loss of its residual value, could harm our
business, operating results and financial situation.

Conversely, when we manage equipment for third-party investors, most of these risks are assumed by the third-party investors.

As our ownership of equipment in our fleet grows, we will likely have more capital at risk and may need to maintain higher debt
balances. We will be leveraged after giving effect to the financing and additional borrowings may not be available to us or we may
not be able to refinance our existing indebtedness, if necessary, on commercially reasonable terms or at all. We may need to raise
additional debt or equity capital in order to fund our business, expand our sales activities or respond to competitive pressures. We
may not have access to the capital resources we desire or need to fund our business or may not have access to financing on attractive
terms. An inability to acquire additional assets would have an adverse impact on our business, operating results and financial
situation.

3.1.5. Failure to properly design, manufacture, repair and maintain our equipment may result in
impairment charges and potential litigation

We do not design or manufacture the equipment we lease in our Freight Railcars, River Barges and Shipping Container divisions.
However, the repair and maintenance of our equipment and the equipment that we manage for third-party investors, exposes us to
similar risks in relation to personal injury, property damage claims, contract performance or potential litigation among others.
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We design and manufacture modular buildings in our factory in Morocco. If we do not appropriately manage the design or
manufacture of our modules, we will incur capital charges or expenses to rectify the faults. These risks may also have a significant
adverse effect on our future business, operating results, financial situation and cash flows.

3.1.6. We could be held liable for damages caused by the equipment that we lease or sell

The nature of our businesses and our assets potentially exposes us to significant personal injury and equipment damage claims and
litigation. For example, our customers may use our equipment to transport hazardous materials, and an accident involving a shipping
container, freight railcar or river barge carrying such materials could lead to litigation and subject us significant liability, particularly
where the accident involves serious personal injuries or the loss of life. In some countries, particularly the United States, shipping
container owners may be liable for any environmental damage caused as containers are unloaded. Our failure to maintain our
equipment in compliance with governmental regulations and industry rules could also expose us to personal injury, property damage,
and environmental claims. Moreover, a substantial adverse judgement against us could have a significant effect on our financial
situation, operating results and cash flows.

We obtain warranties from the manufacturers of our equipment. When defects in equipment occur, we work with the manufacturers
to identify and rectify the problem. However, there is no assurance that manufacturers will be willing or able to honour their warranty
obligations. If defects are discovered in equipment that is not covered by manufacturer warranties, we could be required to spend
significant sums of money to repair the containers, the useful lives of the equipment could be shortened and the value of the assets
reduced. In addition, if equipment manufacturers do not honour warranties covering these failures, or if the failures occur after the
warranty period expires, we could be required to expend significant amounts of money to repair or sell equipment earlier than
expected. This could have a significant adverse effect on our operating results and financial situation.

3.1.7. Certain liens may arise on our equipment in the ordinary course of our business

Sometimes, depot operators, repairmen and transporters may have a right of retention on our equipment from time to time and
have sums due to them from the lessees or sub-lessees of the equipment. In the event of non-payment of those charges by the
lessees or sub-lessees, we may be delayed in, or entirely barred from, repossessing the equipment, or be required to make payments
or incur expenses to discharge liens on our equipment, which could have a significant adverse effect on our activity, financial situation,
operating results and cash flows.

3.2. RISKS LINKED TO DEPENDENCE ON OUR PARTNERS
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3.2.1. We are dependent on the level of demand from our customers to lease or buy our
equipment

We are reliant on customer demand for the freight railcars, river barges and shipping containers that we lease or sell as well as for
the modular buildings that we sell from Morocco. Customer demand for our products and services is subject to change based on
numerous factors, including factors that are beyond our control, such as changes in harvest or production volumes, changes in supply
chains, the choice of a different transport type, availability of substitutes, the development or postponement of infrastructure
projects and other operational needs.

Cash flows generated from our equipment, which are principally derived from lease rentals, management fees and proceeds from
the sale of our owned equipment, are affected significantly by our ability to collect payments under leases and other arrangements
for the use of our equipment and our ability to replace cash flows from terminating leases by re-leasing or selling equipment on
favourable terms. When we purchase newly manufactured equipment, we typically lease it out under long-term leases (typically
between two and ten years for freight railcars and river barges and between three and five years for shipping containers), at a lease
rate that is correlated to the price paid for the asset. As these assets are not initially leased out for their full economic life, we face
risks associated with re-leasing them after their initial long-term lease at a rate that continues to provide a reasonable economic
return based on the initial purchase price of the asset. If prevailing asset lease rates decline significantly between the time the asset
is initially leased out and when its initial long-term lease expires, or if overall demand for these assets declines, we may be unable to
derive the expected return on our investment in our equipment through the re-leasing of equipment when the initial long-term lease
on such equipment expires.
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Other general factors affecting demand for equipment, including the utilization rates of our rental fleet, include the following:

- available supply and prices of new and used equipment;

- economic conditions and competitive pressures in our customers industry;

- shifting trends and patterns of cargo traffic;

- the availability and terms of equipment financing;

- fluctuations in interest rates and foreign currency values;

- overcapacity or under-capacity of equipment manufacturers;

- the lead times required to purchase equipment, which may vary significantly and affect our ability to meet customer demand;

- the amount of equipment purchased by our competitors and equipment lessees own themselves;

- equipment fleet overcapacity or under-capacity;

- thechoice of a shipping company or logistics company to reposition its unused containers or railcars in higher-demand locations
in lieu of leasing containers or railcars to meet this demand;

- consolidation or decrease in the number of equipment lessees in the shipping container, freight railcar and river barge industry;
and

- natural disasters or health crises that are severe enough to affect local and global economies.

In our Freight Railcar, River Barges and Shipping Container divisions, where we derive the majority of our business from equipment
leasing, our business model can be affected by a customer’s decision to simply buy equipment rather than to lease it outright. A
customer’s decision to lease or buy assets can be affected by a variety of factors, such as tax and accounting considerations, prevailing
interest rates and the customer’s capital expenditure and other financial or operational flexibility.

All of these factors are inherently unpredictable and beyond our control. These factors vary over time, often quickly and
unpredictably, and any change in one or more of these factors may have a significant adverse effect on our business, financial
situation, operating results and cash flows.

3.2.2. If, due to a misjudgement of demand for our equipment or a cancellation of a customer
contract, we are unable to lease or sell new equipment shortly after we purchase it

We purchase new equipment in the ordinary course of our negotiating activities. In addition, in our Shipping Containers division in
particular, we purchase new equipment for our fleet to meet expected increases in customer demand. Because of the dynamics of
the shipping container industry and the relatively short lead time with which customers expect to be able to take delivery of a
container once they have signed a sales agreement, we seek to have a supply of new containers available for immediate requests.
We monitor the price of containers in order to purchase new containers opportunistically when prices are low. The price of containers
depends largely on the price of steel, which is the major component used in their manufacture. The price at which we lease our
containers is strongly correlated with the price at which we have purchased the containers, in order to optimise the return on our
investment. The lead time between the moment we place our purchase order for new equipment with a manufacturer and when we
receive such equipment depends on numerous factors beyond our control. If, in the meantime, prices fall further and customers
manage to get containers at a lower price, we may not be able to sell the containers we reserved for future demand at a price that
would allow us to obtain the expected return. Such a decline in new container prices, or our inability to sell our reserved containers
could harm our business, operating results and financial situation.

In relation to our leasing activity, we do not purchase new equipment for use in our Freight Railcar, River Barge and Container
divisions unless we have signed a lease agreement with a customer. It is common practice to apply a longer period between the
signing of a lease agreement and the delivery of the equipment when it is new. Despite this sourcing policy, we are nevertheless still
at risk of having excess new inventory if a customer rescinds its agreement after we have made an irrevocable order for the new
equipment or have taken delivery of such equipment. Furthermore, if market practices change and our customers demand
significantly shorter lead times for the procurement of new equipment, we may have to change our sourcing policy and invest in new
equipment without having corresponding leases signed in anticipation of such an investment. A mismatch between our equipment
supply and demand that causes an increase in our non-leased inventory could harm our business, operating results and financial
situation.

3.2.3. Our Shipping Container and Freight Railcar customers may choose to own their equipment
rather than lease it

Our Shipping Container and Freight Railcar divisions depend primarily on our activity as a lessor of equipment to shipping companies
and railway and logistics companies. These customers tend to have sizeable fleets of equipment that they own themselves, which
limits the potential we have to lease our equipment to them. We believe that there is a trend towards increased leasing in both the
shipping and rail freight transport industries, but we cannot assure you that this trend will continue. A decrease in the marginal cost
of shipping containers or freight railcars, which could be caused by oversupply by manufacturers or a drop in the price of steel, which
is the primary raw material used in container and railcar construction, would make it less costly for companies to own such equipment
outright and may encourage them to select ownership over leasing. Further, consolidation of our customers in these divisions could
create economies of scale and efficiencies which would make it more attractive for them to buy equipment or to vertically integrate
and manufacture equipment themselves. The decrease in demand for our products and services resulting from the substitution of
ownership for leasing in these markets would have an adverse impact on our business, results of operation and financial situation.
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3.2.4. We face risks related to our management of a substantial portion of our freight railcar and
shipping container fleets on behalf of third-party investors

We manage a significant portion of freight railcars and shipping containers on behalf of third parties. As of 31 December 2019, 62%
of our fleet of freight railcars and shipping containers under management (in terms of gross book value) were owned by third-party
investors for whom we provided asset management services. We primarily seek out third-party investors to share the risks and
rewards of equipment ownership, thus reducing our reliance on capital expenditure in order to grow our business. Asset management
is a key part of our financing and business strategy going forward, and an inability to attract further investors could significantly and
adversely affect our business. Management contracts govern the relationship between each of our investors and our Group. Although
we do not guarantee any minimum returns on an investor’s investment, an investor may terminate a management contract in specific
circumstances, such as our significant non-performance of our contractual obligations, our bankruptcy or winding up, our failure to
pay revenues that we have collected and that are owing to the investors or a change in our majority shareholder. Our management
contracts do not represent joint ventures and we do not act as partners with investors.

3.3. RISKS LINKED TO THE GEOPOLITICAL, INTERNATIONAL AND GLOBAL CONTEXT
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3.3.1. The international nature of the industries where we operate exposes us to numerous risks

For the financial year to 31 December 2019, we generated 98% of our revenues outside France through transactions in numerous
countries and across five continents. Our presence in many countries and our day-to-day international operations mean we bear the
risks associated with these, and weigh heavily on our operations abroad and our international strategy.

For instance, we are subject to constantly changing and complex laws and regulations which govern, among other things,
employment, health and safety, financial reporting standards, corporate governance, tax, trade regulations, export controls, and
competitive practices in each jurisdiction where we conduct our activity. We are also required to obtain permits and other
authorisations or licences from governmental authorities for some of our operations and must protect our intellectual property
worldwide. Furthermore, we need to comply with various local standards and practices of different regulatory, tax, judicial and
administrative bodies, specific to each jurisdiction in which we operate.

There are multiple risks associated with the global nature of our activity, including political and economic instability, geopolitical
regional conflicts, terrorist attacks, threat of war, political unrest, civil strife, acts of war, public corruption, epidemics and pandemics,
as well as other economic or political uncertainties which could interrupt and negatively affect our business operations. Depending
upon the severity, scope, and duration of these conditions or events, our financial position, operating results, and cash flows could
be adversely affected. Any of these events may affect our employees, reputation, activity or financial results as well as our ability to
meet our objectives.

These include the following business risks:

- negative economic developments in economies around the world;

- sudden changes in foreign currency exchange controls;

- discriminatory or conflicting tax policies;

- epidemics and pandemics, which may adversely affect our workforce and suppliers, and affect international transportation;

- * adverse changes in governmental policies, especially those affecting trade and investment;

- legislation or regulatory measures to enhance the safety of shipping containers, freight railcars and river barges against acts of
terrorism that would affect the construction or operation of our assets; and debts or losses caused by acts of terrorism to our
assets;

- inflation, recession, fluctuations in foreign currency exchange and interest rates, restrictive fiscal policies and transfer
restrictions;

- threats that our operations or property could be subject to nationalisation and expropriation;

- difficulties enforcing contractual rights or foreclosing to obtain the return of our assets in certain jurisdictions;

- bad debts and longer collection cycles in some foreign countries;

- ineffective or delayed implementation of appropriate controls, policies, and processes across our diverse operations and for
our employees; and
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- nationalisation of properties by foreign governments, and imposition of additional or new tariffs, quotas, trade barriers, and
similar restrictions on our international operations.

We may not be in full compliance at all times with the laws and regulations to which we are subject. Likewise, we may not have
obtained or may not be able to obtain the permits and other authorizations or licenses that we need. We are also reliant on local
managers to oversee the day-to-day functioning of our sites and to ensure their compliance with local laws, and, as a consequence,
we may be subject to risk based on insufficient oversight.

In such cases, or if any of these international business risks were to materialize or exacerbate, we could be fined or otherwise
sanctioned by regulators, which could adversely affect our activity, financial situation and operating results.

3.3.2. Any deceleration or reversal of the global economic recovery may have a significant
negative impact on our business

Our financial performance depends on the level of demand for the assets we lease, which is equally dependent on the underlying
markets for our customers’ products and services and the strength and growth of their businesses. Some of our customers operate
in cyclical end-markets, such as the steel, chemical, agricultural and construction industries, which are susceptible to macroeconomic
downturns and may experience significant changes in demand over time. We may not be able to predict the timing, extent or duration
of the activity cycles in the markets in which we or our key customers operate. Each of these sectors is influenced by the state of the
general global economy as well as by a number of more specific factors. A decline or slowed growth in any of these sectors in the
markets or geographic regions where we operate and in other parts of the world may harm the leasing activity of some of our
equipment, due to the lease of this not being renewed at the end of a lease term or being terminated as a result of a customer
bankruptcy or default, which may have significant adverse effects on our business, operating results and financial situation.

Demand for freight railcars, river barges and containers is linked to changes in traffic resulting from freight and goods transportation,
as well as the total traffic generated by transport. Fluctuations depend on the level of global economic growth and of international
trade. Economic downturns in one or more countries or regions, particularly in Europe, the United States, China and other consumer-
oriented economies, or the establishment of customs barriers could result in a reduction in world trade growth and in the demand
for our freight railcars, river barges and shipping containers. In addition, most of the investment programs into which we sell leased
equipment portfolios (in particular freight railcars and shipping containers) employ a certain amount of debt in order to increase
investor equity returns. Tighter credit markets make it more difficult for third-party investors wishing to access financing for future
investment programs, which increases syndication risk and the probability that we may not be able to sell assets within investor
programs in the future.

Failure to find investors to finance our equipment could have a significant adverse effect on our revenues, net income and cash flows,
which would limit the level of growth in our operating fleet that we might otherwise be able to attain.

Our Freight Railcar activity mainly targets European clients. In 2019, the European and global economy continued to recover. We
have seen a rise in leasing rates but not for all activities. If these adverse economic conditions persist they could have a significant
negative impact on our activity, operating results, cash flows and financial situation.

3.3.3. The departure of the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland from the
European Union could have a negative impact on our activities

With the ratification of the Withdrawal Agreement, the United Kingdom left the European Union in a prescribed manner at midnight
on 31 January 2020, and European Union law will cease to apply to the United Kingdom at the end of the transition period scheduled
to last until 31 December 2020. The departure of the United Kingdom from the European Union still presents uncertainties. The
departure terms are still unknown and the economic impacts for the European Union and the United Kingdom are uncertain. Several
scenarios remain possible with very different consequences. For example, it is likely that growth in the United Kingdom will be
strongly affected for many years by this departure. It is also possible that the growth of the European Union decreases with more
restrictive trade with the United Kingdom. The United Kingdom's relations with the rest of the world will also be put under duress as
the United Kingdom re-establishes agreements with all the countries with which it trades. The decline in trade between the United
Kingdom and the European Union, between the United Kingdom and the rest of the world and the decline in domestic consumption
within the United Kingdom may have a negative impact on our activity and our financial situation. Uncertainty regarding future
demand for our products in the United Kingdom, in the European union and worldwide could cause us to maintain excess equipment
stocks and increase our capital expenditures beyond that which is necessary. In addition, the economic consequences of the
departure of the United Kingdom from the European Union could generate volatility in the exchange rate of the British pound. This
volatility could have a negative impact on our activity, financial situation, operating results and cash flow. Also, as part of our strategic
business plans, we constantly have to make decisions with respect to the type, model and technical characteristics of the equipment
that we purchase. We must make these decisions based on present demand and our forecasts for future demand. A fall in demand
can lead to lower profitability given the long life of these assets. We cannot guarantee that our strategic investment decisions based
on our forecasts of demand will prove to be wise and that we will be able to apply our asset utilisation optimisation strategy entirely
or in accordance with our plans, which could lead to a negative impact on our activity, financial situation, operating results and cash
flow.
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3.3.4. We rely on title registries to evidence ownership of our assets. Failure to properly register
or the lack of an international registry increases the risk of ownership disputes

There is no internationally recognised system of recording or filing to evidence our title to the types of equipment that we lease nor
is there an internationally recognised system for filing security interests in the types of equipment that we lease. Although we have
not experienced significant problems with respect to this lack of internationally recognised system in the past, the lack of an
international title recording system with respect to containers could result in disputes with lessees, end-users, or third parties who
may improperly claim ownership of the containers. Likewise, we may be subject to ownership disputes derived from unenforceable,
voidable or void registration of our equipment due to our lack of compliance with the required formalities. Failure to correctly record
our properties in the appropriate registry could result in arbitration proceedings, litigation or ownership disputes, which could have
a significant adverse effect on our activity, operating results and financial situation.

3.4. LEGAL AND REGULATORY RISKS
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3.4.1. We operate in many jurisdictions with highly complex and variable tax regimes, and any
changes to tax rules and tax audits could have some effects

We conduct business around the world and are therefore subject to highly complex and often divergent tax laws and regulations,
resulting in very challenging structuring and operational issues. The modification of tax regulations could have an impact on our
financial results. The tax rates to which we are subject are variable. Our effective tax rate in any jurisdiction may depend on changes
in our level of operating profit or in the applicable rate of taxation there, as well as on changes in estimated tax provisions due to
new events. We currently have tax benefits in certain jurisdictions. These benefits may not be available in the future due to changes
in relevant local tax regulations, which could cause our effective tax rate to increase and may result in an adverse effect on our
activity, financial situation and operating results.

In addition to tax losses carried forward, uncertainties may also result from disputes with local tax authorities about the transfer
pricing of internal deliveries of goods and services or related to financing, acquisitions and disposals, the use of tax credits and
permanent establishments. These uncertainties may have a significant impact on our local tax results. We also have various tax assets
as a result of tax losses in certain legal entities. Tax authorities may challenge these tax assets. In addition, the value of the tax assets
resulting from tax losses carried forward depends on our having sufficient taxable profits in the future. Although we believe that we
have conducted our business in compliance with tax laws, if local authorities or an administrative court decide we have not been tax
compliant, we can be subject to significant liability. Any or all of these tax issues could have an adverse effect on our activity, financial
situation and operating results.

3.4.2.0ur River Barges division is subject to the Jones Act

Our River Barges division competes principally in markets subject to the Jones Act, a U.S. federal cabotage law that allows domestic
marine transportation in the United States only to vessels built and registered in the United States, and manned and owned by United
States citizens. We believe we comply with the requirements of the Jones Act. However, a change in interpretation of the Jones Act
or a change in cabotage law could have a significant adverse effect on our River Barges division in the United States. The requirements
that our vessels be built in the United States and manned by United States citizens, the provisions relating to the crewing and
equipment of the United States Coast Guard, as well as the application of United States labour and tax laws, increase the cost of
United States flag vessels when compared with comparable foreign flag vessels.

3.4.3. Litigation to enforce our leases and recover our equipment has inherent uncertainties that
are increased by the location of our equipment in jurisdictions that have less developed legal
systems

Our ability to enforce lessees’ obligations will be subject to applicable laws in the jurisdiction in which enforcement is sought. As our
shipping containers and river barges are predominantly located on international waterways, it is impossible to predict, with any
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degree of certainty, the jurisdictions in which enforcement proceedings may be commenced. For example, repossession from
defaulting lessees may be difficult and more expensive in jurisdictions in which laws do not confer the same security interests and
rights to creditors and lessors as those in the European Union and the United States, and in jurisdictions where recovery of containers
from defaulting lessees is more cumbersome. As a result, the relative success and expedience of enforcement proceedings with
respect to shipping containers and river barges in various jurisdictions cannot be predicted. Similarly, freight railcars can make
journeys across several countries, which can make it difficult to predict with certainty which jurisdiction will initiate the enforcement
procedures. Inability to enforce our lessees’ obligations could have significant adverse effects on our activity, operating results,
financial situation and cash flows.

3.4.4. We may be affected by climate change or market or regulatory responses to climate change

Climate change could affect us, as well as our customers, who transport goods using the barges, containers and railcars that we make
available to them, and our suppliers, who produce our products and who may emit greenhouse gases during the production process.
Our Shipping Containers division is particularly dependent on world trade. Any impact of climate change on world trade would have
an impact on our activities. For example, a rise in temperatures could make new trade routes accessible near the North Pole, which
would reduce the number of containers required for trade between Asia and Europe, and thus would negatively impact the demand
for our products and services. Extreme weather conditions or natural disasters related to climate change could also have an impact
on our activity, particularly in the River Barges division, where navigation can be disrupted due to drought, flooding or freezing
conditions. Reduction in demand due to climate change could have an adverse effect on our activity, operating results and financial
situation.

Changes to laws, rules and regulations, or actions by authorities under existing laws, rules or regulations, to address greenhouse gas
emissions and climate change could negatively impact our customers and our activity. For example, freight railcars and river barges
that are used to carry fossil fuels, such as coal, could see reduced demand if new government regulations mandate a reduction in
fossil fuel consumption. Potential consequences of laws, rules or regulations addressing climate change could have an adverse effect
on our financial situation, operating results and cash flows.

Climate change is also discussed in the report on social and environmental responsibility, in section (v) page 185 of paragraph 22.2.

3.5. FINANCIAL RISKS
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3.5.1. Liquidity risk

The TOUAX Group's top priorities for managing its liquidity risk are to ensure financial continuity, meet their due dates, and optimise
the cost of debt. The Group has carried out a specific review of its liquidity risk, and considers it is able to meet its commitments at
the future due dates.

Liquidity risk management is assessed according to the Group's requirements set forth in the notes to the consolidated financial
statements note 34.3. The list of principal borrowing containing specific clauses and commitments is mentioned in note 25.3 and
note 33 of the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

3.5.2. Interest rate and currency risks

The TOUAX Group relies on different types of loans both for its development requirements and its investment policy. A large share
of these loans apply a variable interest rate. The latter thus represent the main part of the potential rate risk borne by the Group. In
fact, variable rate loans, which, after taking into account hedging instruments, represent 21.1% of the Group's outstanding debt and
have enabled the Group to benefit from the negative Euro rate environment. On the other hand, a return to a positive level of the
reference rates (EURIBOR, LIBOR ...) would lead to an increase in the financial expenses related to the variable rate debts as well as
the costs for the refinancing of the current debts and the issuance of new loans. In addition, given the TOUAX Group's debt, an
increase in interest rates would have a negative impact on cash flows.

Interest rate risk management is described in the notes to the consolidated financial statements on note 34.4 page 117.
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The TOUAX Group has a strong international presence and is therefore naturally exposed to fluctuations in currencies. The
consolidated financial results are recorded in euros; if the Group records sales or revenues in other currencies, the conversion of
these revenues into euros may give rise to large variations in the amount of such sales and revenues. Information on currency risk
and its management is provided in note 34.5 of the notes to the consolidated financial statements, page 118.

For accounting purposes, the assets and liabilities of our foreign operations, where the local currency is the functional currency, are
converted at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the year and revenues and expenses of our foreign operations are converted
at average exchange rates for each year. Accounting impacts may exist for companies whose main operational flows are carried out
in a currency other than the currency of the company's accounting reporting.

These fluctuations may affect the results of the TOUAX Group when converting accounts in euros for the various subsidiaries outside
the Euro zone. In addition, exposure to currency exchange risk is mainly due to fluctuations in the US dollar, sterling and, to a lesser
extent, the Moroccan dirham against the Euro. Based on the results for the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group estimates that
a 10% decrease in the exchange rate of the US dollar against the Euro would result in a 3.59% fall in current operating results.
Nevertheless, these are estimates and future exchange rate fluctuations may have a greater positive or negative impact on current
operating results compared to what TOUAX originally anticipated. The effect of strong fluctuations would lead to a significant impact
on the Group, its financial situation and its operating results. Currency risk is hedged for intra-group loans/borrowings. However, as
recorded in 2019, the hedging may be ineffective or the provider providing the hedging may be in default.

In addition, currency risk exists when a Group entity enters into a purchase, sale or lease transaction using a currency other than the
functional currency of the entity with which we carry out the transaction.

Finally, since future fluctuations in exchange rates and interest rates may have a negative impact on the Group's financial situation
and operating results, the Group Treasury and Finance Department manages and optimises these on a daily basis in order to reduce
these potentially negative impacts.

3.5.3. The fair market value of our long-lived assets may differ from the value of those assets
reflected in our financial statements

Our assets primarily consist of long-term assets which may have a book value in our financial statements that may sometimes differ
from their fair market value. These valuation differences may be positive or negative and could be significant depending on market
conditions and demand for certain assets. We review long-term assets for impairment in accordance with applicable rules, including
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the book value of the assets may not be recoverable. Recoverability of
the assets is measured by a comparison of the book value of the assets to the future net income expected to be generated by the
assets. The profitability of the assets is measured by a homogeneous group of assets and mainly by asset category. If such assets are
considered to be impaired, the impairment to be recognised is measured by the amount by which the book value of the assets
exceeds the fair value of the assets. Assets are booked at either book value or fair value (depending on which is the lowest), minus
selling costs.

There are many assumptions and estimates underlying the determination of an impairment event or loss, if any. The assumptions
and estimates include, but are not limited to, estimated fair market value of the assets and estimated future cash flows expected to
be generated by these assets, which are based on additional assumptions such as utilisation rates, number of years that the asset
will be used and its estimated residual value. Although we believe our assumptions and estimates are reasonable, deviations from
the assumptions and estimates could produce a significantly different result, which could have an adverse effect on our financial
situation, operating results and cash flows.

3.5.4. Counterparty risk

Counterparty risk from Cash and Cash Equivalents, as well as from derivative financial instruments under contract with banks and/or
financial institutions, is managed centrally by the Group's Treasury and Financing Department. This risk is set out in the notes to the
consolidated financial statements note 34.3.

3.6. RIsks RELATED TO COVID-19

The COVID-19 coronavirus epidemic began in December 2019 in Wuhan, China. This epidemic then turned into a pandemic and
spread to all regions of the world with the main outbreaks currently in the Middle East, in Europe and the United States of America.
Significant health measures have been implemented by many countries to limit the spread of the virus: travel restrictions, compulsory
quarantine periods for people from affected regions, closing of borders, confinement of populations, closing of shops other than
those selling basic necessities, closing of hotels, theatres, public places, etc. These measures are causing major economic disruption
with implications for international freight traffic and the financial health of many businesses. Such events could lead to the inability
of group companies to lease equipment and the inability of group tenants to meet their leasing payment obligations to group
companies, which, in turn, would have a significant adverse effect on the group's financial results. The health crisis may have the
effect of accentuating the risks previously identified, such as currency volatility, falling demand, lower global growth, etc. These
effects could adversely affect our financial situation, operating results and cash flows.
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4. |SSUER INFORMATION

4.1 Business name and commercial name

The name of the company is SGTR - CITE - CMTE - TAF - SLM - TOUAGE INVESTMENT réunies - TOUAX SCA.

4.2 Place of incorporation, registration number and LEI

Registration under number 305 729 352 on the Nanterre trade and companies register

SIRET: 305 729 352 00099

LEI : 969500QZJBA9R36U9J48

APE: 70102

Listed on NYSE Euronext in Paris — Compartment C, ISIN Code: FRO000033003 — Reuters TETR. PA —Bloomberg TOUPFP equity

4.3 Date of incorporation and duration

The company was incorporated on 31 December 1898 and the incorporation will expire on 31 December 2104.

4.4 Legal status and legislation

> Company legal status

Partnership limited by shares under French law

> Registered and administrative office

Tour Franklin — 23éme étage — 100-101 Terrasse Boieldieu — 92042 La Défense cedex — FRANCE
Telephone: +33 1 46 96 18 00

> Financial year

The financial year of TOUAX SCA commences on January 1 and ends on December 31.

> Share capital

On 31 December 2019 the company’s capital comprised 7,011,547 shares with a par value of €8.
The capital is fully paid up.

> Company legislation

A partnership limited by shares, governed by the French Commercial Code.

> Viewing of the company’s legal documents

Documents relating to TOUAX SCA can be consulted at the company’s registered office.

> Information policy

A financial communication agreement has been signed with ACTIFIN — 76-78, rue Saint Lazare — 75009 — Paris — FRANCE.

The present universal registration document, former registration documents, annual reports, presentations to financial analysts and
press releases are available in French and English on the Group’s website (www.touax.com).

Significant news that may affect share prices is always broadcast through the press.

> Persons responsible for the financial information

Fabrice and Raphaél Walewski

Managing Partners of TOUAX SCA

Tour Franklin — 23éme étage — 100-101 Terrasse Boieldieu - 92042 La Défense CEDEX — FRANCE
Tel.: +3314696 18 00

Fax:+33 14696 1818

e-mail: contact-touax@touax.com
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5. BUSINESS OVERVIEW

5.1. CORE BUSINESSES

5.1.1. Types of operations and core activities

We are a leading global corporate services provider specialising in the operational leasing, sale and management of mobile
standardised equipment. We operate in three sectors with each one corresponding to each type of assets that we lease and manage:
freight railcars, river barges and shipping containers.

Our Group’s history began over 165 years ago as an operator of barges on the Seine river in France in 1853. We became a listed
company on the Paris Stock Exchange (now Euronext Paris) in 1906.

Each of our three divisions holds leading market positions in the key regions in which it operates. For shipping containers, we believe
we are the 8t largest leasing company and the 3" largest asset manager in the world, while in Western Europe we are the 1t largest
leasing company and the largest manager of containers, and one of the largest lessors of intermodal railcars in Europe, with these
positions being based on the size of our fleet. Finally, we believe we are the only operational lessor of dry river barges in Europe and
in the Parana-Paraguay basin in South America.

We offer a wide range of services related to our equipment, which we either own or manage for the account of third-party investors,
to a variety of customers around the world, providing us with diverse and recurring revenue streams. In addition to operational
leasing of equipment, we engage in financial leasing, sale and leaseback arrangements, as well as sales of new and used equipment.
We also provide services ancillary to our equipment leases, such as maintenance and trading.

We operate a global and highly diversified business model, with 3 divisions operating in a total of approximately 40 countries on 5
continents. Income from the activities of the Containers division, which is international in nature, represented 48% of our income
from activities for the year ended 31 December 2019. Our other two activities generated 40% of our total income from activities in
Europe (of which 1% was in France), 2% in the Americas and 2% in Asia. The other activities represent 8% of income from activities
which is mainly produced in Africa.

Over the years we have developed an extensive platform comprising a global network of branches, offices and depots, as well as a
first-rate reputation enabling us to build long-term relationships with our customers. We serve several thousand customers
worldwide in a vast range of end-markets, including some of the biggest shipping transport companies, international industrial
groups, railway companies and logistics providers, with some of which we have long-standing relationships.

At the end of December 2019, income from our activities stood at €169 million, our EBITDAR (EBITDA before distributions to investors)
at €90.3 million and EBITDA at €36.9 million.

Set forth below is a breakdown of our income by activity and by geographical area as well as our EBITDAR and EBITDA by activity at
the end of December 2019:

Income by activity Income by
% geographical area
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On 31 December 2019, we managed a fleet of assets with a total gross book value of approximately €1.2 billion, which are either
directly owned by us or managed on behalf of third-party investors. This fleet includes 9,574 freight railcars (platforms) of which
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29% are managed on behalf of third-party investors, 97 river barges and 434,816 twenty-foot equivalent shipping containers
(TEUs), 89% of which were managed on behalf of third-party investors.
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In € millions. River barges under operating leases are indicated as owned by third party investors. We do not offer any asset management in the River Barges division.

In connection with our asset management activity, we purchase and subsequently syndicate portfolios of equipment (mostly shipping
containers and freight railcars) for sale to third-party institutional and private investors. We enter into long-term agreements to
operationally manage the assets comprised within the relevant portfolios. We receive a syndication fee at the time of the sale of the
portfolio to an investor, and through our management agreements (which tend to range from 12 to 15 years), we receive
management fees based on the gross leasing revenue attributable to the managed portfolio. As of 31 December 2019, our third-
party investors owned 62% of the total gross book value of our leasing fleet.

The breakdown in terms of gross book value of our total fleet from the end of 2010 to the end of 2019 is as follows:
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In € millions

Our diversified business model enables us to generate recurring revenue as a result of the standardised nature, long economic
lifespan and low obsolescence rate of our assets. Our leasing revenue is generated by long-term lease agreements, securing long-
term recurring income and predictable cash flows. Our asset management activity provides us with recurring revenue as a result of
the long-term nature of our asset management contracts. These recurring streams are enhanced by opportunistic sales of used
equipment, which we pursue based on prevailing market conditions.

As a Group engaged in an asset-based business, we resort to asset-backed financings to operate and grow our business. These assets
were financed through a mix of equity, cash and debt.
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[l Our competitive strengths
We benefit from long-lasting leading positions in markets which consolidates our experience and performance level

With our extensive network of sales offices, agencies and depots located in approximately 40 countries on five continents, we have
achieved leading positions in most of our divisions and sectors. Most of our markets being characterized by significant barriers to
entry, these leading positions have historically allowed us to fully benefit from available growth opportunities.

We further believe we are one of the biggest lessors of intermodal railcars in Europe based on the size of our fleet, with a total fleet
of 9,574 railcars (platforms) representing a gross book value of approximately €425 million as of 31 December 2019, of which 29%
consisted of railcars that we managed on behalf of third-party investors.

Finally, we believe we are the only operational lessor of dry river barges in Europe and in the Parana-Paraguay basin in South America.
We are also present in the Mississippi and Missouri basins in the United States. We have a fleet of 97 river barges, representing a
gross book value of approximately €84 million as of 31 December 2019.

We believe that we are the 8th biggest lessor and the 3rd biggest asset manager of shipping containers in the world, based on the
size of our fleet, and the number 1 lessor and manager of shipping containers in continental Europe. Our shipping container fleet
totalled 434,816 TEU, representing a gross book value of approximately €663 million as of 31 December 2019, of which 89% consisted
of shipping containers that we managed on behalf of third-party investors.

Experience and scale constitute a critical competitive advantage in our markets and underlie the success of only the largest market
participants. Because our business is capital intensive, building the appropriate inventory and platform to efficiently carry on our
business requires significant financial resources, and constitutes significant barriers to entry for new participants.

Our experience and size have allowed us to develop over the years the significant platform, know-how and global presence required
to achieve operational efficiency in a highly competitive environment. We benefit from the experience of our management teams in
the various industrial sectors and geographical end-markets to which we market our products and services. Our depth of experience
provides us with insights into dynamics that are critical to the success of our business, such as the timing of investments and
divestments of assets in our leasing fleet, where, when and at what price to make these assets available to potential lessees, and
trends in customer demand in all our end-markets.

Furthermore, we have a first-rate reputation for technical expertise and operational excellence, which enables us to meet the quality
standards demanded by our customers, particularly in the areas of maintenance and customer assistance. Our successful track record
in the asset management business has also allowed us to attract and develop strong relationships with investors in portfolios of
equipment. Leveraging upon our expertise, we have been able not only to grow our fleet but also to manage it proactively in order
to maximize utilisation rates and revenues.

Finally, we have created a unique and efficient platform based on proprietary IT systems and have built an extended network of
branches, offices, depots, workshops and agents, which in turn has allowed us to maintain strong and stable client and supplier
relationships in all our activities. We believe that the critical mass resulting from our platform and network enables us to achieve
economies of scale and accordingly offer attractive pricing to customers, thereby providing us with an advantage over smaller
competitors that may not be able to access financing or equipment at rates as favourable as ours.

We operate a diversified business model, serving a broad customer base in different end-markets

Our operational activity is highly diversified, with three divisions operating in a total of approximately 40 countries on five continents.
Each of these divisions serves a broad customer base and operates through several business models such as leasing, selling, trading
and asset management.

Our divisions (Freight Railcars, River Barges and Shipping Containers) operate on different business cycles. This enables us to mitigate
our exposure to certain market conditions, such as potential shifts in demand among freight transport alternatives, and to shift our
exposure to more profitable customer categories and end-markets. In addition, we serve several thousand customers worldwide that
are exposed to a vast range of industry drivers and end-market dynamics, such as the development of international trade and the
tightening of regulatory frameworks. On 31 December 2019, our top 10 customers (excluding investors in our asset management
programs) represented 42% of our total revenues.

Our activity is geographically diverse. Our revenue from the shipping container activity, which we consider to be international in
nature, accounted for 48% of our total revenues at the end of December 2019. Our other divisions generated 41% of our total income
from activities in Europe (of which 2% was in France), 2% in the Americas and 9% in Africa/Asia. Our geographic diversification reduces
our exposure to the general economic conditions affecting any single region, country or currency, and provides for cost-effective
coverage of smaller customers at a local level, while also addressing the needs of larger international customers.

Furthermore, we benefit from three different sources of revenue. Our main revenue stream consists of leasing revenue and we also
sell new or used equipment based on our analysis of prevailing market conditions. Some of our customers may opt, on the basis of
micro- and macroeconomic factors, to buy rather than to lease their equipment. Because we both lease and sell equipment, we
reduce the risks associated with the decisions of our customers to select one solution rather than another. We also offer certain
third-party investors the possibility of investing in and owning equipment that we manage on their behalf, and we derive additional
sources of income through fees and commissions in connection with the syndication, leasing, management and resale of such
equipment. This enables us to expand our fleet while limiting the risks and capital expenditure associated with equipment ownership.
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We own and manage a flexible and liquid asset base

We own and manage a fleet which on 31 December 2019 which represented a total gross book value of approximately €1.2 billion,
of which 38% is owned by us), and which is marked by its quality, as well as its flexible and liquid nature. Our fleet is young and has
a long lifespan. For example, on 31 December 2019, the average age of our fleet of freight railcars, river barges and shipping
containers was 20.8 years, 13.6 years and 10.1 years, respectively. On the other hand, the useful life (in relation to the accounting
life) of our equipment is generally between 30 to 50 years for freight railcars and river barges and 30 to 40 years for shipping
containers (up to 15 years at sea and another 20 years on land for storage purposes).

The majority of our fleet is comprised of standardised and highly versatile equipment, thereby enabling us to meet customer needs
and optimise fleet utilisation. In addition to providing leasing revenue, which is our main source of revenues, the quality and the
flexible and liquid nature of our asset base allow us to ensure high residual asset value, actively manage our asset base and optimize
revenue streams from opportunistic second-hand sales. Finally, because of our limited maintenance capital expenditure
requirements, due to the age and quality of our fleet, a significant portion of our capital expenditures is discretionary in nature, which
gives us substantial flexibility to adjust or reallocate our investments based on our business needs and the prevailing economic
conditions.

We are engaged in an asset-based business, and we use asset-backed financing to invest in equipment and grow the size of our fleet.
We limit our total debt to sustainable levels in accordance with the covenants under our asset-backed financings and our internal
targets. We have consistently maintained a ratio of total debt to total assets (excluding intangible assets) below 70% since 2008, with
a ratio of 54% on 31 December 2019.

We are present in end-markets with positive long-term fundamentals
Most of the markets that we address benefit from positive underlying long-term trends.

Our markets are driven by global economic growth and growth in international trade volumes as well as the need for annual renewal
of transportation equipment. Through our geographically diversified operations, we benefit from the macroeconomic growth of
advanced, developing and emerging economies. The need for equipment renewal is particularly significant. We estimate that we
have an annual requirement of 2 million 20-foot equivalent containers (for a market value of $4 billion) and 14,000 European railcars
(for a market value of €1.4 billion).

We also believe that our Freight Railcars division will benefit from an improvement in market conditions. Following the economic
slowdown in 2008 and 2009, demand for new equipment decreased sharply, which left a legacy of overcapacity in the fleets of railcar
leasing companies, including our company. Nevertheless, market conditions started to improve in Europe from 2014, when we saw
some recovery in rail traffic and investments and we expect this to continue. The growth of the European freight railcar industry is
likely to be further reinforced by the structural mismatch between, on the one hand, railcar replacement needs due to the ageing of
railcars and, on the other hand, a limited railcar production capacity due to the reduction in manufacturing that took place as a result
of the economic downturn. We believe these factors will increase utilization rates and favour lessors like us, who have younger fleets.
The average age of our fleet was 20.8 years at the end of 2019.

Finally, our River Barges division’s markets are also affected by international trade flows and economic conditions in the countries
along the river basins in which we operate. We have focused our efforts in markets showing good outlooks in Europe and potential
growth in terms of demand. The South American market remains sluggish and has no prospects for improvement in the short term.

Finally, the Shipping Containers division also benefits from the growth of world trade. The Shipping Containers business remained
resilient during the global financial crisis of 2008/2009 despite a slowdown in shipping activity that impacted most shipping
companies. We believe this is due in part to the long-term nature of leases and to the fact that leasing is a flexible operational and
financial solution for shipping lines. After a year in 2016 during which sales of used containers were significant, the years 2017, 2018
and 2019 were marked by a strong demand for shipping containers. We believe that this trend will continue for the year 2020, with
the need for renewal remaining in any case very significant .

We benefit from stable, recurring revenue streams

As a result of the standardized nature and low obsolescence rate of our equipment, we can generally enter into long-term lease
agreements, securing long-term recurring income and predictable cash flows. As a result, a large proportion of our leasing revenue
is contractually locked in, thereby affording us significant visibility on revenue.

Our strong, flexible and liquid asset base, which generates recurring and stable revenue streams, enables us to implement syndication
to finance a portion of our fleet under management.

We manage rental equipment for third-party investors to whom we sell the equipment. This enables us to further diversify our
business model and to generate additional recurring revenue without incurring most of the business and financial risks and capital
expenditures associated with the ownership of equipment. Syndications thus also allow us to expand the size of our fleet of rental
equipment in order to serve new leasing customers and generate revenue from additional leasing contracts without increasing capital
expenditures and incurring additional long-term indebtedness. We receive syndication fees at the beginning of our asset
management relationships. Our asset management contracts, which tend to range from 12 to 15 years, provide us with recurring
management revenues based on the performance of the assets in our portfolio. At the end of the useful life of equipment that is
owned by an investor, we are often mandated by the investor to dispose of the asset, thereby providing us with a sales fee, which is
another source of revenue.
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We are led by an experienced management team

Supported by our Supervisory Board, our senior management has a proven track record of effectively managing our business over
the years. Members of our top management are experienced in managing operations through the different economic cycles and each
has at least 20 years’ experience in the equipment sales and leasing business. Furthermore, each of our three divisions is led by a
managing director. Our managing directors have an average of approximately 20 years of experience in their respective industry.

Our management team’s accumulated experience is an asset in identifying market dynamics and the right time to invest in a certain
class of equipment in order to grow our business. Our managers’ long-term relationships with many companies and individuals in the
markets where we are present allow them to predict customer needs and identify key trends in our industrial and geographical end-
markets. In a business where much of our success depends on providing our customers with what they want, where they want it and
when they want it, our managers’ ability to analyse market conditions to identify opportunities is critical. We believe that we will be
able to continue to capitalize on their experience and their relationships to continue to grow our business and carry out our strategies.

We benefit from the long-term vision and support of our principal shareholders

We benefit from the strong entrepreneurial culture of the WALEWSKI family, which has managed our Group as a family business
since the beginning of the 20th century and has developed it into a global business, that we consider to be a leading reference in
each of the markets addressed by our 3 divisions. The WALEWSKI family is our principal shareholder. As of 31 December 2019,
members of the WALEWSKI family, Alexandre, Raphaél and Fabrice WALEWSKI, jointly owned approximately 31.42% of TOUAX
shares. This is a testament to our shareholders’ faith in our Group and demonstrates the alignment of our shareholders’ interests
with our long-term vision and growth prospects. We believe that our principal shareholders’ experience and knowledge of the
industry is a key factor in the continuing success of our business.

[0l Our strategy

We intend to leverage our business expertise and unique platforms to continue to stand out from our competitors and to continue
to grow our 3 activities. Through the implementation of our strategy, we intend to increase EBITDA while reinvesting positive free
cash flow and seeking additional financing for growth by third-party investors. Thanks to our commercial actions, we intend to
increase the utilisation rate of the existing fleet that we manage as well as leasing rates.

Consolidate our leading positions in mature markets

In mature markets, we intend to consolidate our leading positions by continuing to implement a well-structured differentiation
strategy for each of our 3 divisions. We believe that differentiation is a key factor to enable us to maintain our broad customer base
in highly competitive mature markets.

We intend to continue to distinguish ourselves by further focusing on our ability to understand our customer needs, build long lasting
relationships and offer our equipment in the right place, at the right time and at the right price. In our Shipping Containers division,
we will achieve this by relying on our in-depth business expertise, our top quality platform and our worldwide presence. For our other
2 divisions, we are developing our processes to minimise equipment downtime during revisions and therefore enable our customers
to optimise their use at a higher level than our competitors' equipment. Maintenance services are also an essential element of our
strategy to stand out from our competitors in the Freight Railcars and the River Barges divisions.

We also intend to continue to differentiate ourselves from our competitors by providing associated high-quality services to our
customers. In our Freight Railcars and Shipping Containers divisions, we will continue to offer services related to the monitoring and
sharing of information about our equipment to our customers via the Internet, as well as online restitution services.

Improve utilization rates and operating efficiency to increase profitability and cash flow generation

We intend to increase the overall utilization rate of, and the profitability of, our existing fleet and continue to control our costs in
order to increase our operating efficiency, improve our operating margins and reducing leverage.

To increase our utilization rates in the Freight Railcars division, we are implementing more aggressive commercial policies in order
to expand our customer base. More generally, we are seeking to further expand our commercial networks and strengthen our
commercial teams across all divisions.

We also intend to improve operational efficiency of our 3 divisions as well as standardizing procedures. This enables our commercial
teams to more readily adapt a particular asset to a specific customer need, thereby improving utilization rates.

Control leverage through the continued pursuit of a sound financial strategy

We intend to continue our strategy of pursuing growth responsibly while focusing on controlling leverage. We believe we will be able
to achieve such goal by pursuing initiatives aimed at increasing our utilization rates, seeking out business opportunities and further
improving our operational excellence in those markets in which we already have an established presence. We further believe we can
continue taking advantage of our proven excellence in syndicating portfolios of equipment in order to control capital expenditure on
our Productive Assets and manage our levels of indebtedness. At the end of 2019, net debt amounted to €199 million and gross debt
€239 million, bearing in mind that the Group's balance sheet held assets intended for sale to investors in 2020. EBITDA stood at €36.9
million in 2019 compared to €25.7 million in 2018.
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Accompany the growth of our markets while keeping capital expenditures under control through asset management plans

Our objective is to accompany the growth of our markets and respond to customer demand without incurring large amounts of
capital expenditure and debt.

While maintaining the overall size of our owned fleet across our 3 divisions, we intend to keep a balanced owned asset portfolio
among the divisions based on the current market conditions. This balance in the composition of our asset base will provide us with a
recurring source of revenues and will allow us to further optimize our asset and geographic mix. This in turn will protect our overall
business from severe market conditions that may from time to time affect certain of our divisions.

We plan to expand the fleet that we manage for third-party investors through the further development of our asset management
programs. We intend in particular to resume syndication of equipment in our Freight Railcars division. The syndication of new asset
portfolios to third-party investors will enable us to finance the growth of our fleet, further strengthen our leading positions and
develop further economies of scale. During 2019, the Group created syndications in the Freight Railcar and Shipping Container
activities and we hope to increase syndications in both activities in 2020.

Grow our business in emerging markets

We intend to grow our business by seeking business opportunities in emerging markets. We believe that the most efficient way to
expand our business and increase the volume of our operations in emerging markets is to establish partnerships with well-known
local partners, who know the particularities of the local market, help us to increase our operational capacity and share the financial
costs and business risks associated with each project. In this way, we intend to limit any additional indebtedness or capital
expenditure related to the pursuit of such new opportunities.

In the long term, we plan to strengthen our presence in emerging markets mainly in our Freight Railcars division in India through our
partnership with the leading freight railcar manufacturer in the country.

* k *k

TOUAX specialises in the leasing, management and sale of standard, mobile and flexible equipment used for the transportation of
goods.

Specifically we:

. sell new and second-hand equipment;

. lease (through both operating and finance leases) such equipment;

. manage fleets consisting of such equipment that are owned by third-party investors;
. provide services related to each of these activities.

We operate through 3 principal divisions, each centred on one type of managed asset:

. our Freight Railcars division, through which we lease, sell and maintain a fleet of railcars that are used for freight
transportation and that we either own or manage for third parties;

. our River Barges division, through which we lease and sell barges; and

- our Shipping Containers division, through which we lease and sell a fleet of standard containers that are used in maritime
and overland transport and that we either own or manage for third parties.

In a more residual way, TOUAX has maintained a sales activity of modular buildings in Africa.
The activities and markets for each of these activities are detailed below, supplemented by the management report page 151.

The breakdown in revenues for each core business and geographic area is described in the notes to the consolidated financial
statements section 18.1 page 72. A presentation of the outlook given at the meeting of the French Society of Financial Analysts (SFAF)
on 25 March 2020 is provided in paragraph 24.4 page 222.

1. Freight Railcar business

Generally speaking, market dynamics in the freight railcar industry vary significantly from one region to another. We address three
geographical markets with distinct characteristics and perspectives: Continental Europe mainly, India and to a lesser extent the
United States.

Europe

The European freight railcar leasing market is estimated at around 700,000 freight railcars worth around 550 million euros. The
average age of this fleet is around 23 years on average, according to an external market analysis company. The European market,
particularly affected by the global economic crisis ten years ago, has since observed a steady recovery. The European rail freight
market is expected to grow, in part thanks to market deregulation and the implementation of policies to promote rail freight and
environmentally friendly forms of transport. The growth rate recovery of this market, and the ongoing need for renewal of freight
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railcar fleets will help meet existing demand. Due to lowered production levels in recent years and the reduction of manufacturing
capacity, we believe that meeting replacement demand will be a challenge for European market operators, and that this situation
will favour those with younger fleets. According to an external market analysis company, it appears that the number of TKM in 2018
stands at 453 billion.

India

Having been a core infrastructure in the Indian territory for over 150 years, rail transport is a key driver of socio-economic
development. In addition, they constitute one of the leading modes of transport with 40% of the freight transported, and represent
just over 730 billion tonne-kilometres (TKM) in 2018, which has been steadily increasing since the last decade (+60% of TKM between
2005 and 2016).

The creation of six lanes for freight ("Dedicated Freight Corridor") is the largest railway project ever launched by the Indian State and
its national company Indian Railways, both in terms of the length of the network constructed and its cost (combined length of over
3,000 km). These new lines connect the main ports and the Indian cities of Delhi, Mumbai, Chennai and Calcutta. New dedicated
corridors will be introduced in the coming years to increase the volume transported by rail.

The new freight corridors put into service in recent years may be used by different operators thanks to the tendering of Indian
Railways. The Indian rail market in 2018 has nearly 290,000 freight railcars almost exclusively owned by the Indian railways (Source:
-Indian Railways Year Book 2018-19).

[l Principal Market Drivers
Macroeconomic conditions affecting demand for freight railcars

The demand for freight railcars is closely tied to the underlying factors affecting demand for rail transport, which depends on
developments in global and regional trade. Levels of freight railcar leasing are therefore subject to variation based on a host of
macroeconomic factors such as industrial output and consumer demand. We believe that, since these fundamental factors continued
to improve in the first half of the year, demand for freight goods transportation could benefit.

Rail transport competes directly with other means of overland and inland freight transportation, particularly trucking. According to
Eurostat, railways accounted for 18% of all inland freight transport in the European Union, whereas road traffic accounted for around
76%. This breakdown has remained stable for the past two decades. We believe that generally, rail will be favoured as companies
are increasingly sensitive to environmental concerns and labour costs, as rail transportation is more environmentally friendly than
trucking and requires less manpower.

Changes in the European regulatory landscape

We believe that the liberalization of the railway industry in Europe had an overall beneficial impact, though limited by the crisis, on
the demand for freight railcars.

Changes in European regulations have opened up railway business to private companies, leading to a more flexible competitive
landscape that challenges the dominance of incumbent state-owned railway companies. We believe that these changes will lead to
an increased share of railcar supply being provided through leasing rather than through ownership. The reason for this development
is that new entrants will likely be smaller and be less able to make significant capital expenditure necessary to build up a fleet of
railcars. We believe that these companies will therefore favour leasing as a means of ensuring that they have a useful fleet at their
disposal while being able to optimize capital expenditure levels. We estimate that in Europe, lessors represented approximately 20%
of total freight railcar supply, whereas in the United States, where the railways have been deregulated for a longer time, lessors’
share of the market is approximately 57 %.

In addition, the European Commission also approved several investments over the next few years that we expect will modernize and
significantly improve railway transportation in Europe. Investments in infrastructure have continued to increase in order to renovate
and improve the service. We believe that these initiatives will further stimulate investments in the development and renovation of
rail infrastructure, which had previously languished for decades.

Additionally, we believe that the adoption of standardized rules regarding railcar maintenance have made regulatory compliance a
more streamlined process than it was prior to this change. We believe that these shifts in the European regulatory landscape will
lead to the further development of long-distance rail traffic that is more competitive compared with road transport.

Mismatch between production capacity and replacement needs

The economic slowdown ten years earlier was particularly difficult for manufacturers of railcars as demand for more equipment
decreased. As a result, many manufacturers faced economic difficulty and a number were forced to go out of business. Since then,
the improvement of the economic environment in Europe and market conditions in recent years has contributed to the increase in
demand for additional equipment. Railcar manufacturers have become stronger by concentrating their operations and offering higher
production capacity to absorb demand but with longer production lead times.

In Europe, the average age is estimated at around 23 years, according to an external market analysis company. Although they are
generally long-lived assets, older railcars that have sat unused with little or no maintenance while demand has been weak will be
difficult to bring back to good working order once levels of demand return to pre-crisis levels. As a result, we believe that market
participants with younger fleets will be in a better position to meet new demand.
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Shift to increased leasing over ownership

We believe that as newer, smaller companies enter the rail freight market in the wake of deregulation, and legacy companies are
forced to compete more directly with leaner entrants, leasing a fleet of railcars will become more advantageous to the market as a
whole. Leasing allows companies seeking to ship freight by rail to build up their fleet without incurring a significant capital
expenditure. In addition, lessors can provide lessees with value-added services such as fleet maintenance, thereby enabling lessees
to avoid the need for expensive, in-house maintenance teams. Furthermore, sale and leaseback transactions and finance leasing can
allow companies to manage their balance sheet while outsourcing to lessors the management of the disposal of their used containers.

Al Competition

There are several large competitors operating in the freight railcar leasing industry. These companies tend to specialise in several
types of railcars.

While we specialise in intermodal railcars and other dry goods transportation railcars, certain other market operators, such as GATX,
VTG and ERMEWA, specialise in tank railcars.

The main competitor of our Freight Railcar division in the intermodal railcar segment is VTG (since the acquisition of AAE.
[0l General presentation of the business

We lease and sell freight railcars to logistics companies, railway operators and industrial groups in Europe, the United States and
Asia. We believe we are one of the largest lessors of intermodal freight railcars in Europe, in terms of the number of units in our fleet.

We also provide maintenance services as an Entity in Charge of Maintenance under European regulations to customers in Europe.
Our Freight Railcars division has offices and/or agents and covers about 20 countries in Europe.

Revenues are distributed, as follows:

Revenues by revenue type

4%

O Sales

m Leases

96%

Our Freight Railcars Fleet

As of 31 December 2019, our total fleet of railcars consisted of 9,574 platforms with a gross book value of approximately €425 million,
of which 31% consisted of railcars that we managed on behalf of third-party investors. The average utilisation rate for our leasing
fleet was approximately 88.7% for the year ended 31 December 2019. Our fleet consists of different types of railcars, including:

- intermodal railcars used to transport standard containers used in sea transport or swap bodies. These are interchangeable
containers that are very light and non-stackable, ideal for road and rail transport ;

. car carrier railcars, which are used to transport cars by rail ;

. coil carrying railcars, which are specially designed to transport large spools of steel, coils of cable or wire or other similarly
spooled materials ;

- sliding wall railcars, which are loaded from the sides for palletised products; and
. hopper cars, which are used to transport loose bulk items.

Within the freight railcar industry, railcars are counted in terms of platforms rather than individual wagons. A 45-foot and a 60-foot
railcar are each considered to be one platform, while 80-foot, 90-foot, 106-foot and car transport railcars are each considered to
represent 2 platforms. On 31 December 2019, our freight railcar fleet totalled 7,315 (or 9,574 platforms).

As of 31 December 2019, in addition to our platforms under management, we provided technical and maintenance service for 1,504
platforms owned by a customer.

Freight railcars are particularly long-lived assets, which can typically be used for 30 to 50 years. The average age of our freight railcar
fleet as of 31 December 2019 was 20.84 years.

Our Products and Services

Our Freight Railcars division offers three principal types of services to our customers: leasing and related services, railcar maintenance
and asset management. To a limited extent, we also sell small components used in freight railcars.
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Leasing and related services

We lease our fleet of freight railcars to logistics providers, railway companies and industrial groups in Europe, the United States and
Asia. We also provide services related to our leased fleet, such as maintenance services. Revenue from leasing and related services
accounted for €58.4 million, or 97%, of our total revenues in the Freight Railcars division for the year ended 31 December 2019.

We provide four types of packages to our freight railcar lessees based on their specific operational needs:

. full service leases, pursuant to which we are responsible for maintenance and repairs of leased railcars ;
. net leases, pursuant to which our customer retains responsibility for the maintenance of and repairs to their leased freight
railcars ;

- mixed leases, pursuant to which we are responsible for inspections and checks of the leased freight railcars and repair of their
axles while our customer is responsible for all other corrective and day-to-day maintenance; and

- sale and leaseback transactions, pursuant to which we purchase railcars from our customers and lease the fleet back to them.
We may provide maintenance of the railcars through the leaseback arrangement if the customer so desires.

Lessees under our freight railcar lease contracts generally undertake to lease a fixed number of freight railcars for the duration of the
lease at a fixed per diem rate, although some lease agreements may also provide for the rental of freight railcars on a pay-as-you-go
basis for spare wagons.

Furthermore, our lease agreements generally include a yearly mileage limitation clause, which establishes a supplement per
kilometre applicable to the contractual rental rate in the case the freight railcars have travelled more than the agreed mileage. The
duration of these leases generally varies from 1 to 2 years, although in certain cases it could be for as long as 8 years. On 31 December
2019, the average term of our leases was approximately 2.78 years. Leases are often automatically renewed at the end of their initial
term for an additional one year term unless either party to the lease agreement delivers a notice of redelivery to the other party at
least 3 months prior to the expiration of the initial rental period. Further, contracts may not be terminated by the lessee unilaterally
during the term of the lease.

Freight railcar maintenance

Since 2011, we were certified as an “Entity in Charge of Maintenance,” or ECM, pursuant to European Regulation 445/2001/EC. This
certification was renewed in December 2019 by external audit. This regulation sets forth a mandatory compliance system designed
to ensure the safety and reliability of freight transport by rail within the European Union, and prescribes standard guidelines similar
to those of an ISO standard that must be applied in order for accreditation to be received. The promulgation of the regulation created
a market in third-party maintenance providers to alleviate the time and cost burden of compliance by freight railcar holders.

We employ specialized technicians that are able to analyse a fright railcar’s technical issues remotely and recommend a detailed plan
of action. The railcar is then dispatched to a nearby workshop to which we subcontract the actual repair work and whose mechanics
are instructed to follow the recommendations of our technicians.

Our status as an ECM allows us to offer maintenance services as an ECM to third parties independently of whether the freight railcars
are part of our fleet. We currently provide such services to freight railcars owned by an affiliate of SNCF, the French national railway
company. We intend to use our status as an ECM to pursue other opportunities to provide freight railcar maintenance services on a
standalone basis.

Asset management

As in our Shipping Containers division, we syndicate portfolios of freight railcars to third-party investors and operate as an asset
manager for them. On 31 December 2019, our Freight Railcars division had assets under management for third parties with a gross
book value of approximately €133 million, or 31% of our total fleet of freight railcars.

Our portfolio selection, tracking, syndication process and contracts are similar to those used in our Shipping Containers division.
Following syndication, we manage the syndicated portfolio as if it were part of the assets we manage for our own account.

We have syndicated freight railcars to our SRFRL and TRF3 subsidiaries. SRFRL and TRF3 are joint-ventures created with DVB Bank SE,
which are investments instruments in freight railcars in Europe. In January 2017, our indirect holding in TRF3 increased and our voting
rights increased to 52.03 %. We have syndicated freight railcars to TXRF4. TX RF4 is an asset company owned by a Luxembourg SICAF-
SIF whose objective is to invest in equipment managed by the Group.

Sales

To a very limited extent, we sell small components related to freight railcars, such as brake shoes and sometimes axles. We also have
from time to time sold portfolios of second-hand freight railcars when we believe it is financially attractive for us to do so, considering
the location, sale price, cost of repair and possible repositioning expenses.

Procurement of our fleet

We rely on third-party manufacturers to supply the freight railcars that make up our fleet.
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We generally do not purchase new equipment for use in our Freight Railcars division unless we have signed a lease or sale agreement
with a customer. The equipment that we do purchase is selected based on our own internal ROI targets, which are affected by the
price that we can charge under our rental contract and the cost of financing the freight railcars.

We do not believe we are particularly dependent on any one supplier of freight railcars to meet our needs. However, we do expect
that new freight railcars will generally be in short supply in the near term since at the end of the last decade many manufacturers
were forced to go out of business due to the global economic slowdown.

Financing our Fleet

We purchase freight railcars for use in our rental fleet for the purpose of either owning them on our balance sheet or syndicating
railcars to third-party investors for whom we manage such assets. On 31 December 2019, 31% of the gross book value of our freight
railcar fleet was owned by third-party investors and 69% was owned by our Group.

When we purchase freight railcars to own on our balance sheet, we do so through cash on hand or drawings under our revolving
credit lines. When we purchase freight railcars for syndication, on the other hand, we take advantage of a dedicated warehouse
credit facility, the TRF2 Warehouse Facility, to finance these freight railcars in anticipation of their syndication. While the TRF2
Warehouse Facility is intended to provide short-term revolving credit, we have used it as a means of long-term financing for our
freight railcars in periods of low syndication demand. A railcar will remain subject to the TRF2 Warehouse Facility until such time as
we sell it to a third-party investor. Once the railcar is sold, the proceeds of the sale are used to repay the drawing under the TRF2
Warehouse Facility.

Management of our fleet

Through our proprietary fleet management software platform, we are able to track our fleet of freight railcars as they are leased.
Our platform allows us to provide monthly reports to our management and our investors on the status of our freight railcar fleet,
rental rates per type of railcar, utilization rate, operating expenses and revenues attributable to a freight railcar, to a lessee or to an
investor.

Freight railcars that are on lease but unused by our customers are stored in rail yards and sidings at their expense. We also store
freight railcars that are not on lease at rail yards at our own expense. Our freight railcars are monitored by our trained technicians
and are sent to workshops to undergo maintenance and repair at the instruction of our technicians.

Marketing

Our primary means of marketing our services is through our regular participation in requests for tenders from logistic companies,
railway operators or industrial groups. In general, a potential customer will specify the number and type of freight railcars it will need,
and where it will need them. Our decision to tender is based on our ability to purchase or furnish freight railcars at a price that will
generate an attractive return on our investment.

The length of the tender offer process varies depending on the potential customer’s need for freight railcars. If the company is seeking
to fulfil a need that will arise in the immediate short-term, the process can be quite rapid, whereas companies that are seeking to
fulfil projected future needs typically set forth a schedule that is longer. We negotiate terms such as price, payment terms, additional
services to be included in the contract (such as maintenance) and the terms of delivery and return of the leased freight railcars.

Key customers

Our Freight Railcars division caters primarily to three types of customers: logistic companies, railway operators and industrial groups.
Our principal logistic company customers include GCA, Shuttlewise, Oceanogate, HodImayr, ARS Altmann. Our principal railway
company customers include SNCF, Deutsche Bahn, SBB, Belgian Railways, Rail Cargo Austria and Rail Cargo Hungaria.

Our principal industrial sector customers include VW, BASF, Tata Steel and Solvay. During the year ended 31 December 2019, no
single freight railcar leasing customer represented more than approximately 9.9% of our leasing revenues in the division. Our ten
largest Freight Railcar equipment leasing customers represented approximately 43% of our leasing revenues in the Freight Railcar
division for the year ended 31 December 2019.

2. River Barge business
[l Key Market Characteristics

Our River Barges division is installed in the Seine, the Rhine and the Danube river basins in Europe, the Mississippi and the Missouri
river basins in the United States and the Parand-Paraguay river basin in South America.

Inland waterway freight traffic is significant in each of our markets. For the French Waterways, 56.3 million tonnes of goods were
transported in France during 2019. This represents a traffic of 7.4 billion tonnes.km. These figures have increased by 10 and 9%
respectively compared to 2018. This is mainly linked to an exceptional cereal year and significant volumes of transport of construction
materials on the Seine for the Greater Paris project works.

According to the 2019 annual report from the Observation of the Inland Navigation Market in Europe, the tonnes of freight
transported by inland waterways in the European Union in 2018 are decreasing mainly due to the exceptional and long low flow over
the Rhine during the second half of the year. The recovery began in 2019, thanks to a more dynamic cereal market, resulting from
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exceptional crop levels. On the 40,000 km of European inland waterways, this represents a total traffic of 300 million tonnes of goods
and 135 billion tonnes per kilometre. In the United States, approximately 600 million tons of commodities freight moved on inland
waterways in 2017, according to the Waterways Council, a U.S. public body. This represents 14% of domestic volumes trade, valued
at $250 billion.

According to the World Bank, freight traffic in the Parana-Paraguay Basin, our main market in South America, mainly consisting of
grains and bulk minerals, estimated at around 15 million tonnes in 2018, fell again in 2019 as a result of an increased period of drought
which impacted heavily on harvests. Iron ore volumes, which had been drastically reduced since 2015, have stagnated since then
with an average of 3 million tonnes.

River barges are expected to remain an important component of inland freight transportation in the future. For example, according
to the 2016-2017 report "the power of inland navigation" published by Blue Road, conservative estimates have river transport
maintaining a share of 5% of all inland freight transportation in the EU between 2005 and 2040.

[l Principal Market Drivers
Macroeconomic factors affecting demand for freight traffic

The demand for the leasing and sale of river barges is closely linked to regulatory, political and macroeconomic factors affecting the
transport of goods in the countries and regions where a particular river flows. These factors are for example: levels of aggregate
industrial production and harvesting, local demand for goods, government policies related to the import and export of goods or the
pattern of international trade.

We believe that demand for river barges will increase in the short term in Europe. Europe’s largest seaports already make extensive
use of inland water transportation in order to avoid road congestion and to address a lack of capacity in rail transportation or road
infrastructure. We believe that river transport will continue to play an important role because of the steady increase in seaport traffic
and the growing influence of the environmental constraints linked to greenhouse gas production. In South America, the economic
slowdown in the region as well as the decline in prices of certain raw materials has led to a decrease in the requirements for barges.
However transport of cereals has remained stable. According to the Paraguayan Chamber of Commerce, the food needs of the
continent will lead to a doubling of volumes transported on the Parana-Paraguay by 2025.

Cost efficiency and environmental concerns

We believe that river barges are one of the most energy-efficient means of inland transportation. With a growing global emphasis on
“green” industries, the environmental benefits of river transportation over overland transportation are likely to become increasingly
important market factors. We believe that river transportation is particularly cost effective, as it can transport large volumes of cargo
while consuming fewer fossil fuels. It is estimated that river transportation is seven times cheaper than road transportation, requiring
3.7 times less petroleum consumption than the latter. For example, a convoy of two barges can hold 6,000 metric tons of cargo,
which is the equivalent of the cargo capacity of approximately 240 trucks on the road. Market estimates indicate that one ton of bulk
products can be carried 616 miles by inland barge on one gallon of fuel, compared with 478 miles by railcars or 150 miles by truck.
Finally, river barges produce approximately three to four times less carbon dioxide than road transport, according to estimates by
Voies Navigables de France, a French public establishment that manages navigable inland waterways in France.

(I Competition

We believe that competition in the River Barges division is marked by a high degree of regional and local competition rather than
competition from multinational companies. This results from the need for market participants to be familiar with the various
regulations governing a particular river basin, the barge design constraints posed by a particular river and the locally concentrated
customer base.

As an operating leasing company, we operate in a niche market and do not encounter significant competition from other lessors,
who are more likely to be river operators with a different business model from ours.

[0l General presentation of the business

We lease and sell river barges to logistics companies and industrial groups in Europe, the United States and South America. In this
niche market, we believe that we are the leading operational leasing company for bulk river barges in Europe and South America.
Our barges operate along the Seine, Rhine and Danube river basins in Europe, the Mississippi and Missouri river basins in the United
States and the Parana-Paraguay river basin in South America.

River barges are flat-bottomed boats that are built mainly for river and canal transport of bulk goods. To a large extent, river barges
are not self-propelled and must be towed or pushed by a tow boat. River barges are particularly long-lived assets, which can typically
be used for 30 to 50 years.

For the year ended 31 December 2019, our River Barges division accounted for €11.8 million of revenues, equal to 7% of our total
revenues or 9% of our EBITDA.

Below is a breakdown of our River Barges division revenues for the year ended 31 December 2019:

- Revenues: €11.8m
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[ Our fleet

We specialise in dry bulk river barges, which are primarily used to transport dry bulk freight such as coal, sand, gravel, steel, iron ore,
grains, fertilizers, cement and clinker. On 31 December 2019, our fleet of river barges consisted of 97 units (excluding chartered
barges) with a gross book value of approximately €72 million. The average age of our river barge fleet on 31 December 2019 was 13.6
years. The average utilisation rate for our fleet was 90.6% for the year ended 31 December 2019.

[l Our Products and Services

We primarily lease river barges to logistics companies and industrial groups. However, we also engage in opportunistic sales of
second-hand river vessels from our own fleet from time to time. Although we are a historical operator of river barges, we have
decided to refocus our business on leasing only. We do not operate the equipment we own, but instead lease it to operators.

We also offer our expertise for the preparation, construction monitoring and delivery of new barges for customers wishing to acquire
or renew their fleet.

Leasing and related services

We provide operational leasing and sale and leaseback solutions for river barges. Some related services that we provide in connection
with our leases include fleet management, transport of barges between different river basins, insurance and technical expertise
regarding river transport. During the year ended 31 December 2019, revenue from leasing and related services accounted for €11.6
million, or 99% of our total revenues in the River Barges division.

We generally enter into long-term leases with our river barge lessees. These leases can last for up to 10 years. On 31 December 2019,
the average term of our long-term river barge leases was approximately 5.8 years. Typically our contracts can be renewed, either
tacitly or through the express agreement of the parties thereto. Most of our leasing is usually on a "chartering" basis, which means
that the lessee is responsible for recruiting their own crew, taking care of insurance and necessary repairs during the leasing period.
Lessees agree to release us from the principles of liability associated with their use of our barges. Contracts may not be terminated
by the lessee unilaterally during the term of the lease.

Trading and Sales

We engage in sales of second-hand river vessels from our own fleet from time to time when we believe it is financially attractive for
us to do so, taking into account the location, sale price, cost of repair and possible repositioning expenses, as well as, to a very limited
extent, direct operation of river barges. During the financial year ended 31 December 2019, there was no trading, but sales of barges
represented 1% of the total revenues in the River Barges division.

[l Procurement of our fleet

We rely on third-party manufacturers of river barges in order to build up our fleet. We generally do not purchase non-replacement
new equipment for use in our River Barges division unless we have signed a lease agreement or a sale agreement with a customer.

The price of a new river barge depends heavily on the technical specifications to be met, the place of manufacture or delivery required
for the barge as well as general market conditions influencing demand at the time of purchase. For a standard dry bulk cargo barge,
the purchase price can range from approximately $650,000 to $1.5 million. It takes from 2 to 7 months from the signing of a purchase
order for delivery of a new barge.

We do not believe we are dependent on any one supplier of river barges to meet our needs. However, the construction offer of river
projects is dependent on the strength of the market.

[l Financing of our fleet

We do not engage in asset management and therefore our main means of liquidity in this division is cash on hand, equity injections
or borrowings under asset-based bilateral credit agreements to finance our acquisitions of new equipment.

[0l  Management of our fleet

We manage our Seine, Danube and Mississippi river barge fleets centrally from our headquarters in Paris. Our fleets in other locations
are managed locally. We do not actively manage our fleet, as our river barge operations are controlled by our lessees. However, we
ensure that the administrative documents for our barges are up-to-date, that the navigation certificates are renewed regularly and
we manage the processing of insurance premiums and claims and any modifications.
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[l Marketing

We have offices dedicated to our River Barges division in Paris, Rotterdam, Panama City and Miami. Our marketing efforts are both
centrally based (through our website and through brochures) and basin-based (through locally organized client events, appearances
at trade fairs and advertisements in local publications). As our River Barges division is targeted at a niche market, we rely mainly on
networking through our existing client base, advertisements, appearances at exhibitions and trade fairs and scouting prospects
directly through our professional contacts as well as agents, to generate new business.

[l Key customers

Our River Barges leasing business primarily caters to logistics companies and industrial groups. Our principal river logistics sector
customers include Trading Line, Miller, P&0O Maritime Services, ATRIA Logistics and Redereij De Jong. Principal industrial sector
customers include Cemex, ArcelorMittal, Yara, Bunge and ADM. During the year ended 31 December 2019, no single customer
represented more than 45% of our leasing revenues in the River Barges division.

3. Shipping Container activity
[l Key Market Characteristics

The shipping container market is by its nature international in scope. As a result, growth in the shipping container industry is tied to
international trade volumes.

We believe that demand for shipping containers has been positively affected by the growth in international containerised traffic. In
2019, annual production of shipping containers was estimated to be approximately 2.4 million TEU.

Shipping lines will typically use a combination of owned containers and leased containers. At the end of 2019, it was estimated that
shipping lines owned approximately 48% of the total worldwide shipping container fleet (40 million TEU) while 52% of the total
worldwide shipping container fleet was managed by leasing companies. In addition, it is estimated that 47% of shipping containers
produced in 2019 were ordered by leasers.

In general, lease pricing for new shipping containers is determined largely by the purchase price of a new shipping container. The
purchase price can vary due to several factors, including the price of steel, which is the main component of a container, and market
demand.

[l Principal Market Drivers
Globalization leading to increased trade volumes

We believe that trade flows resulting from globalisation constitute the main driver of growth in the underlying demand for shipping
containers. As a greater proportion of industrial and consumer goods is traded internationally, we believe that it will become
increasingly common to outsource labour-intensive processes such as manufacturing away from countries where the cost of labour
is high to countries in the developing world with lower wages. This internationalisation of the production value chain means that
goods will need to travel further afield from their place of manufacture to their end-markets. Over the past two decades, Asia (China
in particular) has served as the main origin of the world’s exports, while markets in North America, Europe and Japan have seen net
inflows of imported goods. We believe that this general trend will continue and, at the same time, countries will attempt to further
correct the trade imbalance with their main bilateral partners, and especially China as the largest market. This scenario leads to a
further increase in demand for long-haul containerized traffic.

To meet the increased demand for maritime cargo transport, shipping companies have added more vessels to their fleets in order to
increase the frequency of their ocean crossings. In addition to vessel availability, container availability is key to the successful
management of cargo space. Each container ship has a predetermined number of “slots,” which correspond to the space required
for one TEU aboard the vessel. When a ship arrives at port, the containers on board are offloaded and are transported onward over
land. A shipping company must therefore have containers already available at port for loading onto the vessel once it arrives to take
on new cargo for the vessel’s onward journey. According to third-party market research, at the end of 2019 a shipping company
required just under 2 containers per vessel slot to optimise its operations while minimising the unproductive time associated with
not having a ready source of new containers at each port. This ratio is expected to remain relatively unchanged in 2020.

Increased shipping times leading to increased demand for shipping containers

Lengthier shipping times can have a positive effect on the demand for shipping containers, as it requires shipping companies to have
access to a larger fleet of containers than what would have been necessary had turnaround times been more rapid. Two relatively
recent developments have led to shipping lines moving goods more slowly than they have in the past. Firstly, the trend towards ever
larger shipping vessels has meant that they are not able to physically pass through the Panama Canal and are thus forced to round
the Cape Horn rather than take a more a direct route for intercontinental journeys. Furthermore, even if vessels can pass through
the canals (Panama and Suez), there are significant charges imposed for their use, which can negate whatever cost advantage that
may result from reduced shipping time and benefit to longer routes , such as the Cape of Good Hope. Secondly, shipping companies
have voluntarily reduced the speed of their ships, a practice known as "slow steaming" or "extra-slow steaming", to reduce fuel costs.
All of these factors have resulted in more time elapsing during a container’s round-trip between its port of origin and its port of
destination. If a shipping company were to experience a spike in demand for shipments while its containers are still away from port
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on board a slower-moving ship and on a longer journey, it would need access to more containers to meet that demand. Finally, the
risks of piracy have led some shipowners to pass by the Cape of Good Hope rather than taking a more direct route through the Suez
Canal.

Shift to increased container leasing versus ownership

We believe that the growth in lessor-managed shipping containers is part of a general decrease in the share of shipping containers
purchased by shipping companies.

The chart below shows the change in the worldwide container fleet by owner category (in millions of TEU) and the global share
represented by lessors, from 2011 through 2023 (data from 2020 onwards is based on forecasts).

Figure 3.4 Container fleet by owner category
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Container leasing remained relatively resilient during the most recent financial crisis despite a downturn in shipping activity which
impacted most shipping lines, with global leasing volumes dropping only slightly from approximately 11.6 million TEU in 2008 to
approximately 11 million TEU in 2009, before rebounding to previously reached levels the following year whereas shipping lines
activities dramatically dropped. We believe this is due in part to the fact that leasing is advantageous to shipping lines for both
operational and financial reasons. Because export volumes are subject to a host of different factors, it can be difficult for shipping
lines to predict accurately their container requirements at different ports. Leasing allows shipping lines to lower their capital
expenditures and to adjust their container fleets to match seasonal variation and short-term peaks in demand. The availability of a
fleet of containers for lease at strategic ports around the world reduces the need for a shipping line to maintain excess container
capacity and therefore reduces its capital expenditures and preserves cash. We believe that, following the gradual introduction of
new environmental regulations concerning carbon dioxide emissions, carriers are now concentrating their investments on their main
assets, the ships. The main shipping companies have also allocated their capital to strengthening their global presence, through the
acquisition of competitors and port terminals, but also through a process of vertical integration of logistics and/or freight forwarding
companies. Shipping lines can rely on container lessors for a long-term supply of assets at a fixed rate that reflects the benefits of
scale available to lessors as purchasers of containers. Additionally, lessors are able to provide lessees with a variety of other value-
added services, such as sale and leaseback transactions and/or finance leasing, enabling shipping lines to manage their balance sheets
while effectively outsourcing to lessors the management of the disposal of their used containers.

Competition

The shipping container leasing sector is heavily consolidated: the top ten container leasing companies account for a significant
proportion of the total containers in the world. The years 2015 and 2016 were marked by a concentration among the rental
companies, with the disappearance of some big names among the top 10 worldwide. These giant mergers further extend the scope
of operation of the rental companies, as well as the improvement of services and the value chain. Some smaller names have also
disappeared or merged, thus reducing the share of companies outside the top ten to an even smaller percentage.

Alongside this, the shipping industry has also been consolidating for a number of years, generating an increase in the share of
revenues from major shipping companies in our customer portfolio. These two dynamics combine to create a highly competitive
environment for lessors of shipping containers. In such a highly concentrated market, the key competitive advantage is to have a
strong network and platform in order to ensure that the right asset is available at the right time, in the right place and at the right
price. In addition, shipping lines allocate their supplies over a number of lessors to reduce concentration risk issues.

Our main competitors in the Shipping Container division include Triton International, Textainer group, Florens Container Leasing,
Seaco, SeaCube Container Leasing, CAl International and Beacon Intermodal Leasing.
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[0l General presentation of the business

We manage a fleet of shipping containers that we own or manage on behalf of third-party investors. In addition, we sell used
containers for mainly land-based purposes. Based on the information available from other publicly listed companies, we believe that
we are the 3rd largest asset manager of shipping containers in the world and the largest manager of shipping containers in continental
Europe. We believe we are the 8th largest lessor of shipping containers in the world and the leading lessor in continental Europe
based on the size of our fleet on 31 December 2019. Our division has offices and/or representatives in several countries.

Shipping containers constitute highly standardised, and therefore highly liquid, equipment. Containers are designed and built to meet
norms set forth by the International Organization for Standardization (“ISO”) and the World Customs Organization (“WCQ”), among
other international organizations. The industry-standard measurement unit is the Twenty-Foot Equivalent Unit (“TEU”), which
compares the length of a container to a standard twenty-foot container. For example, a 20-foot container is equivalent to one TEU
and a 40-foot container is equivalent to two TEU. Each container is identified by a unique seven-digit number that is registered with
the Bureau International des Containers et du Transport Intermodal, a non-governmental organization that allocates codes to each
container owner or operating company. These numbers, which are on a nameplate affixed to the doors of the container, enable the
identification of the owner and the manufacturer of the container and the container’s safe passage through customs under the
mandate of the World Customs Organization.

For the year ended 31 December 2019, income from activities in our Shipping Containers division accounted for €81.8 million, equal
to 48%, of our total revenues or 24% of our EBITDA. The container leasing and sales businesses are denominated in U.S. dollars, and
both acquisitions and leases are made in U.S. dollars.

[l Our container fleet

On 31 December 2019, we had a shipping container fleet of 434,816 TEU. The gross book value of our fleet was approximately €663
million on 31 December 2019, of which 89% we managed on behalf of third-party investors.

The chart below shows the growth of our fleet of shipping containers from 31 December 2015 to 31 December 2019, in thousands
of TEU:

2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

Number of containers bought (in TEU) 13362 30709 1598 19000 25100
Number of containers sold (in TEU) 41456 40019 68770 76271 72760
Fleet managed on 31 December (in TEU) 434816 463732 475007 553269 585237
Steel equivalent of containers bought (in tonnes) 20379 47983 2660 28790 38290
Timber equivalent of containers bought (in tonnes) 3639 8 568 475 5141 6 837

TEU: twenty equivalent unit
The average utilisation rate for our shipping container fleet was close to 97% for the year ended 31 December 2019.

The majority of our fleet comprises standard dry freight shipping containers. Standard dry freight shipping containers are typically 8
feet wide, come in lengths of 20 feet, 40 feet or 45 feet and are either 8 or 9 feet high. These types of containers are constructed of
steel sides, a roof, an end panel on one end and a set of doors on the other end, a wooden floor and a steel undercarriage. They are
used to carry general cargo, such as manufactured component parts, consumer staples, electronics and apparel. On 31 December
2019, the average age of our shipping container fleet was 10.1 years. Our fleet consists of new containers, with a long useful leasing
life and assets acquired from shipping companies through Sale & Lease back contracts.

Containers tend to have high residual values even after their usefulness in the maritime context has ended, since they can be adapted
to a wide variety of uses onshore, such as for storage or refuse of various materials. Shipping containers typically have useful lives of
up to 15 years at sea and up to an additional 20 years of useful life on land. New containers are typically leased under long-term
leases, followed by a series of shorter-term leases of used containers. Our ability to re-lease a container at the end of its first lease
depends on our Shipping Containers team’s market expertise and our global platform to ensure that containers that are off-lease are
positioned in areas of high demand so that we are able to provide customers with products that meet their needs when and where
they arise.

[l Our Products and Services

Our Shipping Containers division offers three principal types of services: leasing and related services, asset management and trading
and sales, for our own equipment and on behalf of third-party investors.

Leasing and related services

We offer a range of different types of leasing solutions for shipping companies. In 2019, leasing and related services accounted for
€65 million of total revenues, or 79%, of our revenues in the Shipping Containers division.

. Long-term leases are designed for customers seeking to secure a steady supply of containers at a steady price over the long-
term. Lessees under these contracts undertake to lease a fixed number of containers for the duration of the lease at a fixed per diem
rate. The initial term of these leases typically ranges from five to eight years. On 31 December 2019, the average duration of our

TOUAX | 49



2019 UNIVERSAL REGISTRATION DOCUMENT

long-term leases, including renewals and extensions, was approximately 6.6 years. They are often renewed at the end of their initial
term. Pricing is on a per diem basis and fixed for the duration of the lease. Our long-term lessees are typically responsible for the
repair and maintenance of the shipping containers that they lease.

- Master leases are arrangements with customers that set up a flexible framework agreement whereby the customer may lease
shipping containers on demand, with no minimum leasing period. These lease arrangements are designed to provide our customers
with added flexibility. The terms and conditions set forth in a master lease are valid for a set period, typically one year, and provide
the lessee with a more flexible arrangement than a long-term lease. For example, during the term of the master lease, the lessee
may lease a container for a period as short as one day. To compensate for this flexibility, the per diem rate, which is fixed for the
term of the lease, is typically higher for master leases than they are for long-term leases. Master leases are predominantly used by
lessees to satisfy container needs within a single region and to a lesser extent for intercontinental needs.

. Finance leases are designed for customers that want to secure a steady supply of containers and finance their purchase in a
manner distinct from traditional bank lending. These leases can range in duration from three to ten years. At the end of the lease
and upon making a final monthly payment, the customer becomes the owner of the shipping container.

In connection with our finance leases, we generally engage in back-to-back transactions with financial institutions to manage our
exposure to a client’s credit risk.

- One-way leases are spot leases provided on a one-time-only basis to customers for a given transport type. We seize the
opportunities to offer this type of lease when it is advantageous for us to relocate a container to another port or as part of our new
container trading business.

- Sale and leaseback contracts are contracts by which we purchase fleets from shipping companies in order to lease them back.

Our shipping container lessees are responsible for the maintenance of the containers they have leased, as well as for their insurance.
We typically are not liable for any loss, damage to property (including cargo) owned by the lessee or third parties arising out of the
possession or use of a leased container. Further, contracts may not be terminated by the lessee unilaterally during the term of the
lease.

Asset management

We provide management of shipping container portfolios for private companies and other institutional investors. Through our
dedicated asset management team, we identify and analyse investor objectives such as length of investment period, cost of financing,
performance metrics, leverage level, dividend policy and asset and customer diversification preferences. The key metric for our
investors is return on investment (“ROI”). When acquiring containers, our Shipping Container management team assembles a report
that sets forth this analysis and the expected ROI levels to be derived from the shipment of containers.

We are mandated by our investor partners to build for them a portfolio of assets, which can comprise new shipping containers,
existing containers in our leasing fleet or containers subject to sale and leaseback arrangements or any combination thereof, with
the aim of meeting their ROl objectives.

We enter into long-term management contracts with our investors, typically for a term of 12 to 15 years. Although we generally have
already leased the containers to various lessees at the time we sell the portfolio to investors, generating a foreseeable cash flow
stream for investors, we typically do not guarantee leasing rates or a rate of return on the portfolio to our investors.

During the life of the asset management contract, we manage the assets in the same manner that we manage our owned assets (that
is, as if the assets in the portfolio did not belong to investors). At the inception of the contract, we receive a syndication fee that
typically ranges from 2% to 5% of the book value of the containers being syndicated. During the leasing life of the container, we
receive management fees of typically 5% to 10% of gross rental revenue. We receive incentive fees throughout the life of the contract
upon the achievement of targeted ROI milestones. Upon an investor’s divestment, we either repackage the portfolio for syndication
to a new investor, sell the underlying assets on the second-hand market, or repurchase the portfolio for our own benefit. If we sell
the assets at the investor’s request, we typically earn a sales fee of typically between 5% and 15% of the sale price.

Asset pooling is a means of sharing both the risks and benefits of ownership of our leasing fleet. We include our owned assets and
third-party owned assets of the same type and age in the same pool, in order to ensure our investors that our interests are aligned
with theirs. Through this commingling, we are exposed to the danger of non-utilization of our assets to the same extent as our
investors. In this way, our investors can take comfort that we are incentivised to manage syndicated equipment and manage our
owned fleet in a similar manner.

We are able to track the performance of our assets under management through our proprietary fleet management platform. Our
platform allows us to provide monthly reports to our investors on the status of our fleet, rental rates per type of asset, utilization
rate, operating expenses and revenues attributable to an asset, to a lessee or to an investor. It also provides us with sophisticated
tools that enable us to create “pools” of similar assets that allow the costs and revenues attributable to a particular unit to be
distributed among various participants in a pool.

On 31 December 2019, our assets under management for third parties had a gross book value of approximately €589.3 million,
accounting for 89% of the gross book value of our fleet of shipping containers.
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Trading and Sales

We sell second-hand containers from our fleet that have reached the end of their useful life in the shipping transport industry, as
part of our fleet renewal life cycle or when we believe it is financially attractive for us to do so, taking into account the location, sale
price, cost of repair and possible repositioning expenses. We sell these containers for other uses than shipping, our customers include
companies such as Pac-Van, K-Tainer, AceCastle, Interport Maintenance, Arnal, among others. In 2019, sales of equipment
represented 21% of the total revenues for the division Our experienced Shipping Containers management team enables us to actively
manage our fleet and seize second-hand sales opportunities as they arise.

[l Procurement of our fleet

Consistent with market practice for all container lessors and the majority of shipping lines, we rely on third-party manufacturers to
supply the shipping containers that make up our fleet. Production of shipping containers is highly concentrated. We estimate that
three manufacturers serve about 85% of worldwide demand, with one manufacturer accounting for a little less than 50% of the global
production alone in 2019.

Because of the dynamics of the shipping container industry and the relatively short lead time with which customers expect to be able
to take delivery of a container once they have signed a lease agreement, we seek to have a supply of new containers available for
immediate leasing on demand. As a result, in addition to the purchase of new containers in the ordinary course of business to replace
ageing assets, we also purchase new containers for our leasing fleet to meet expected increases in customer demand. We have a
policy limiting such non-replacement purchases to a cap of $25 million outstanding at any given time. As the case may be, we only
purchase new assets if we have a leasing contract or syndication agreement in place.

We monitor the price of containers in order to purchase new containers opportunistically when we consider prices are attractive.
The price of containers depends largely on the price of steel, which is the major component used in their manufacture. The price at
which we lease our containers is strongly correlated with the price at which we have purchased the containers, in order to optimize
the return on our investment. Nevertheless, because we regularly purchase containers in order to have a sufficient stock of containers
ready to be leased upon customer demand, any effect of periodic fluctuations in container prices on our activity tends to level out
with time.

The procurement cycle for a container is generally short. Manufacturers are usually able to provide us with a quote for containers
meeting our specifications within two days, regardless of the size of our order. We negotiate terms such as price, the location and
timing for delivery and payment terms. We benchmark the prices quoted with our general market intelligence, prevailing rental rates,
historical price statistics and a cost analysis (based on steel prices at the time of the order as well as the exchange rate of the U.S.
dollar to the Chinese Yuan). If we are able to negotiate satisfactory terms, we can confirm our order with a delivery date of 30-45
days after signing a purchase agreement. Production times can vary due to a number of factors, including the size of the order itself,
general demand volume and the time of year.

Occasionally, we enter into sale and leaseback arrangements, through which we purchase used containers from our customers and
lease the containers back to them, thereby enabling our customers to continue using these containers while no longer carrying them
on their balance sheets. Such arrangements also allow customers to effectively outsource the disposal of used containers to lessors,
which tend to have a wider network of outlets for the sales of such containers. Lessees continue to be responsible for repair and
maintenance of the containers they lease back.

[l Financing Our River Barges Fleet

We purchase containers for use in our rental fleet for the purpose of either owning them on our balance sheet or syndicating them
to third-party investors for whom we manage such assets. On 31 December 2019, 89% of the gross book value of our container fleet
was owned by third-party investors and 11% was owned by our Group.

When we purchase containers for our owned equipment fleet, we finance such purchases through drawings under our revolving
credit lines or purchase it with cash on hand.

When we purchase containers for syndication, on the other hand, the financing process takes place in multiple steps. We are party
to our TCF Warehouse Facility, which is an asset-based revolving facility upon which we can draw against the value of our shipping
containers. We typically first either incur debt on our balance sheet to purchase a container for syndication through a temporary
drawing under our revolving credit lines or purchase it with cash on hand. Once the new container is leased, we then refinance the
container through our asset financing line (TCAF) in anticipation of syndicating the container to a third-party investor, in effect a type
of short-term bridge financing. The container will remain subject to the asset financing line (TCAF) until such time as we syndicate it
to a third-party investor. Once the container is sold, the proceeds of the sale are used to repay the drawing under the TCF Warehouse
Facility.

[0l  Management of our fleet

We believe that our ability to offer containers at the right place at the right time and at the right price is key to our success as a lessor.
One of the main reasons why a shipping company may choose to lease rather than buy their own containers is to satisfy an imbalance
of supply at key ports around the world, as the availability of a fleet of containers for lease at strategic ports around the world reduces
the need for a shipping line to maintain excess container capacity and therefore reduces its capital expenditures and preserve cash.
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To that end, we have developed a network of third-party owned and operated depots worldwide from which we can meet our
customers’ needs. On 31 December 2019, we had over 200 of these depots serving our division in approximately 40 countries. The
depots, which generally consist of a staging area, storage space for our containers and an area in which maintenance can be carried
out, serve as a base from which we can deliver containers to a customer as well as a drop-off point for containers at the end of a
lease. These depots are located close to ports, and at larger ports, we may have more than one depot.

We have a fleet management software platform that allows our master lease customers to indicate when and where they will need
to pick up a container for lease.

This system allows us to ensure that we are able to match our container fleet supply to demand at ports around the world. Upon the
return of a container, our system automatically routes the container to the depot at that port, where it is evaluated. We are also able
to effect repairs at our depots on returned containers to ensure that they are suitable for reuse. Any such repairs at the end of a
lease are done at the expense of the lessee.

[ Marketing

Our primary means of marketing our services is through our periodic participation in requests for tenders from shipping companies.
In general, shipping companies put out calls for tenders in the fourth quarter of every year to address their anticipated container
needs for the first half of the following year, and then again in May or June to fulfil their total requirements for the remainder of the
year. Shipping companies will specify the number and type of containers they will need, and where they will need them. Our decision
to tender is based on our existing stock levels and our ability to purchase containers (if needed) to meet the company’s requirements.

The process of tendering and negotiating contracts usually takes between 2 and 4 weeks. We negotiate terms such as price, payment
terms, the duration of the build-up period which is the period of time given to a customer to take delivery of its containers, the
duration of the build-down period which is the period of time given to a customer to return its containers, handling charges, the
replacement value of a lost container, the depreciation rate on the value of each container and the list of locations where the
customer can return its containers at the end of the lease.

[0l Our key customers

We lease to numerous shipping companies, including the 25 largest shipping companies in the world, many of which have a history
of leasing from us that dates back over 20 years. These customers include CMA-CGM, Evergreen, Hapag-Lloyd Container Line, Maersk,
Mediterranean Shipping Company, Hyundai Merchant Marine, ONE, Yang Ming and ZIM. In 2019, no single customer represented
more than 25% of the leasing revenues in the division.

4. Residual sales activity of modular buildings

Since the disposal in 2017 of the European and American leasing and sale activities of modular constructions, our only modular and
industrialised construction activity is established in Morocco. We believe that a number of fundamental factors make Africa a prime
geographic market for the sale of modular buildings for various end markets in the infrastructure, education, industrial, private and
public sectors. The significant need for infrastructure (ports, dams, roads, schools and hospitals, for example) feeds the demand for
industrialised modular buildings destined for use as they are or on construction sites. Modular buildings are typically used by
customers in the construction industry for on-site facilities, such as offices, lodgings or changing rooms. They are also used by the
industrial sector for offices and by the Education sector for classrooms or student accommodation. Modular and industrialised
technology also seems ideal for the African continent by allowing it to very quickly have equipment at lower costs than traditional
construction.

We manufacture and sell modular constructions, steel construction buildings and prefabricated elements to customers established
in different regions in Africa.

Modular construction units are typically 3 meters in width and 6 meters in length, with steel frames that are mounted on a steel
chassis. Modular buildings are structures composed of such units assembled in varying configurations to meet the needs of each
customer. A single modular unit can be used on a standalone basis, or combined with others to make larger, more complex structures.
Once assembled, modular buildings can be outfitted with materials used in conventional construction and can be equipped with
electricity, running water, heating and air conditioning. Modular buildings can be used for a variety of purposes, such as construction
site offices, classrooms, temporary and permanent office spaces, sales offices, sheds and temporary or emergency accommodation.
In addition, we produce tailor-made industrialised buildings according to our customers' plans. These industrialised buildings are
made from a metal structure sitting on a base of posts on flooring or a slab with load-bearing trusses to support the roofs. This
technology makes it possible to manufacture large assemblies at low costs and can also house the materials used in traditional
construction (interior and exterior cladding, for example).

We sell new prefabricated elements, according to the specifications of our customers.

We supply our customers in Africa from our plant in Morocco, and which has a production capacity of approximately 4,500 units per
year.

5.1.2. New product or service

Not applicable.
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5.2. KEY MARKETS

See paragraph 5.1.1.

5.3. EXCEPTIONAL EVENTS

Not applicable.

5.4. STRATEGY AND TARGETS

5.4.1. Operational strategy: Improvement in performance and profitability

5.4.1.1 Sustainable transportation leasing services: Organic and selective growth

Freight railcars

Organic growth with investments in Europe and Asia financed by Touax (maintenance investment) and third party investors
Increase in revenue thanks to an increase in utilization rates and leasing

Barges

Selective investment (investment in the renewal of owned assets)

Start of an increase in the Touax-managed fleet financed by its partners to bolster management fees alongside income from owned
assets

Containers

New investment (dry, refrigerated and special containers) with a higher share of owned assets to improve profitability and
sustainability

Increase in sales volumes (trading of new and used containers) in addition to recurrent leasing activities
5.4.1.2 Sustainable transportation leasing services: Improvement in margins
Ongoing improvement programme and simplified processes at Group level

New fleet management organisation in the freight railcars activity to improve quality and customer satisfaction and manage growth:
increase in revenue in 2019 thanks to an increase in utilisation rates and leasing

Optimisation of costs, maintain three flexible and progressive management platforms. Economies of scale achieved in 2019 with a
€1.3 million reduction in general and administrative expenses

5.4.1.3.Modular building in Africa: increase in the value of our stake

Strategy to improve volumes and margins. Focus on the education sector. Signature of major contracts (deliveries of schools, colleges
and student residences) in Morocco and Ivory Coast for more than €34 million)

Positive EBITDA target in 2020-2021, leading to an increase in the value of our 51% stake in Touax Africa

5.4.2. Asset management : Strategy and performance analysis

5.4.2.1 Investment through funds:

Touax is the exclusive operating partner of two sub-funds of a regulated Luxembourg alternative investment fund (Real Asset Income
Fund S.C.A. SICAV-SIF) managed by Quamvest (AIF manager and risk management agent). Société Générale Bank & Trust S.A. acts as
depositary, paying agent, central administrative agent and domiciliation and transfer agent, while Deloitte acts as auditor.

The Fund provides a European regulated fund structure with good legal protection, independent governance with delegated AIF
management, structured leverage, organised liquidity after three years and an independent valuation process.

“Touax Transportation Asset Income EUR Sub Fund I” was launched in July 2016, and has more than 50 investors (family offices and
institutional investors). In December 2019, it had holdings in two Irish SPVs with a portfolio of 3,453 freight railcars with a combined
market value above €150 million, representing no change in relation to 2018.

“Touax Transportation Asset Income USD Sub Fund I” was launched in 2018. In December 2019, it raised equity of $9 million from
nine investors and had holdings in an Irish SPV with a portfolio of 7,162 containers (Ceus).

5.4.2.2.Direct investments / managed accounts:

Touax works directly with infrastructure funds and institutional investors that invest directly in tangible assets managed by Touax
Group.

TOUAX | 53



2019 UNIVERSAL REGISTRATION DOCUMENT

Syndication of $28 million was established in 2019 in respect of containers and we have obtained commitments in principle for the
investment of $50 million in 2020. In freight railcars, syndication of €12 million was established, and purchasing commitments have
been signed for €45 million between now and 2022, of which €7 million anticipated in 2020.

5.4.3. Freight railcars: Medium-term outlook: growth in total managed assets: 15,000 railcars,
including 12,000 in Europe and 3,000 in Asia

5.4.3.1.Market :

Europe : Recovery of rail traffic in Europe since 2013, with average annual growth of 1.3%. Growth in the utilisation rates of existing
railcar fleets and increase in the manufacture of new railcars from 7,000 to 12,000 railcars per year to offset low investment in the
past. Growth in the market share of lessors from 20% in 2004 to 30% in 2019 (source UIP).

Asia : Need for innovative railcars to increase load capacity, optimise traffic and reduce congestion on routes. New infrastructure
projects favouring rail and container traffic: Development of the silk roads between China and Europe and new DFC (dedicated freight
corridor) in India.

5.4.3.2.Touax's ambitions :

Europe : Better use of the existing fleet (>90%) and growth in profitability. Increase in the managed railcar fleet through organic
growth in close collaboration with third party investors (infrastructure funds notably).

Asia : Maintain a utilisation rate of 100%. Increase the railcar fleet in line with growth in our client base and in rail traffic.
5.4.4. River barges: Medium-term outlook: Selective investment in the Seine, the Rhine and the

Mississippi

5.4.4.1.Market :

Europe : Market growth in France (transportation of aggregates for building works in Greater Paris) and on the Rhine (transportation
of grains and biomass). Greater awareness among European and government bodies around the ecological advantages of river
transport. Significant public and institutional investment to boost the sector.

A stable market in the United States (fall in coal transport partly offset by increases in grain transport).
Gradual improvement in the market in South America (increase in grain transport but transport of iron ore still at a low level).
5.4.4.2.Touax's ambitions:

Europe : Projects to invest in new barges on the Rhine and the Seine with a view to becoming the preferred operator of industrial
groups and obtaining support from governments to revive river transport in Europe (lease offering of large barges). Participation in
several innovative studies (Novimar (automatic barges on convoy), Multiregio (Canal Seine Nord), etc ... Touax becoming the
operational partner of major institutional investors and infrastructure funds looking to invest in the sector: third party investment
project (€120 million over four years).

Limited growth anticipated in the short term in South America and the United States: A project involving ten new barges on the
Mississippi currently under study.

5.4.5.Containers: Medium-term outlook: gradually increase the proportion of owned assets

5.4.5.1.Market:

Fleet of 40 (Review of Maritime Transport 2019) million dry TEU containers at end-2019 with the need to replace 5% per year ($4.5
billion); increase in the price of new containers given the limited production capacity in China (Corona virus and new 1-5-10 rule).

After 1.7% growth in containerized trade in 2019, a new forecast made in March 2020 (source external market study) and including
the impacts of the current health crisis anticipates a 5% drop in containerized world trade volumes

Downward revision of global GDP growth by the OECD to 2.4% (-0.5% versus forecast of November 2019) and by Moody’s to 2.1%
(versus 2.4%).

Increase in the market share of lessors from 40% to 52% over the last decade (Drewry Maritime Research: Container Insight Q4 2018).
The current uncertainties around growth are increasing the need for flexibility and the market share of lessors.

In an environment of weaker growth, the utilisation rate of the container fleet remains high worldwide (>96%), indicating that global
traffic levels have not contracted (taking all areas into account).

5.4.5.2.Touax's ambitions :

Since the sale of the modular building activity, strategic decision to gradually increase the ownership ratio of containers from 8% to
over 20% in 2022 (more in line with the average Group ratio): significant accretive effect on EBITDA. Sharp increase in earnings on a
like-for-like basis: +287% at end-December 2019.
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Growth in the trading activity for new and used containers, which significantly complements the leasing activity. The rise in price of
new containers is underpinning activity.

Development of leasing and sale of refrigerated containers.

Development of management for third parties.

5.5. DEPENDENCE ON PATENTS, LICENSES AND CONTRACTS

Not applicable.

5.6. COMPETITIVE POSITION
See paragraph 5.1.1 page 35.

5.7. INVESTMENTS

5.7.1.Significant investments made

The Group's activity is the leasing of transport equipment (freight railcars, river barges and shipping containers). The Group also has
the cross-functional activity of third-party asset management.

The Group’s growth policy is based on new equipment lease agreements with its customers, requiring new investments funded by
third-party investors as part of the Group’s management programs or by the Group using its own financing resources. In 2019, the
share of assets owned by the Group had slightly increased compared with 2018. The investment strategy for each division is described
in the paragraph "Procurement of the fleet" on page 40 for Freight Railcars, page 44 for River Barges and page 47 for Shipping
Containers.

The Group is keen to pursue growth by increasing the amount of new equipment on long-term lease agreements. In 2020, the Group
will continue to share new investments between its own account and third-party investors. The aim is to strengthen economies of
scale, and to return to a return on equity. The return on equity corresponds to the ratio of net profit/shareholders' equity This is the
concept usually calculated by financial analysts. These investments include Group-owned and third-party assets. To achieve these
objectives, the Group balances out the ratio between managed and proprietary assets using a distribution rule that varies according
to the business. On 31 December 2019, the breakdown of managed assets stood at 38% owned equipment and 62% equipment
belonging to a third-party. The assets held by fully consolidated subsidiaries are wholly included in the Group's assets, even if the
Group has invested in partnership with minority stockholders.

The Group's strategy of investing mainly in new long-term contracts helps limit the risks of re-letting and the sensitivity of the
equipment's residual value. This strategy also facilitates the Group’s ability to find third-party investors and to finance itself in order
to continue its development.

The Group's investment policy is to finance property assets in compliance with an LTV (loan to value) of 70% maximum. This ratio is
calculated by comparing the total assets (excluding intangible assets and goodwill) with gross debt. Debt is made up of recourse debt
and "non recourse" debt whose reimbursement is only guaranteed with rental income or the proceeds from selling the financed
assets. Non-recourse financing is not guaranteed by the TOUAX SCA parent company. This type of financing supports the Group’s
growth, while reducing risks for shareholders. The policy adopted by the Group is to maintain a debt-to-equity ratio (including non-
recourse debt) of 2.5 to 1. This policy enables the Group to pre-finance assets to be sold to investors. Selling assets to investors is
part of the Group’s strategy and it finances growth with limited recourse to debt. The Group’s growth generates economies of scale
and increases margins.

The Group has access to all types of financing, short, medium and long-term loans, loans without recourse, operational leasing,
leasing, factoring and assignment of receivables.

Lease agreements are classified as financial lease agreements when the Group benefits from the advantages and risks inherent in
ownership. For example, clauses for the automatic transfer of ownership, options to buy at a value far below the estimated market
value, equivalence between the lease term and the life of the asset or between the discounted value of future lease payments and
the value of the asset are features that generally lead to lease agreements being classified as finance contracts.

Since 2017 and until the arrival of the Covid-19 health crisis, European economic conditions for the Freight Railcar activity were
favourable and we have seen increases in leasing prices and/or utilisation rates. However, investors continued to show an interest in
assets managed by the Group, which has made it possible to sign new management schemes for railcars and containers.

5.7.2. Significant investments in progress or firm investment commitments

On 31 January 2020, orders and investments in productive assets from third parties paid since the beginning of the year 2020
amounted to approximately €4.9 million. Orders and investments have been financed by cash and available credit lines.

At 31 December 2019, orders and firm investments in operational assets from third parties amounted to 82.7 million euros, including
2.4 million euros in freight railcars and 80.3 million euros in barges.
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Firm investment commitments will be pre-financed via available credit lines. These investments will be sold, in part, to third-party
investors as part of syndications mainly carried out within the Freight Railcar division.

5.7.3. Companies in which the issuer holds a share of capital likely to have a significant impact on
its financial situation

Not applicable.

5.7.4. Environmental issues that may influence the use of tangible capital assets

Environmental issues that could influence the use of our tangible fixed assets are set out in section 3 "Risk factors" page 32 and in
the environmental information of the Report on social, environmental and societal responsibility of this universal registration
document page 181.
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6. ORGANIZATIONAL STRUCTURE

&.1. SIMPLIFIED GROUP ORGANISATIONAL CHART

TOUAX SCA
TOUAX
e TOUAX UKOLIMITED
. 100%
| | | |
TOUAX CONTAINER TOUAX RIVER TOUAX RAIL
SERVICES SAS BARGES SAS TOUAX AF?'CA SAS LIMITED
100% 100% 51% 100%

&.2. LIST OF MAJOR SUBSIDIARIES

A list of all the Group's consolidated subsidiaries is presented on note 2.2 page 93 of the notes to the consolidated financial
statements. The subsidiaries of TOUAX SCA are described in the table of subsidiaries and shareholdings on note 26.6 page 135 of the
notes to the company financial statements.

The Group's two major subsidiaries in terms of revenue are TOUAX Container Leasing Pte Ltd, a Singaporean company and TOUAX
Rail Ltd, an Irish company.

TOUAX Container Leasing Pte Ltd is a shipping container leasing business serving almost all of our customers throughout the world
and it manages the TOUAX container fleet. Its business is significant in view of the large amount of equipment for leasing. TOUAX
Rail Limited has a freight railcar leasing and sales business in Europe and it manages TOUAX's European freight railcar fleet.

The organization chart below is a simplified organization chart of the main operational companies of the Group classified by business
activity. The percentages shown are rounded and correspond to the percentage of capital control, direct or indirect, of these entities
by TOUAX SCA, parent company.

— TOUAX Leasing Corp. USA 100% Leasingand sale ofriver barges
—— TOUAX Hydrovia Corp. Panama 100% Leasingand sale of river barges
—— Eurobulk Transport Maatschappij BV Netherlands 100% Leasing/chartering of river barges
I—CS de Jonge BV Netherlands 100% Leasing/chartering of river barges
Container business
____ TOUAX Container Services SAS France 100% Leasing and sale of containers
| TOUAX Container Leasing Pte Ltd Singapore 100% Leasing of containers
| — TOUAX Container Investment Ltd Hong Kong 100% Sale of containers
| TOUAX Corp. USA 100% Leasingand sale of containers
I—Gold Container Corp. USA 100% Leasingand sale of containers
Modular building business
——TOUAX Africa SAS France 51% Service company
——TOUAX Maroc SARL Morocco 100% Sale of modular buildings
— RAMCO SARL Morocco 100% Leasing of modular buildings

The shares held in the capital of the company TOUAX INDUSTRIE MODULAIRE ALGERIE SPA (subsidiary of Touax Africa SAS) were sold
on 20 and 28 May 2019.
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/. ANALYSIS OF THE FINANCIAL POSITION AND
INCOME

7.1. FINANCIAL POSITION

7.1.1.Evolution and income from activities

The review of the Group and the company's financial position is presented in the management report paragraph 22.1 page 151.

7.1.2.Future evolution of activities and R&D

The review of the Group and the company's future evolution is presented in the management report paragraph 22.1 pagel51.

There are no R&D activities.

7.2. OPERATING RESULTS

The review of the Group and the company's financial position is presented in the management report paragraph 22.1 page 151.

7.2.1. Important or unusual factors and new developments

Not applicable

7.2.2.Major changes

Not applicable
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8. CASH AND CAPITAL

8.1. GROUP CAPITAL

The Group's financial resources and cash flow are detailed in the notes to the consolidated financial statements note 25 page 108
and in the note 34.3 on liquidity risks page 116 and note 34.4 interest rate risks page 117.

8.2. CASH FLOW

The Group’s cash flow is described and explained in the cash flow statement in the consolidated financial statements in paragraph
18.1 pages 72 et seq.

8.3. BORROWING CONDITIONS AND FINANCING STRUCTURE

The Group uses a wide range of instruments to meet its financing requirements:

spot (364 days) and overdraft lines are used for one-time financing of working capital requirements;

- bond loans used for general purposes and the Group's medium-term business;

- medium long-term loans and lines for financing assets with recourse (leasing, financial leasing, etc.) are used for financing assets
kept by the Group;

- non-recourse credit lines are sometimes used for pre-financing assets (shipping containers and freight railcars) as well as the
long-term financing of assets that the Group wishes to keep on its Balance Sheet.

The note 25 of the notes to the consolidated financial statements page 108 gives further details about borrowing conditions and the
financing structure.

8.4. RESTRICTION ON THE USE OF CAPITAL THAT HAS HAD OR COULD HAVE A SIGNIFICANT
DIRECT OR INDIRECT EFFECT ON THE ISSUER'S OPERATIONS

To the best of our knowledge, there are no restrictions on the cash flow of subsidiaries wholly-owned by the Group to the parent
company, nor any restrictions on the use of this cash, with the exception of finance companies and subject to the compliance with
certain financial ratios presented in the note 25 of the notes to the consolidated financial statements page 108.

The balances of cash and cash equivalents shown on the Group's balance sheet on 31 December 2019 include €16.2 million in cash
that is not available for the Group's daily cash management. This balance corresponds for an amount of (i) €3.3 million to contractual
reserves on asset financing companies, and for (ii) €12.6 million to the Cash-flow of companies not 100% owned.

8.5. EXPECTED SOURCES OF FINANCING IN ORDER TO MEET INVESTMENT COMMITMENTS

The financing sources are detailed in firm investment commitments paragraph 5.7.2 page 55.
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9. REGULATORY ENVIRONMENT

Where applicable, the regulatory environment in which we operate and which may have a significant influence on our activities,
measures or factors of an administrative, economic, budgetary, monetary or political nature that have had a significant impact or
that may have a significant impact, directly or indirect, on our activities, are described in the section 3.4 “Risk Factors” of this universal

registration document.
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10. TREND INFORMATION

10.1. KEY TRENDS AS OF THE DATE OF THE UNIVERSAL REGISTRATION DOCUMENT

The main trends are detailed in the management report paragraph 22.1 page 151 and in the presentation of the Group's outlooks
presented at the SFAF meeting of 25 March 2020 detailed in paragraph 24.4 page 222.

10.2. KNOWN TRENDS, UNCERTAINTIES, REQUESTS, ANY COMMITMENTS OR EVENTS LIKELY
TO SIGNIFICANTLY AFFECT THE CURRENT FINANCIAL YEAR

Global growth has weakened. The latest estimates (IMF, World Bank, or OECD) date from January 2020 before the crisis caused by
the COVID-19 virus. Since that date, the epidemic has turned into a pandemic and no part of the world has been spared. The main
centres to date are the Middle East, Europe and the United States. Mostly, exceptional health measures are taken or recommended
to avoid rapid spread with significant economic impacts: closing of borders, confinement, closing of all shops except for everyday
necessities or health, closing of all places of leisure, in particular. The main sectors affected are, in descending order, tourism and
leisure, aviation, cars, construction, everyday consumer goods and electronic goods, health. It is not possible to predict the duration
of the crisis and its effects although the basic scenario is, thanks to a strong health response, a gradual recovery from the middle of
the second quarter of 2020. The restrictions imposed are beginning to ease at the epicentre of the China crisis in Wuhan, after more
than 70 days of confinement.

The health crisis is disrupting supply chains, weakening supply and demand with factories idling or shutdown and thus impacting
trading volumes of goods. It is estimated that over the first two months of the year, volumes were down 10% compared to the
previous year.

The Group's transport activities benefit from the leasing strategy on long-term contracts. This means that on the date this document
was produced, there was no drop in the group's revenues, nor any significant impact from the health crisis. It is possible that these
impacts will be seen in the more or less short term future depending on the intensity of the crisis and its duration. It is also possible
that part of these impacts will be offset by storage needs or the transfer of road transport to river or rail transport.

A presentation of the forecasts for the Group given at the Financial Analyst Meeting on 25 March 2020 is detailed in paragraph 24.4
page 222.
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11. PROFIT FORECASTS OR ESTIMATES

11.1. FORECAST OR ESTIMATED PROFIT PUBLISHED

Not applicable

11.2. MAIN ASSUMPTIONS

Not applicable

11.3. BASIS FOR FORECAST

Non Applicable
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12. ADMINISTRATIVE, MANAGEMENT AND
SUPERVISORY BODIES AND GENERAL
MANAGEMENT

12.1. CONTACT DETAILS FOR ADMINISTRATIVE, MANAGEMENT AND SUPERVISORY BODIES
AND GENERAL MANAGEMENT

The administrative, management and supervisory bodies are presented in the Report of the Supervisory Board in paragraph 23.2.4
page 197.

12.2. CONFLICTS OF INTEREST BETWEEN THE ADMINISTRATIVE, MANAGEMENT AND
SUPERVISORY BODIES AND GENERAL MANAGEMENT

Conflicts of interest are presented in the Report of the Supervisory Board in paragraph 23 page 194.
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13. REMUNERATION AND BENEFITS

13.1. REMUNERATION OF CORPORATE OFFICERS

13.1.1. Remuneration of the executive directors

[l  Terms for determining remuneration
The remuneration of the Managing Partners is specified in article 11.5 of the articles of association, which stipulates:
"Each Managing Partner’s annual remuneration with the scope of the general social security scheme is determined as follows:

A fixed portion amounting to €129,354, together with benefits in kind up to a limit of 15% of the fixed salary, it being specified that
this amount does not include the directors' attendance fees, payments or repayments of expenses received by the Managing Partners
in respect of corporate mandates or duties performed in any of the company's subsidiaries, up to a limit of €80,000 per Managing
Partner;

A gross amount of €850 per day during business trips outside France, as a family separation allowance;

The General Partners may only adjust these amounts within the limit of the cumulative change in the annual inflation rate published
by the French national institute of statistics and economic studies (INSEE).

A variable portion not exceeding 0.50% of the TOUAX Group’s consolidated EBITDA, after deducting the leasing income due to
investors. For the purposes of this calculation, it is specified that the EBITDA is the consolidated gross operating surplus after deducting
the net operating provisions. »

The compensation of the Managing Partners is revised annually in accordance with the provisions of the Articles of Association.

Any changes to their remuneration require the approval of the General Meeting of Shareholders and the express, written and
unanimous agreement of the General Partners. »

The most recent change agreed at the General Meeting of 18 June 2008, was for the reduction of the variable portion of the Managing
Partners' remuneration to 0.5 % of the Group’s consolidated EBITDA less the leasing revenues owed to investors, instead of the
previous 1% rate.

The terms of the remuneration of the Managing Partners are specified in the report of the Supervisory Board in paragraph 23.2.5
page 209.

[0l Global remuneration

Table summarising the remuneration, options and shares attributed to each director

(in thousands of euros)

Raphaél WALEWSKI - Managing Partner

Remuneration due for the financial year 578,3 521
Valuation of options granted during the financial year

Valuation of performance-related shares granted during the financial year

TOTAL 578,3 521
Fabrice WALEWSKI - Managing Partner
Remuneration due for the financial year 601 544,2

Valuation of options granted during the financial year

Valuation of performance-related shares granted during the financial year
TOTAL 601 544,2
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Table summarising the remuneration attributed to each director
(in thousands of euros)

2019 2018
Raphaél WALEWSKI
Managing Partner Amounts due Amounts paid Amounts due Amounts paid
Fixed remuneration 156,8 156,8 153,5 153,5
Attendance fees and expense reimbursements 97,0 97,0 94,9 94,9
Annual variable remuneration 184,5 106,0 128,5 122,9
Travel allowance 116,5 116,5 121,1 121,1
Benefits of any kind 23,5 23,5 23 23
TOTAL 578,3 499,8 521,0 515,4
2019 2018
Fabrice WALEWSKI
Managing Partner Amounts due Amounts paid Amounts due Amounts paid
Fixed remuneration 156,8 156,8 153,5 153,5
Attendance fees and expense reimbursements 97 97 94,9 94,9
Annual variable remuneration 184,5 140,3 128,5 128,7
Travel allowance 139,2 139,2 144,3 144,3
Benefits of any kind 23,5 23,5 23 23
TOTAL 601 556,8 544,2 544,4

TOUAX provides the Managing Partners with the necessary equipment to perform their duties (car, mobile phone, computer, etc.).

[l Stock purchase or subscription options granted

No stock options were attributed to the executive directors

[0l Free or performance-related shares
No performance-related shares or free shares were attributed to executive directors during the financial year or in a previous financial
year.

[l Equity warrants

No equity warrants (free of charge) under Articles L.225-197-1 et seq. of the French Commercial Code were attributed to the
corporate officers during the financial year.

More generally, no equity securities, debt securities or securities giving access to capital or entitlement to the allocation of debt
securities were allocated to the corporate officers of the company or of the companies mentioned in Articles L.228-13 and L.228-93
of the French Commercial Code during the 2019 financial year. The Managing Partners are not stockholders of TOUAX SCA.

13.1.2. Remuneration of members of the supervisory board

(in thousands of euros)

Name Position Nature ofthe remuneration 2019 2018
Jérome Bethbeze SBmember attendance fees 11,2 11,5
Frangois Soulet de Brugiére SB member attendance fees 8,9 8,6
Marie Filippi SB member attendance fees 7,7 8,6
Sylvie Perrin SB member attendance fees 9,7 8,6
Julie de GERMAY SB member attendance fees 7,7 8,6
president ofthe attendance fees 17,8 17,1
Alexandre WALEWSKI SB
TOTAL ATTENDANCE FEES 63,0 63,0

(S thousands)

president of the
Alexandre WALEWSKI SB
TOTAL OTHER REMUNERATION 192,7 192,7

other remuneration 192,7 192,7

Rules for distributing attendance fees are specified in the Report of the Supervisory Board page 209.

The members of the Supervisory Board do not receive any remuneration other than the attendance fees, apart from the fixed
allowance that Alexandre WALEWSKI receives to cover expenses incurred in the course of his duties as Chair of the Supervisory Board.
This allowance amounts to $48,175 per quarter in 2019, as it did in 2018.

No equity securities, debt securities or securities giving access to capital or entitlement to allocation of debt securities were allocated
to the members of the Supervisory Board of the company or of the companies mentioned in Articles L.228-13 and L.228-93 of the
French Commercial Code during the 2019 financial year.
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1.3.2. PENSION AND OTHER BENEFITS

The General Partners benefit from the same pension scheme as the other managers of the Group. The Group has no "umbrella"
pension scheme. They do not have supplementary pension plans.

The Directors shall not be entitled to any remuneration, indemnities or benefits due or likely to be due as a result of the taking,

terminating or changing their position or subsequent thereto. The managers are also not entitled to any indemnities relating to a
non-competition clause.

The Managing Partners have no labour contract with TOUAX SCA.
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14. OPERATION OF THE ADMINISTRATIVE AND
MANAGEMENT BODIES

14.1. DURATION OF OFFICE

The operation of the administrative and management bodies is presented in the Supervisory Board report paragraph 23.2 page 195.

14.2. REGULATED AGREEMENTS

Regulated agreements are listed in the management report section 2.2 page 167 and included in the auditors’ report page 142.
Information on related parties appears in the note 35 page 119.

14.3. INFORMATION ON THE VARIOUS COMMITTEES

The report by the Supervisory Board sets out the functioning and organisation of the audit committee in paragraph (iv) page 200.

14.4. STATEMENT OF CONFORMITY WITH THE CORPORATE GOVERNANCE SCHEME

The statement of conformity with the company's governance system is presented in the Supervisory Board report paragraph 23.2.3
page 197, with the Group referring to the Middlenext Code.

14.5. SIGNIFICANT IMPACTS ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The operation of the administrative and management bodies is presented in the Supervisory Board report paragraph 23.2.4 page
197.
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15. EMPLOYEES

15.1. BREAKDOWN OF THE WORKFORCE

The breakdown in employees by geographic location and business segment as of 31 December 2018 is as follows:

Modular

Freightrailcars  River barges Containers L Central services
buildings

2019| 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
Europe 61 59 9 9 20 22 1 24 23 114 114
Asia 11 12 11 12
Africa 103 126 103 126
N & S America 6 7 3 3 9 10
TOTAL 61 59 9 9 37 41 103 127 27 26 237 262

The section 22.2 page 175 details the Group's social information.

15.2. PROFIT-SHARING AND STOCK OPTIONS

The main profit sharing for the managing partners, general partners, and directors are detailed in chapter 16.1 page 69 of the
universal registration document with the profit sharing of Alexandre Walewski (Chairman of the Supervisory Board), Fabrice Walewski
(Managing Partner), Raphaél Walewski (Managing Partner), SHGP (general partner), and SHGL (general partner).

The company has not issued any stock options.

15.3. EMPLOYEE PARTICIPATION IN THE CAPITAL

An employee profit-sharing agreement has been put in place for all French entities, which does not give entitlement to shares in the
capital. There was no shareholding in 2019.

TOUAX SCA does not have any profit-sharing agreements or employee shareholding plans.
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16. MAIN SHAREHOLDERS

14.1. BREAKDOWN IN CAPITAL AND VOTING RIGHTS

There are no categories of shares or securities which do not represent capital. There is no treasury stock (TOUAX SCA shares held by
its subsidiaries). The amount of TOUAX SCA shares held by TOUAX SCA is insignificant (0,13% at 31 December 2019).

[l Distribution of share capital and voting rights on 31 December 2019

fwhich
Number of % of voting orwhic .
. . . double voting
. voting rights rights that X
No. of shares % of capital rights that
that can be can be
. . can be
exercised exercised X
exercised
Alexandre WALEWSKI 814 854 11,62% 815117 10,06% 263
SHGL 656 586 9,36% 1203 246 14,84% 546 660
SHGP 731331 10,43% 1276957 15,75% 545626
Total Majority Group 2202771 31,42% 3295320 40,65% 1092549
City Financial Absolute Equity Fund (OEIC)* 374220 5,34% 374220 4,62%
Public -registered securities 28916 0,41% 39913 0,49% 10997
Public -bearer securities 4396 435 62,70% 4396 435 54,24%
Treasury shares 9205 0,13% 0 0,00%
TOTAL 7 011547 100,00% 8 105 888 100,00% 1103 546

*To the knowledge of TOUAX

TOUAX SCA is controlled by the WALEWSKI Family. SHGL and SHGP are the two General Partners of TOUAX SCA and are respectively
wholly owned by Raphaél and Fabrice WALEWSKI. The Managing Partners are not stockholders of TOUAX SCA.

It should be noted that Alexandre, Fabrice and Raphaél WALEWSKI, the SHGL and the SHGP act in concert and jointly own 31.42% of
TOUAX SCA, representing 40.65 % of the voting rights on 31 December 2019.

TOUAX SCA does not have an employee shareholding scheme.
The different types of voting rights are described in paragraph 16.2 below.
Breakdown of shares

As of 31 December 2019, 31.83% of the shares issued by TOUAX SCA were registered, and the remainder were bearer shares. 98.7%
of registered shares are held by persons residing outside France.

Number of shareholders

The company does not regularly ask for reports on identifiable bearer shares and therefore does not know the exact number of
shareholders. On 31 December 2019, there were 52 registered shareholders. The attendance sheet for the last Combined General
Meeting of June 24, 2019, certified as accurate by the members of the bureau, shows that the shareholders present (including the
general partners), represented or having voted by correspondence, together represent 3,608,941 shares and 4,706,089 voting rights,
or 51.56% of the shares having voting rights.

[0l Declarations and information to the AMF

In accordance with the Banking and Financial Regulation Act of 22 October 2010, the threshold for the obligation to file a draft
takeover bid was lowered on 1 February 2011 from one third to 30% of the share capital and voting rights. A so-called grandfather
clause applies for an unlimited period to shareholders who held between 30% and one third of the capital and voting rights on 1
January 2010: the previous threshold (33.33%) for a compulsory takeover bid will apply to these shareholders, provided that their
interest remains between these two thresholds (Article 234-11 paragraph 1 of the General Regulation of the AMF).

The WALEWSKI family alliance, comprising Alexandre WALEWSKI, SHGL and SHGP, which held an interest of between 30% and 33.33%
on 1 January 2010 (31.13% of the share capital representing 35.75% of the voting rights on this date) is affected by the provisions of
Article 234-11 paragraph 1 of the General Regulation for its share capital holding and to this end made a shareholding declaration to
the AMF published on 18 July 2011 in Notice No. 211C1275.

In other words, if the alliance exceeds the threshold of one third of the capital, it will be obliged to file a compulsory draft takeover
bid.

To the knowledge of TOUAX, all of the shareholders who hold more than 5% of the share capital or voting rights are mentioned in
the table above.
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[0l Changes in the shareholding

Shareholders 31/12/2019 31/12/2018 31/12/2017
Capital Votingrights Capital Votingrights Capital Votingrights
%* %* %* %* %* %*

Alexandre WALEWSKI 11,62% 10,06% 11,62% 10,13% 11,62% 10,22%
Société Holding de Gesti td

ociete Holding de Lestion et de 9,36% 14,84% 9,36% 14,47% 9,36% 14,08%
Location

Société Holding de Gesti td

octete Holding de bestion et de 10,43% 15,75% 10,43% 15,56% 10,65% 15,39%
Participation

Total WALEWSKI concert 31,41% 40,65% 31,42% 40,16% 31,64% 39,69%
Treasury shares 0,13% 0,00% 0,19% 0,00% 0,10% 0,00%
Qaero - Argos 5,31% 4,67%
City Financial Absolute Equity Fund 5,34% 4,62% 5,34% 4,65%

(OEIC)

Public (nominative and bearer) 63,12% 54,73% 63,05% 55,18% 62,95% 55,64%
TOTAL 100,00% 100,00% 100,00% 100,00% 100,00% 100,00%

* to the knowledge of TOUAX

16.2. VARIOUS VOTING RIGHTS

[0l  Double voting rights

Double voting rights are granted for registered shares held at least five years by the same stockholder. Furthermore, free shares
allocated on the basis of old shares with double voting rights also feature double voting rights. This clause is stipulated in the
company’s Articles of Association.

[l Limitation of voting rights

The company’s shares do not have any limitation of voting rights, except where stipulated by law.

16.3. DESCRIPTION OF THE TYPE OF CONTROL

The TOUAX Group is a partnership limited by shares under French law which by nature is controlled by the general partners. It has
two general partners: SHGP and SHGL. These two companies belong to Fabrice and Raphaé&l WALEWSKI respectively.

Furthermore, Alexandre WALEWSKI, SHGP and SHGL acted in concert in 2019. This alliance is a de facto alliance that was established
in 2005 during the conversion into a partnership limited by shares under French law. In total, on 31 December 2019 this concert held

31.41% of the shares and 40.65% of the voting rights.

A change of control requires, therefore, a change in the composition of both general partners and limited partners.

The Supervisory Board provides ongoing supervision of the management of Managers but cannot intervene in the management of
the company.

The Group is committed to respecting the governance rules recommended by the Middlenext Code and even goes further with a
majority of independent members on the Supervisory Board.

The general partners cannot participate in the vote regarding the appointment of members of the Supervisory Board at an annual
general meeting.

Finally, the Supervisory Board produces a report on the conduct of company affairs and on the financial statements at the Annual
General Meeting.

16.4. AGREEMENT THAT MAY RESULT IN A CHANGE OF CONTROL

There is no shareholder pact type agreement providing preferential conditions for the sale or purchase of shares likely to be
transmitted to the French Financial Markets Authority (Autorité des Marchés Financiers AMF).
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1/. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Group has not entered into any significant transactions with related parties other than those described in the Notes to the
consolidated financial statements 18.1 note 35 page 119 (see the auditors' report on regulated agreements, paragraph 18.3.3 page
142).
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18. FINANCIAL INFORMATION CONCERNING THE
ISSUER'S  ASSETS, FINANCIAL POSITION AND
INCOME

18.1. HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION

18.1.1.Consolidated financial statements

The consolidated financial statements of TOUAX SCA are presented in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRS).

Consolidated income statement, presented by function at 31 December

note n® (in thousands of euros)
Leasing revenues on owned equipment 50211 45 145
Leasing revenues on managed equipment 62 823 72 167
Ancillary services 21811 17 228
Total leasing activity 134 845 134 540
Sales of owned equipment 27 348 17 220
Margin on sales of managed equipment 4 894 1529
Total sales of equipment activity 32 242 18 749
REVENUES 167 087 153 289
Fees on syndication 1467 997
Capital gains or losses on disposals unrelated to recurring activities 455 255
4 Revenue from activities 169 009 154 541
Cost of sales of equipment (22 644) (13 644)
Operating expenses (33 873) (33 955)
General and administrative expenses (22 202) (23 842)
GROSS OPERATING MARGIN (EBITDAR) 90 290 83 100
9 Net distributions to investors (53 392) (57 403)
EBITDA 36 898 25 697
10 Depreciation and impairments (21 763) (17 741)
CURRENT OPERATING INCOME 15 135 7 956
11 Other operating income and expenses 156
OPERATING INCOME 15135 8112
Income in cash and cash equivalent 38 20
Gross cost of financial debt (11 884) (10 081)
Net cost of financial debt (11 846) (10 061)
Other financial income and expenses (2 603) (182)
12 NET FINANCIAL EXPENSE (14 449) (10 243)
Profit (loss) of investments in associates
CURRENT INCOME BEFORE TAXES 686 (2 131)
13 Income tax benefit (expense) (1.485) (475)
Net income from retained activities (799) (2 606)
14 Net income from discontinued activities (741) (955)
GLOBAL CONSOLIDATED NET INCOME (1 540) (3561)
Including portion attributable to:
- Non-controlling interest (minority interests) in retained activities 1158 597
- Non-controlling interest (minority interests) in discontinued activities
GROUP SHARE OF NET INCOME (2 698) (4 158)
Of which netincome from retained activities (1957) (3 203)
Of which netincome from discontinued activities (741) (955)
15 Net income per share (Euro) (0,39) (0,59)
15 Diluted net earnings per share (Euro) (0,39) (0,59)

(*) On the 1st of January 2019, IFRS 16 "Leasing contract" has been applied according to the simplified retrospective method.
As a consequence, the 2018 financial statements have not been restated, except for the separate presentation of the ancillary
services (see note 1.1).
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Consolidated income statement, presented by type at 31 December

note n°® (in thousands of euros)
REVENUES 167 087 153 289
Fees on syndication 1467 997
Capital gains or losses on disposals unrelated to recurring activities 455 255
4 Revenue from activities 169 009 154 541
5 Purchases and other external expenses (63 032) (55 168)
6 Staff Costs (15 826) (15931)
7 Other operating income and expenses (1878) (6 391)
GROSS OPERATING PROFIT 88 273 77 051
8 Operating provisions 2017 6 049
GROSS OPERATING MARGIN (EBITDAR) 90 290 83 100
9 Net distributions to investors (53 392) (57 403)
EBITDA 36 898 25 697
10 Depreciation and impairments (21 763) (17 741)
CURRENT OPERATING INCOME 15135 7 956
11  Other operating income and expenses 156
OPERATING INCOME 15135 8112
Income in cash and cash equivalent 38 20
Gross cost of financial debt (11 884) (10 081)
Net cost of financial debt (11 846) (10 061)
Other financial income and expenses (2 603) (182)
12 NET FINANCIAL EXPENSE (14 449) (10 243)
Profit (loss) of investments in associates
CURRENT INCOME BEFORE TAXES 686 (2131)
13 Income tax benefit (expense) (1 485) (475)
Net income from retained activities (799) (2 606)
14  Netincome from discontinued activities (741) (955)
GLOBAL CONSOLIDATED NET INCOME (1 540) (3561)
Including portion attributable to:
- Non-controlling interest (minority interests) in retained activities 1158 597
- Non-controlling interest (minority interests) in discontinued activities
GROUP SHARE OF NET INCOME (2 698) (4 158)
Of which netincome from retained activities (1957) (3 203)
Of which netincome from discontinued activities (741) (955)
15 Net income per share (Euro) (0,39) (0,59)
15 Diluted net earnings per share (Euro) (0,39) (0,59)

(*) On the 1st of January 2019, IFRS 16 "Leasing contract" has been applied according to the simplified retrospective method.
As a consequence, the 2018 financial statements have not been restated, except for the separate presentation of the ancillary
services (see note 1.1).
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Statement of comprehensive income for the period

(in thousands of euros)

Profit (loss) for the financial year (1 540) (3561)

Other items of the comprehensive income, net of taxes

Differences on conversion 350 987
Differences on conversion on netinvestmentin subsidiaries 434 551
Gains and losses made on cash-flow hedging instruments (effective portion) (247) (265)
Tax on comprehensive income items 30 39
Other items of the comprehensive income that may be subsequently reclassified as net income 567 1312
ORNANE fair value change attributable to credit risk (application of IFRS 9) 390 (390)
Other items of the comprehensive income that cannot be subsequently reclassified as net income 390 (390)
Total Other items of comprehensive income, net of taxes 957 922
of which non-controlling interests (minority interests) (45) (130)
of which Owners of the Group’s parent company 1002 1052
957 922
Net income for the year

of which non-controlling interests (minority interests) 1158 597
of which Owners of the Group’s parent company (2 698) (4 158)
(1 540) (3 561)

Global income for the year
of which non-controlling interests (minority interests) 1113 467
of which Owners of the Group’s parent company (1 696) (3 106)
GLOBAL PROFIT/LOSS (583) (2 639)
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Consolidated balance sheet on 31 December

note n° (in thousands of euros) 2019* 2018
ASSETS
16 Goodwill 5101 5101
17  Intangible assets 714 749
18 Tangibleassets 296 856 288172
19  Rightofuse 16 140
20 Long-term financial assets 5250 11 142
20  Other non-current financial assets 1104 2352
13  Deferred tax assets 95
TOTAL non-current assets 325165 307 611
21 Inventories and Work in Progress 43 666 67 184
22 Tradereceivables 28474 29108
23 Other current financial assets 10 264 6 255
24  Cash and cash equivalents 39 277 29 246
TOTAL current assets 121 681 131793
TOTAL ASSETS 446 846 439 404
LIABILITIES
Share capital 56 092 56 092
Hybrid capital 50161 50 161
Reserves (5791) 2962
Income for the period, Group’s share (2 698) (4 158)
Shareholders' equity attributable to owners of the Group's parent company 97 764 105 057
Non controlling interests (Minority interests) 25321 24 057
27  Shareholders’ equity 123 085 129114
25  Loans and Financial liabilities 115009 168 972
26  Llong-termlease liabilities 11097
13 Deferred tax liabilities 2616 2114
29  Pensionand similar liabilities 439 353
30 Other long-term liabilities 543
TOTAL non-current liabilities 129 161 171982
28  Provisions 95 504
26  Short-term lease liabilities 1895
25  Borrowings and current bank facilities 123 585 56 544
31 Tradepayables 16 099 14 084
32  Other currentliabilities 52 926 67 176
TOTAL current liabilities 194 600 138 308
TOTAL LIABILITIES 446 846 439 404

(*) On the 1st of January 2019, IFRS 16 "Leasing contract" has been applied according to the simplified retrospective method. As a consequence,
the 2018 financial statements have not been restated, except for the separate presentation of the ancillary services (see note 1.1).
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Change in consolidated shareholders' equity

Shareholders'

. Non
Overall equity

. ) ) ) controlling TOTAL
Share  Premiums Consolidated Conversion Cashflow . attributable to . ,
ital (2) 2) ) income for ¢ interests Shareholders
capita reserves reserves edge Sealed owners 0 Timeshy sl

arent .
P interests)
company

(in thousands of euros)

Situation on 1 January 2018 56 092 7195 58 487 9020 (58) (18 040) 112 696 23997 136 693
Other items of the comprehensive income that

may be subsequently reclassified as net 1715 (273) 1442 (130) 1312
income

Other elements of the comprehensive income

that cannot be subsequently reclassified as (390) (390) (390)
netincome

Profit/loss for the period (4 158) (4 158) 597 (3561)
TOTAL accounted expenses and income 1715 (663) (4 158) (3 106) 467 (2 639)
Capital increases 432 432
Repayment of shareholders' equity (539) (539)
Statutory remuneration of general partners (269) (269) (269)
Appropriation of overall 2017 netincome (18 040) 18 040

Dividends (300) (300)
Hybrid Capital Coupon (4 039) (4 039) (4039)
Change in the scope of consolidation

Other (36) (36) (36)
Pension liability (147) (147) (147)
Treasury shares (42) (42) (42)
on 31 December 2018 56 092 6926 36 183 10735 (721) (4 158) 105 057 24 057 129114
Situation on 1 January 2019 56 092 6926 36183 10 735 (721) (4 158) 105 057 24057 129114
Other items of the comprehensive income that

may be subsequently reclassified as net 821 (209) 612 (45) 567
income

Other elements of the comprehensive income

that cannot be subsequently reclassified as 390 390 390
netincome

Profit/loss for the period (2698) (2 698) 1158 (1540)
TOTAL accounted expenses and income 821 181 (2 698) (1696) 1113 (583)
Capital increases 382 382
Repayment of shareholders' equity 0
Statutory remuneration of general partners (257) (257) (257)
Appropriation of overall 2018 netincome (4 158) 4158

Dividends (310) (310)
Capital Hybride Issuance

Hybrid Capital Coupon (5230) (5 230) (5230)
Change in the scope of consolidation 73 73
Other (73) (73) (73)
Pension liability (52) (52) 6 (46)
Treasury shares 15 15 15
on 31 December 2019 56 092 6 669 26 685 11 556 (540) (2 698) 97 764 25321 123 085

(1) The effective part of the cash flow hedge on interest rate instruments is recognised in shareholders’ equity
(2) Including redeemable warrants and stock options
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Consolidated cash flow statement on 31 December

(in thousands of euros)

Net income from retained activities (799) (2 606)
Net income from discontinued operations (741) (955)
Depreciation and provisions 21 359 17 760
Change in deferred tax items 626 532
Capital gains and losses on disposal of fixed assets (2 393) (2093)
Other non-cash income and expenses 1453 1148
Self-financing capacity after cost of net financial debt & tax 19 505 13 786
Net cost of financial debt 11 846 10 061
Interests paid on lease agreement** 366
Current tax expense 859 (57)
Self-financing capacity before cost of net financial debt & tax 32576 23790
Current tax expense (859) 57
A Change in working capital requirement related to activity excluding changes in inventories 4529 10 764
B Stock variation 6 053 (42 974)
C Change in investment working capital requirement (17 027) 24 296
Acquisition of assets for leasing (31 856) (21 568)
Proceeds from disposal of assets 14 639 9 466
Net impact of finance leasing to clients 293 866
sub-total (27 898) (29 914)
| CASH FLOW GENERATED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES 8348 4 697
Investment Operations
Acquisition of intangible & tangible assets (291) (549)
Acquisition of financial assets
Net change in loans and advances 2304 (1 149)
Proceeds from disposal of assets other than those intended for leasing 456 279
Cash flows from the subsidiaries (perimeter entries or exits) 468
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets 73
Il CASH FLOWS RELATING TO OTHER INVESTMENT OPERATIONS 3010 (1419)
Financing Operations
Receipts related to new borrowings 63 481 111519
Repayment of loans (43 972) (101 836)
Net change in financial debts 19 509 9683
Lease liabilities (1 825)
Net increase in shareholders' equity (capital increase) 385 (111)
Net cost of financial debt (11 846) (10 061)
Interests paid on lease agreement** (366)
Distribution of dividends to TOUAX SCA shareholders
Distribution of dividends to minority shareholders (30) (377)
Statutory remuneration of general partners (257) (269)
Hybrid capital payment coupons (5 230) (4 039)
Other (24) (23)
Disposal (acq.) Net treasury shares 15 (42)
Il CASH FLOW RELATED TO FINANCING OPERATIONS 331 (5239)
Effect of exchange rate fluctuations 28 56
Iv CASH FLOW RELATED TO EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES 28 56
CHANGE IN NET CASH (1) + (1) + (In) + (V) 11717 (1905)
Analysis of cash flow change
Cash at beginning of year 26 857 28762
Cash atend of year 38574 26 857
Change in net cash 11717 (1 905)

(*) On the 1st of January 2019, IFRS 16 "Leasing contract" has been applied according to the simplified retrospective method.

As a consequence, the 2018 financial statements have not been restated, except for the separate presentation of the ancillary services (see
note 1.1).

(**) Interests paid on lease agreement are presented under the item "Other financial income and expenses" of the Consolidated income
statement.
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(in thousands of euros) 2019 2018
Decrease / (Increase) in inventories and work in progress 6 053 (42 974)
B Change in inventory 6 053 (42 974)
Decrease / (Increase) in accounts receivable 1154 3542
Decrease / (Increase) in other current assets (1018) (313)
(Decrease) / Increase in trade payables 3218 1660
(Decrease) / Increase in other liabilities 1175 5 875
A Change in WCR related to activity excluding inventory change 4529 10 764

Decrease/(Increase) in receivables/fixed assets & related accounts
(Decrease)/Increasein liabilities/fixed assets & related accounts (17 027) 24 296
C Change in investment WCR (17 027) 24 296

The net change in cash presented in the cash flow statement corresponds to the change in cash and cash equivalents included on the
balance sheet after deducting bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts at 31 December 2019 totalled €704 thousand.

According to the amendment to IAS 7: "cash payments to manufacture or acquire assets held for leasing to others and subsequently
held for sale as described in paragraph 68A of IAS 16 "Tangible assets" are cash flows resulting from operating activities. The cash
receipts from leasing and subsequent sales of such assets are also cash flows from operating activities."

Therefore, the cash flow statement shows the Group's investments in leasing equipment and the income from sales of leasing
equipment under cash flow from operations instead of cash flows from investing activities, in accordance with IFRS. Similarly,
repayments of finance lease receivables are presented in operating flows.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

APPENDIX TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Significant events and post-closure events

>  Significant events

Touax SCA set up with an institutional investor on June 21, 2019 a €40 million “senior secured in fine” loan with a 5-year maturity.
This financing has enabled the extension of the average maturity of the Group's debt and is in line with the Group's growth and
profitability strategy:

. the refinancing of redeemable bonds (ORNANE) with a nominal value of €23 million maturing on July 10, 2020, which was
fully repaid in 2019,
. support for the implementation of a progressive investment plan.

Touax SCA paid a coupon to the holders of TSSDIs for an amount of €4 million in August 2019 and €1.2 million in November 2019.

On 1 August 2019, Touax SCA completed a senior unsecured Euro PP bond issue at a nominal amount of €10 million with a maturity
date of 1 February 2025.
The proceeds of this issue were used to finance the Group's investments and increase the average debt maturity.

>  Post-balance sheet events

The COVID-19 coronavirus epidemic began in December 2019 in Wuhan, China. This epidemic then turned into a pandemic and
spread to all regions of the world with current main focus in the Middle East, Europe and the United States of America. Significant
health measures have been implemented by many countries to limit the spread of the virus: travel restrictions, compulsory
quarantine periods for people from affected regions, closing of borders, confinement of populations, closing of shops other than
those basic necessities, closing of hotels, theaters, public places, etc. These measures are causing major economic disruption with
implications for international freight traffic and the financial health of many businesses. Such events could result in the inability of
the Group to lease its equipment and the inability of the Group’s lessees to meet their lease payment obligations to the Group, which,
in turn, would have a material adverse effect on the financial results of the Group.

MOTE 1. ACCOUNTING RULES AND METHODS

note 1.1. BASIS FOR PREPARATION AND PRESENTATION OF THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2019

[l Approval of the financial statements

The annual financial statements to 31 December 2019 and associated notes were approved by the TOUAX SCA Management Board
on 24 March 2020 and presented to the Supervisory Board on 25 March 2020.

I Accounting rules and methods

Pursuant to Regulation No. 1606/2002 adopted on 19 July 2002 by the European Parliament and the European Council, the
consolidated financial statements of the TOUAX Group for the 2019 financial year were prepared in accordance with IFRS
(International Financial Reporting Standards) published by the IASB (International Accounting Standards Board) at closure date of 31
December 2019 as adopted by the European Union.

[0l  New standards, amendments and interpretations adopted by the European Union which must be applied from 1 January
2019

Impact of IFRS 16 “leases” on the consolidated accounts:

For contracts in which the Group is a lessee, Touax uses the simplified retrospective transition approach, without measuring the value
of the right of use underlying the contract for the application of IFRS 16 at 15t January 2019. As a result, comparative data for 2018
has not been restated, except for the ancillary services that are now presented on a different line from leasing revenues in 2019 and
2018 for respectively €21.8 million and €17.2 million.
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The impacts of this new standard on the presentation of the financial statements as of January 1, 2019 are as follows:

IFRS 16 ADJUSTMENTS
Restated

Balance sheet

Consolidated balance sheet Commitments| Reclassification of [Commitments on non{ balance sheet

published as
at 12.31.2019/| on real estate |real estate/financial | operating property

contracts lease liabilities contracts 01.01.2020

(in thousands of euros) as at

Tangible assets 288172 (12 439) 275 733
Right of use 2762 12 439 320 15521
Total non-current assets 307 611 2762 320 310 693
Total current assets 131793 131793
TOTAL ASSETS 439 404 2762 320 442 486
Total shareholders’ equity 129 114 129 114
Borrowings and financial liabilities 168 972 (2575) 166 397
Rental liability LT 2034 2575 224 4 832
Total non-current liabilities 171 982 2034 224 174 239
Lease liability ST 728 3773 96 4 598
Borrowings and current bank facilities 56 544 (3773) 52771
Total current liabilities 138 308 728 96 139 133
TOTAL LIABILITIES 439 404 2762 320 442 486

The TOUAX Group is an operational rental company of standard sustainable transport equipment. Thus Touax signs rental contracts
with its customers. These contracts are further developed in note 1.20.3. These contracts are evaluated as lessor according to IFRS
16 as specified below.

Touax as lessor:

e  The Group was not required to make adjustments to leases on the transition date, in accordance with IFRS 16.C14.

e  Consequently, there is no impact on turnover, with the exception of ancillary services, which are now presented on a different
line from leasing revenues.

In addition, the Touax Group manages equipment on behalf of third parties. Relations between investors and the Group are
formalized under management contracts. Under these contracts, revenues from equipment leased by the Group to its customers
are paid to investors less the Group's management fees and direct equipment expenses. In accounting terms, these distributions to
investors are reported as variable lease payments; they are variable because they depend on the leasing of this equipment, the
payment of said leases by customers, and the expenses generated by this equipment. These management contracts are described
more fully in note 1.20.8. In accordance with IFRS 16, the Group leases equipment from investors (with variables leases payments)
and subleases it to its customers. These contracts are classed under IFRS 16 as “intermediate lessor” as specified below.

Touax, as intermediate lessor:
e Inaccordance with transitional provisions, the Group has reassessed the classification of subleases at 1 January 2019.
e Asub-lease is classed as a financial lease if the lessor transfers almost all risks and advantages of ownership to the lessee, the
asset being, in this case, the right to use and not the equipment itself:
o  Touax never transfers ownership of the asset to the lessee at the end of the contract term.
o  The lessee almost never has an option to purchase.
o Atdate, no lease covers the major part of the residual life of the right of use.
o At contract inception, the present value of lease payments is less than the majority share of the fair value of the leased
asset.
o  The equipment rented is standard and never bespoke.
Equipment sub-leases are therefore classed as simple leases. There is therefore no impact on sales income. Ancillary services
are now presented on a different line from leasing revenues.

The application of the March 2019 IFRIC decision could impact the current evaluation of the Group.

IFRS 16 expands the scope of intermediate lessors and sale and leaseback transactions. The Group's management activity
combines both. Group equipment purchases are carried on the balance sheet. It rents its equipment to customers (on a simple
operating lease basis). It then sells some of its equipment to investors and at the same time agrees management contracts with
them (“syndication transaction”). A return is not guaranteed to investors. At this stage, Touax considers that the syndication
fees - which correspond to the gain on disposal - must be recognised in full and that no right-of-use asset is to be recognised,
since the income distributed to investors is variable and depends on the profitability of the equipment (the Group does not
guarantee any return). Under IFRS 16, the Group is considered to have entered into a sale and leaseback transaction with the
investor and to have subleased the equipment to its customers as an intermediate lessor. In other words, syndication operations
can be analysed as sale and leaseback transactions under IFRS 16.
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Discussions are ongoing within the IFRS Interpretation Committee (IFRS-IC) regarding sale and leaseback transactions which
include variable rentals. Leases resulting from a sale and leaseback transaction may require the recognition of a right of use and
a lease liability even though the rental income and distributions are variable.

Depending on the progress of these discussions, Touax may have to reconsider its accounting treatment of syndication and sub-
leasing of syndicated equipment. Syndication transactions may have to be accounted for as sale and leaseback transactions, in
which control of the asset is transferred to the investor at the time of sale. In which case, commission may be only partially
accounted for or not at all in profit or loss at the time of the transaction. As a result, a right of use and a liability may have to be
accounted for on the balance sheet despite the variability of rents. Subleases would then be classed as either simple and
financing with regard to right of use.

Pending a final IFRS-IC decision, Touax has used the accounting treatment above and fully accounted for syndication fees for an
amount of €1,467 thousand without right of use or liability on the balance sheet for transactions in fiscal year 2019.

Only transactions completed after 15t January 2019 will be affected by a final decision by the IFRS-IC, since paragraph C16 of IFRS
16 stipulates that entities should not reassess any transfers of control under IFRS 15 for sale and leaseback transactions prior to
the date of initial application, nor should they revise the accounting treatment of transactions prior to the transition date. In
accordance with IFRS 16.C18.a, Touax has accounted for operating leases from past transactions like other contracts in which
Touax is a lessee, with no right of use recognised on the balance sheet, since the lease payments made to investors are totally
variable.

To date, the published decision is provisional. The final decision will be published at the earliest in June 2020 and at the latest
in the second half of 2020.

Finally, the Group may be a lessee, for example in the context of river barge leasing operations or for the rental of its offices. These
contracts are classed under IFRS 16 as lessee as indicated below.

Touax as lessee:

e Because the Group has adopted the simplified retrospective transition approach for leases in which it is a lessee, the book value
of financial leases is not adjusted at the transition date.

e  Finance leases thus previously capitalized in the balance sheet are unchanged except for their classification; Equipment
previously under finance leases is classed as assets with right of use and financial liabilities associated with these leases are
classed as lease liabilities.

e Under IFRS 16, most operating leases are now capitalised. The Group has retained the exemption proposed by the standard not
to activate short-term or low-value contracts. Consequently, for leases whose residual duration is greater than 1 year on the
transition date or whose underlying new asset value is greater than $5,000, a single model applies which records the leasing
debt as a liability and the right of use as an asset. On the transition date, the amount of assets is equal to the lease debt calculated
by discounting the remaining lease payments due from 15t January 2019.

e  The Group has chosen not to separate the service part, with the exception of real estate contracts.

e Among other simplifications put forward for the transition, the Group:

o has chosen to applicate a single discount rate to a portfolio of vehicle leases; these contracts have similar charateristics;
o has chosen to use previous acquired knowledge to determine the duration of contracts with options;
o has chosen not to reassess contracts which end in the 2019 financial year.

e The lease expense is therefore cancelled and replaced by a depreciation expense and an interest expense. Under the simplified

transition method, the 2018 income statement and balance sheet are not adjusted.

Capitalized leases are property leases, vehicle leases, finance leases or operational leases of river barges. As a reminder, financial
lease contracts were already activated under IAS 17.

The reconciliation between the off-balance sheet lease commitments and the IFRS 16 lease liability is presented in the table below:

(in thousands of euros)

Off balance sheet commitments at 31 December 2018 2386
Commitments on short-term or low-value contracts (458)
Consideration of rents for optional terms 1077
Refresh effect (242)
Reclassification of finance lease debts as rent debts 6348
Commitments on non-operating property contracts (vehicles and copiers) 320
Lease liabilities on 1 January 2019 9431

The IFRIC's ruling of November 2019 may impact the determination of the enforceable terms, in particular, of leases with no
contractual expiry date and tacitly renewable leases. In determining the enforceable term of a lease, an entity shall consider all
aspects of the lease, not just the conditions of contractual termination payments. As such, whenever a contractual or legal framework
provides for the possibility of an extension for the lessee, and even if the lessor has the right to oppose it, a contract is enforceable
beyond its non-cancellable period if not extending the lease would incur a more than insignificant economic disadvantage for either
the lessee or lessor.

The Group is currently evaluating the impacts of this decision, but is not currently in a position to measure the effects accurately. The
Group has therefore not implemented the decision in the 2019 financial year. This decision will be taken into account retrospectively
from 1 January 2019 to the next publication of accounts.
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Regarding the judgements exercised to determine the duration of contracts, at this stage and pending the decision of the IFRIC, the
enforceable period is deemed to be the maximum period over which the lessee has an unconditional right to use the leased asset.
The durations used are therefore the contractual durations. For management contracts, in the same way as leases, the duration is
indefinite, given that management contracts end only with the sale of the final piece of equipment under management, with the
maximum duration never being longer than the lifetime of the equipment.

The average interest rates used to calculate future rents are, on the transition date, 4.25% for property leases and 2.45% for
equipment leases.
- For property leases, the rate applied was determined on the basis of the historical borrowing rate.
- For equipment leasing contracts:
At the Euribor rate corresponding to the duration of each lease, a credit spread was applied to the Freight Railcars and
Containers operational entities established using the latest asset financings carried out in 2018. These spreads reflect the level
at which the operational divisions could refinance over a period of 2 to 5 years.

The IFRIC 23 interpretation of “Uncertainties over income tax treatments” complements the IAS 12 Income Tax provisions, by
specifying the procedures for evaluating and accounting for uncertainties relating to income taxes. The Group has not identified any
impact of this reclassification on current or deferred tax or on shareholders' equity at 1 January 2019.

The following amendments did not impact the accounts:

e  Amendments to IFRS 9 “Early redemption clauses leading to negative netting”, to deal with instruments which include an early
redemption clause, when the exercise of this clause results in a redemption lower than the sum of the principal and interest
due;

e  Amendments to IAS 28 “Investments in Associate and Joint Ventures”;

e  Amendments to IAS 19 “Amendment, curtailment or settlement of a plan”;

e Annual Improvements, 2015-2017 cycle.

[0l Standards and interpretations adopted by the IASB but not yet applicable at 31 December 2019

The Group has not applied in advance any of the relevant new standards and interpretations listed below. Their application is not
mandatory at 1 January 2019:

e  Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 "Definition of the term significant”;
e  Amendments to IFRS 3 “Definition of an activity”.

An analysis is under way of the impact of applying these amendments to standards. However, the Group does not anticipate any
major changes at this stage.

note 1.2. USE OF ESTIMATES

Drawing up financial statements in accordance with IFRS standards has led management to make estimates and put forward
assumptions affecting the book value of certain assets and liabilities, income and expenses, as well as the information given in certain
notes in the appendix.

Since these assumptions are intrinsically uncertain, actual information may differ from the estimates. The Group regularly reviews
its estimates and assessments in order to take past experience into account and factor in any elements considered relevant regarding
economic conditions.

Accounts and related information may be subject to significant re-estimation of impairment losses of the Group’s tangible fixed
assets, goodwill, financial assets, financial derivatives, inventories and work in progress, provisions for risks and charges, and deferred
taxes.

note 1.3. CONSOLIDATION METHODS

The IFRS 10 standard "Consolidated Financial Statements" is replacing standard IAS 27 as well as the SIC 12 interpretation
"Consolidation - Special Purpose Entities" for all aspects relating to the control and consolidation procedures according to the method
of global integration.

It redefines the concept of control of an entity on the basis of three criteria:
- power over the entity, that is, the ability to direct the activities that have the greatest impact on profitability;
- exposure to the entity's variable returns, which may be positive, in the form of a dividend or any other economic advantage,
or negative;
- and the ability to exercise power over the entity so as to affect the amount of the returns obtained.

Companies in which the Group directly or indirectly holds a majority of the voting rights at General Assembly, the Board of Directors
or the Management Board, giving it the power to govern financial and operating policy are verified and consolidated by the global
integration method. Additional analyses are carried out when agreements exist between shareholders in accordance with the
recommendations of the standard.

The IFRS 11 standard "Partnerships" replaces standard IAS 31 for all aspects relating to accounting of jointly controlled entities.
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Joint control is established when decisions about the relevant activities of the entity require the unanimous consent of the parties
sharing control.

According to the standard, partnerships are classified into two categories (joint ventures and joint activities) depending on the nature
of the rights and obligations held by each party. This classification is generally determined by the legal form of the legal vehicle
employed to support the project.
- A joint venture (JV) is a partnership in which the parties (venturers) that have joint control over the entity have rights to the
net assets of the latter. Joint ventures are consolidated using the equity method.
- Ajoint activity (joint operation) is a partnership in which the parties (venturers) have direct rights to the assets and direct
obligations for the liabilities of the entity. Each venturer recognises its share of assets, liabilities, income and expenses related
to its interests in the joint activity.

TOUAX is not in partnership with any of its subsidiaries.

The amended IAS 28 standard defines the concept of significant influence and describes the method of equity applicable to holdings
in associates and joint ventures under the terms of IFRS 11. Associates are entities over which the Group has significant influence.
Significant influence is presumed when the Group's holding is greater than or equal to 20%. It can nevertheless be proven in cases of
lower holding percentages, especially where the Group is represented on the Board of Directors or in an equivalent governing body,
that it contributes to the development of the entity's operational and financial policies as well as its strategic orientations.

The list of companies included in the consolidation is given below in note 2.2.

Commercial and financial transactions and internal profits between consolidated companies are eliminated.

nate 1.4. FOREIGN CURRENCY CONVERSION

note 1.4.1. CONVERSION OF CURRENCY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR FOREIGN SUBSIDIARIES
The reporting currency of the Group is the euro.

The functional currency for subsidiaries is generally the local currency. When the majority of transactions is performed in a third
currency, the operating currency is the third currency.

Financial statements for the Group’s foreign companies are prepared in their functional currency. The accounts of foreign companies

are converted into the Group’s reporting currency (Euro) as follows:

- Assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries are converted into euros at the closing exchange rate;

- Shareholders’ equity, maintained at the historical rate, is converted at the closing exchange rate;

- The income and cash flow statements are converted at the average exchange rate for the period;

- Profits or losses resulting from the conversion of the foreign companies’ financial statements are recognised in a conversion
reserve included in the consolidated shareholders’ equity.

Goodwill generated by the acquisition of foreign companies is accounted for in the operational currency of the acquired company.
The goodwill is then converted at the current exchange rate into the Group’s presentation currency. Any differences resulting from
the conversion are recognised in the Consolidated Shareholders’ Equity.

Parity: Currency = 1 euro

Exchange rate of currencies Closing rate Average rate

2019 2018 2019 2018
American dollar (USD) 1,1234 1,1450 1,1195 1,1810
Moroccan dirham (MAD) 10,7645 10,9525 10,7723 11,0753
Algerian dinar (DZD) 135,0572 135,4158 134,5653 137,5702
West African CFA Franc (XOF) 655,96 655,96 655,96 655,96
British pound (GBP) 0,8508 0,8945 0,8778 0,8847
Indian rupee (INR) 80,1870 79,7298 78,8361 80,7332

note 1.4.2. CONVERSION OF TRANSACTIONS IN FOREIGN CURRENCY

Foreign currency operations by consolidated companies have been converted into their functional currency at the exchange rates
prevailing on the date of the transaction.

Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currency have been converted at the exchange rates prevailing on the Balance Sheet date.
Exchange rate differences resulting from this conversion (latent gains and losses) are recognised as net financial profit or loss.

Currency gains/losses arising from a monetary component, which is essentially an integral part of the net investment in a consolidated
foreign subsidiary, are booked under shareholders' equity (under the item "conversion reserves") until the net investment has been
sold or liquidated.
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note 1.5. RECORDING OF ASSET COMPANIES OWNED BY INVESTORS

Third-party management enables the Group to increase its capacity as an operational lessor by calling on outside investors who
acquire assets.

[l Analysis of asset companies owned by investors
In the case of asset companies owned by investors, the management of activities is sometimes governed by contractual agreements.

In this case analysis of the contractual agreements makes it possible to assess whether the investor has power over the entity. Some

indicators in accordance with IFRS 10:

- The purpose and structuring of the entity: mode of decision making in relation to relevant activities, who has the ability to direct
the activities, who receives the yields from these activities, who bears the risks etc;

- The rights given by the contractual agreements established during the creation;

- The commitment by the investor to ensure that the actual operation of the entity conforms to its original concept;

- The relationship between the investor and the entity: Managerial, technological or financial dependence.

Investors' asset companies are not consolidated if the Group does not hold executive authority over activities affecting their
performance or assets.

naote 1.6. GOODWILL

Goodwill corresponds, on the acquisition date, to the difference between:

- thefair value of the consideration transferred plus the amount of the minority interests in the company acquired and, in a merger
of acquisition carried out in steps, the acquisition-date fair value of the acquirer’s previously-held holding in the company
acquired, revalued by the income statement, and

- the net balance of the amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities taken over measured at acquisition-date fair
value.

For significant acquisitions, this fair-value measurement is carried out by independent experts.

Minority interests are either valued at their fair value, or at their share in the net identifiable assets of the acquired company. This
option is available on a case-by-case basis for each merger operation.

The direct costs in connection with the acquisition are recognised in the period's expenses and are entered under “Other operating
income and expenses”, in the consolidated income statement.

Possible price adjustments for the acquisition or merger are valued at the fair value on the date of acquisition even if it is improbable
that resources will be needed to discharge that obligation. After the acquisition date, the price adjustment is valued at its fair value
at each year-end closing. After twelve months from the acquisition date, any change in the fair value of this price adjustment will be
recognised in the income statement if the price adjustment is a financial liability.

In accordance with IFRS 3 “Company Groupings”, goodwill assets are not depreciated.

In accordance with IAS 36 “Impairment of Assets”, they are subjected to an impairment test at least once a year, and at shorter
intervals if there is any indication of a loss of value. The test is designed to ensure that the recoverable value of the cash-generating
unit (CGU: usually the individual legal entity) to which the goodwill is applied is at least equal to its net book value (see notes to the
consolidated financial statements, note 1.9). If an impairment is found, then an irreversible provision is charged to operating income,
on a line of its own.

Should the TOUAX Group increase its percentage stake in an entity it already controls, the additional equity purchase is booked
directly to shareholders’ equity as the difference between the price paid for the shares and the additional proportion of the entity
acquired.

In the event that shares are sold without loss of exclusive control, the difference between the shares' sale price and the share of
consolidated equity at the date of the sale is noted as shareholders' equity (Group's share). The consolidated value of the entity's
identifiable assets and liabilities, as well as the goodwill, remain unchanged.

In the event that shares are sold with loss of exclusive control, the income from the sale is calculated on the entire holding at the
date of the operation. If there is residual interest, it is evaluated at its fair value in the income statement at the moment that exclusive
control is lost.

nate 1.7. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Computer software depreciation and development expenses which are included in Intangible Assets are depreciated using the
straight-line method over their useful lifetimes. Development costs incurred between the decision to start development and the
agreement to manufacture the item are recognised as intangible assets. Development costs are regarded as fixed investments if they
concern distinguishable projects with a realistic chance of technical success and commercial profitability. They are amortized over
three years.
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nate 1.8, TANGIBLE ASSETS

note 1.8.1. VALUATION AT COST NET OF AMORTIZATION AND IMPAIRMENT

Except when acquired as part of a company takeover, tangible assets are booked at their acquisition or production cost. Gains arising
onintra-group sales or purchases are eliminated in the consolidated accounts, as are revaluations due to mergers or partial takeovers.
At the end of each financial period, the book value is reduced by cumulative amortization and depreciation calculated as required by
IAS 36 “Depreciation of Assets” (see the notes to the consolidated financial statements, note 1.9).

The costs of borrowing used to finance assets defined by the amended IAS 23 are included in the cost of the assets involved. At
present, no assets are eligible for application of the revised IAS 23.

note 1.8.2. "COMPONENT" APPROACH

IAS 16 "Intangible assets" requires that an asset’s main components with a useful lifetime shorter than that of the asset itself should
be identified so as to be depreciated over its own useful lifetime.

The component approach is particularly applicable to the River Barges and Freight Railcar businesses. In the River Barges business,
the purchase price of pushers is split into hull and propulsion. In the Freight Railcar business, the railcars are divided between the
railcar itself and the revisions.

note 1.8.3. DEPRECIATION

Tangible assets are depreciated and are calculated using the straight-line method over the asset’s useful lifetime. Land is not
depreciated.

Containers are depreciated over 13 years with a residual value which varies according to the type of container. The Group therefore
still complies with the standards and best practices of the profession.

The railcars and their axles are reviewed according to a timetable specified by the European standards. By incorporating European
standard VPI, revisions of railcars and their axles are depreciated over a period of 3, 6, 9 or 12 years depending on the type of revision.

Useful lifetimes for assets acquired new are in the following brackets:

- Freight Railcar 25 years old (India) to 36 years old (Europe)
- River barges (barges and pushers) 30 years
- Containers (of type "dry") 13 years

The depreciation of the containers provides for a residual value, which varies according to the type of container, in accordance with
industry standards:

- 20’DC: $1,000

- 40'DC: $1,200

- 40'HC: $1,400

Specific depreciation methods:
Assets acquired second-hand are depreciated using the straight-line method over their remaining useful lifetime.
Residual values are chosen in accordance with the Group’s past experience. The residual value of Freight Railcar is considered nil.

Useful lifetimes of second-hand barges depend on their previous condition of use, and materials it carried (some materials being
more corrosive than others). The expected lifetime of each barge bought second-hand is estimated on the basis of its date of
construction, past use and the materials carried.

note 1.9, IMPAIRMENT OF ASSETS

According to IAS 36 “Impairment of Assets”, the recoverable value of Tangible and Intangible Assets must be tested as soon as there
is any indication of a loss of value (to the company or in the market), and is reviewed at the end of each financial period. This test is
carried out at least once a year for assets with an indefinite lifetime, which in the case of the Group means goodwill.

For this test, fixed assets are grouped into Cash-Generating Units (CGUs). These are homogeneous groups of assets whose continuous
use generates cash flows largely independent of the cash flows generated by other groups of assets. The recoverable value of these
units is most often calculated from their value in use, i.e. from the discounted future net cash flows expected on the basis of business
scenarios and on forecast operating budgets approved by senior management.

If a CGU’s recoverable value is below its net book value, then an impairment is recognised. If the CGU contains an element of goodwill,
the impairment is charged first against goodwill before any remaining impairment is charged to the CGU’s other fixed assets.

The cash generating units in the Group are:
- The Freight Railcar business as a whole (considering that the US business is not significant),

- The River Barge business as a whole,
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- The Containers business as a whole,
- The Modular Buildings business in Africa as a whole.

Impairment test for rights of use that do not generate cash flows (real estate, vehicle):

As this type of asset does not generate cash flows independent of those generated by other assets, the amount recoverable for right
of use cannot be determined. It is then tested for impairment at the level of the CGU to which it belongs.

note 1.10. INVENTORIES

Inventories essentially consist of goods bought for resale in the Freight Railcar and Container divisions, and to a lesser extent in the
Modular Buildings division. The inventory turnover period is under a year.

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value.
Net realizable value is the estimated price of a sale in the normal course of business, less estimated finishing and selling costs.

Stocks also include spare parts required for the maintenance of Freight Railcar.

note 1.11. PROVISIONS

A provision is made in the accounts if, on the relevant Balance Sheet date, the Group has contracted an obligation (whether legally
expressed or implicit) and it is probable that a reliably predictable amount of resources will be needed to discharge that obligation.

Provision is made for lawsuits and disputes (industrial, technical, or tax-related) as soon as there is an obligation by the Group to
another party on the Balance Sheet date. The amount of the provision made depends on the best estimate of the foreseeable
expense.

note 1.12. PENSION AND SIMILAR LIABILITIES

The Group’s pension commitments consist only of severance payments for its French companies’ employees which correspond, under
the terms of IAS 19 "Employee Benefits" to "defined benefit plans". Under these schemes, the Group undertakes to pay benefits
either on leaving the Group (severance payments) or during retirement. The Group’s schemes are not funded, and a provision is
made for them in the accounts. The Group has no commitments under any other significant defined benefit scheme nor under any
defined contribution scheme.

The Group accounts for these superannuation commitments according to the Projected Unit Credit method as required under IAS
19. The method calls for long term actuarial assumptions concerning demographic parameters (staff revenues, mortality) and
financial parameters (salary increases, discount rate) to be taken into account. These parameters are reviewed annually. The effect
on the amount of the commitment of any changes in the actuarial assumptions is entered under Actuarial Differences. In accordance
with IAS 19, the Group recognises these actuarial gains and losses through shareholders' equity and service costs through profit or
loss.

note 1.13. OPERATING SUBSIDY

The Group has chosen to present government subsidies in its Financial Statements as reductions of their related expenses, in
accordance with IAS 20.

note 1.14. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

Standard IFRS 2 “Share-based Payment” imposes the evaluation of transactions remunerated by payment in shares and similar in the
company's income and balance sheet. This standard applies to schemes granted after November 7, 2002. The three possible types of
transactions specified in IFRS 2 are:

- Share-based transactions settled in equity instruments;

- Share-based transactions settled in cash;

- Share-based transactions settled in equity instruments or in cash.

Benefits are recognised as staff costs and spread over the acquisition period of the entitlements; a counter-entry is made in the form
of an increase in shareholders’ equity.
note 1.15. LONG-TERM NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Other long-term liabilities include liabilities other than financial loans and liabilities of more than one year, such as commercial
commitments relating to contracts with repurchase agreements by the Group; leasing income deferred for more than one year, over
the term of these same contracts.
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note 1.16. TREASURY STOCK

The treasury stock held by the Group is registered at its acquisition cost as a deduction from shareholders’ equity. Gains from the
disposal of treasury stock are stated directly as an increase in shareholders’ equity, such that capital gains or losses do not affect the
consolidated result.

note 1.17. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

note 1.17.1. FINANCIAL ASSETS NON-CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

The IFRS9 standard, applicable since January 1 2018, introduces changes based on IAS 39:
- the provisions relating to the ranking and valuation of financial assets are now based on the joint analysis of the management
model of each asset portfolio and the contractual characteristics of the financial assets;

- the depreciation model has moved away from the proven credit loss approach to an approach that retains expected credit losses;
- the provisions for the classification and evaluation of financial liabilities now require changes in fair value related to credit risk
for financial liabilities recognised at fair value through profit or loss to be isolated and recognised as non-recyclable reserves;

- provisions on hedge accounting, which the Group has applied from 1 January 2018:

o make more strategies likely to be eligible for hedge accounting;

o require that effectiveness be demonstrated by the existence of an economic relationship between the hedged item and
the hedging instrument, the absence of domination of the effect of credit risk in the change in value of this economic
relationship, the existence of a coverage ratio approaching that of management, knowing that any inefficiency is recorded
in profit or loss.

e  Classification and valuation of financial assets

IFRS 9 introduces a new model for the classification and measurement of financial assets, based on:
- the business model of the entity for the management of financial assets, and
- the characteristics of the contractual cash flows of the financial asset.

For a financial asset within the scope of IFRS 9, there are 3 types of economic models:

- The objective of the business model is to only hold financial assets to pay in contractual cash flows: if the financial asset is
designed to pay solely principal and interest (“SPP1”), the financial asset is measured at amortized cost.

- The objective of the business model is both to hold financial assets to pay in contractual cash flows and to sell financial assets:
when the characteristics of the financial asset are SPPI, the financial asset is measured at fair value through other global income.

- Interest rate financial assets that are not held in either of the two business models above are measured at fair value through
profit or loss.

The Touax Group has not identified a significant change in the ranking of financial assets at the date of transition.

e  Depreciation of financial assets

A detailed analysis of the depreciation model of financial assets, and in particular of receivables, has been carried out. The Group has
opted for the simplified method proposed by IFRS 9 for measuring impairment losses on trade receivables, finance lease receivables
and other assets recognised at amortized cost. The analysis of the history of losses recorded on receivables as well as the forward-
looking data collected did not reveal any significant additional losses to be accounted for compared to the previously used model. It
did not reveal any significant consequences on the Group's consolidated financial statements.

The Group's financial assets include the following:

- non-current financial assets in the scope of IFRS 9: guarantees and other deposits for equity securities of non-consolidated
companies, loans, derivatives;

- non-current financial assets outside the scope of IFRS 9 for the classification and measurement part: the Group reports as assets
those assets held under finance leasing in which it operates as a lessor and receivables with a maturity of more than one year;

- current financial assets including short-term receivables and receivables with less than one year of finance leasing.

note 1.17.2. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

The Cash and Cash Equivalents Balance Sheet item is made up of current bank account balances and cash-based UCITS holdings that
can be liquidated in the short term.

UCITS holdings with a negligible risk of changing value are categorized as highly liquid short-term holdings and are evaluated at fair
value.

The net cash position from the cash flow statement is determined on the basis of cash holdings, as defined above, less current bank
advances and overdrafts.

note 1.17.3. FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

The Group’s financial liabilities include bank loans, interest-bearing bonds, supplier debt and derivatives.
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The loans are broken down into current liabilities (the part repayable within the twelve months following the balance sheet date)
and non-current liabilities (with due dates of over twelve months).

Loans are initially recorded at fair value adjusted by directly attributable transaction costs.
Subsequently, they are subsequently evaluated at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method.
e Classification and valuation of financial liabilities

The variation in the fair value of redeemable bonds (ORNANE) credit risk had an impact on non-recyclable reserves of +£€390 thousand
in 2019.

Other financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost.

note 1.17.4. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

In 2019, the Group entered into forward exchange contracts (maturity in 2020) to hedge foreign exchange risk exposure on the US
dollar. Subscribed derivatives are recognised at fair value. Their impact on income fully or partially offsets gains and losses recorded
in profit or loss on foreign currency exposure.

Some of the Group's operations are financed by variable-rate loans, some of which are hedged by interest rate derivatives, within
the scope of the cash-flow hedges, in order to reduce the Group's exposure to interest rate risk.

Changes in the fair value of swap contracts are recognised as recyclable reserves for the effective part. The ineffective part is
recognised directly in the financial result.

e  Hedge accounting

The Group believes that existing hedges and qualifying hedges meet the hedge accounting eligibility criteria in accordance with IFRS
9. The application of the new standard did not have a significant impact compared to IAS 39 for derivative instruments held by the
Group.

note 1.18. UNDATED SUPER SUBORDINATED NOTES

The Group issued Undated Super Subordinated Notes (TSSDI) on three occasions. Two issues took place in 2013 for a nominal amount
of €32,775 million and the third issue took place in May 2014 for a nominal amount of €18,025 million. These three issues amounting
to a total of €50.8 million form one unique stub. These perpetual securities allow TOUAX to redeem them at par as of August 2019
and then every three months thereafter. They paid a fixed annual coupon of 7.95% for the first 6 years and then a variable rate
starting August 1 2019. The coupon payment is payable quarterly commencing on 1 August 2019 but is paid “manually” by the
company. This financial instrument enhances the structure of the Group's balance sheet when considering the lifetime of its assets
and its business financing requirements.

Under IFRS, these securities are analysed as equity instruments under IAS 32.

note 1.19. TAXES ON PROFITS

Deferred taxes are recognised (undiscounted) according to the method of variable carrying-forward of the differences due to timing
between the assets’ and liabilities” values for tax purposes and their book values in the consolidated accounts. In this way each
financial period is assigned its appropriate tax charge, particularly in view of the temporary discrepancies that may arise between the
date when certain revenues and charges are booked and their effective date for tax purposes.

Any deferred tax assets resulting from these temporary differences or tax losses to be carried forward are only retained on the books
to the extent that the companies or groups of companies consolidated for tax purposes are reasonably sure of realizing the benefits
in subsequent years.

Tax rates used in calculating deferred taxes are the rates known on the Balance Sheet date.
Tax assets and liabilities applying to the same tax entity (or fiscally-consolidated group) are offset in the Balance Sheet.

Deferred tax is recognised as a revenue or charge in the Income Statement unless it relates to a transaction or event recognised
directly in shareholders’ equity.

Deferred taxes are presented on their own lines in the Balance Sheet, under Fixed Assets or Non-Current Liabilities, as the case may
be.

note 1.20. INCOME AND EXPENSES FROM OPERATIONS

note 1.20.1. REVENUE FROM ACTIVITIES: THE DIFFERENT COMPONENTS

The Group is an operational lessor of standard sustainable transport equipment (Freight Railcar, River Barges, Logistics Containers).
Leased equipment may be owned by the Group or by investors and managed by the Group under management contracts. The Group
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thus records rental revenue (see note 1.20.2 and note 1.20.3), broken down for greater transparency between equipment owned by
the Group and equipment owned by investors:

- Rental revenue from equipment owned by the Group under IFRS 16 (lease)

- Rental revenue from equipment held by investors under IFRS 16 (sub-lease)

When the Group leases equipment to its customers, it may invoice ancillary services (see note 1.20.4) such as repairing equipment if
damaged by customers. The Group records:
- Ancillary Services under IFRS 15.

The Group also sells equipment (see “Equipment sales” note 1.20.5). When equipment is owned by the Group, it records the proceeds
from the sale of this equipment. When the equipment is owned by investors, the Group records the margin generated between the
sale price of the equipment and the price paid to the investor. This margin is generally referred to as the Marketing commission. The
Group thus records:

- Sales of owned equipment under IFRS 15

- Margins on disposal of equipment held by investors under IFRS 15.

In addition, the Group sells equipment to investors under third-party management agreements (see “Management of assets and
liabilities” in the notes to the consolidated financial statements note 1.20.6). The Group purchases new equipment, carries it on its
balance sheet and leases it to its customers. It may then sell some of its equipment managed concurrently under a management
contract to investors. The sale of equipment to investors is known as syndication and is compensated by a margin equivalent to the
difference between the equipment purchase and sale price. This margin is called the syndication fee. These transactions are grouped
together under “management on behalf of third parties”. The Group thus records revenue from the following activities:

- Syndication fees; note that discussions are underway at the IFRS-IC, which could call into question the amounts recognised by

the Group in syndication fees (see note 1.1).

Finally, the Group sometimes sells fixed assets that are not part of its recurring rental activity. The difference between the sale price
and the net book value of fixed assets is classed as a capital gain or loss on disposal. The Group records revenue activities:
- Capital gains or losses on disposals unrelated to recurring activities

Syndication fees and non-customer non-recurring capital gains or losses on disposals, are excluded from ordinary sales income.
Income is recorded as revenue from operations.

note 1.20.2. ACCOUNTING FOR INCOME AND EXPENSES ON THIRD-PARTY ASSET MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS CONCLUDED BY
THE GROUP. CLASSED AS AGENT OR PRINCIPAL.

In accordance with the requirements of IFRS 15, the Group must determine if it is acting as principal or agent in the provision of
goods or services to a customer.

The Group must meet the following criteria to qualify as principal, otherwise the Group will be classified as an agent and will have to

record the margin as revenues:

- The company has the primary responsibility for providing goods or services, for example by being responsible for the quality of
goods and services ordered or sold to the customer. The Group directly signs lease agreements with customers. Customers do
not know the owners of the equipment.

- The company bears the risks associated with holding stocks before the customer order, during transportation or in case of return.
The Group supports any risks linked to material in the first place. The Group may then have recourse to the owners for
compensation.

- The company is free to set selling prices, directly or indirectly. The Group has complete freedom in the choice of its customers
and the applicable rates, without reference to the owners of the equipment.

The Group operates and manages equipment on behalf of third-parties as part of its container and freight railcar leasing businesses.
Pools of equipment are put together for this purpose, bringing together several investors, including sometimes the Group. These
pools correspond to a group of equipment usually of the same type and age. This organisation enables the pooling of revenues and
expenses of equipment grouped in the same pool, governed within the scope of the management contract. These management
contracts do not constitute joint ventures.

According to an analysis of these management agreements in the light of international standards, the Group acts as principal both in
its relations with investors (pools) on the one hand, and with customers on the other. The Group is entirely free to choose the
customers, producers and suppliers it deals with, and to negotiate prices for the purchase, leasing and sale of the equipment it
manages. Customers do not know the final owners of the equipment.

Accordingly, in its capacity as “principal”, the Group records all revenue and expense streams generated by these contracts on its
Income Statement.

- The Group acts as “principal” in the context of providing services to customers both when it owns the equipment and when it
is involved in the management of said equipment on behalf of investors, and therefore accounts for all the associated products.

- The Group acts as an “agent” when it sells the equipment held by investors as part of management contracts and recognises
the margin due to it on these transactions as profit.
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The Group accounts for the gross rental income invoiced to its customers for equipment managed in pools and thus includes revenues
from rental of equipment held by investors. The operating expenses of all the equipment managed are booked under Operating
Expenses. The share of net income distributed to investors is recorded as an expense under “Distributions to investors” (see notes to
the consolidated financial statements note 1.20.8).

note 1.20.3. LEASES.

The Group purchases and leases standard mobile equipment to its customers. The vast majority of customer leases are operating or
finance leases if Group indicators qualify them as such.

Once the equipment is leased to customers, the Group may decide to sell certain equipment to investors, thereby transferring
ownership of the leased equipment to them. As indicated in note 1.20.2, the Group acts as the principal.

Rental income accounted for as revenue is derived as follows:

e the rental of equipment owned by the Group,
e and the leasing of equipment held by investors

Leases are not differentiated according to whether the equipment belongs to the Group or to investors. These contracts define the
standard leasing terms: the price per day, duration, payment date, obligations and rights of the lessee. The vast majority of its leases
are operating leases. Contracts are categorised as operating or finance leases in accordance with the IFRS 16 standard on the date
the lease is signed. The categorisation of contracts entered into before 1stJanuary 2019 has only been reviewed for subleases, in
accordance with the standard.

When the leased equipment is owned by investors, the Group is classed as an intermediate lessor in accordance with IFRS 16.
Although no distinction is made between leases for equipment owned by the Group and those for equipment held by investors,
additional analysis was carried out because one of the IFRS 16 criteria is that the term of the customer lease must be shorter than
the main part of the investor management contract for it to qualify as an operating lease.

Rental revenue corresponds to revenue from the operational rental of equipment managed on behalf of third parties or owned by
the Group. Interest income from finance leases granted to customers is also included in rental revenues (€0.1 million in 2019 and
2018).

The IFRS 16 analysis is presented in note 1.1.

Changes in leasing revenues are therefore directly connected with the equipment owned or managed by the Group, the leasing rates,
and the utilisation rate of the equipment.

note 1.20.4. RE-INVOICING OF ANCILLARY SERVICES

Ancillary services are invoiced at the time of equipment rental. It also includes the River Barge division’s receipts from the freight,
chartering and storage activities.

e The following services are provided in addition to container rental:
- “Pick up charges”: The costs charged back to the lessees for the removal of the containers are as follows: costs are re-
invoiced for containers leaving China to be placed in different locations around the world.
- “Drop off charges”: These costs are charged back to lessees for moving a container from one location to another for re-
rental or resale.
- “Rebilled repairs”: The cost of repairing containers is charged back to customers.
- “Rebilled handling”: This is the re-invoicing of handling charges paid to transport depots.

Each service complies with the 5 steps described by IFRS 15. The prices for these services provided are clearly defined in the
lease contracts and define how re-invoicing is accounted for in accordance with IFRS 15.

e  Services ancillary to Freight Railcar rental:
- Repair costs are clearly identified in the rental agreement and costs are invoiced by the repair shops during the rental
period.
- These may also be, for example, transport costs incurred during the rental period generated by workshop repairs.

e Ancillary services in the Barges Division:
- Freight costs: this activity includes subcontracting the transport of bulk goods by river (including loading and unloading)
The price of services is based on a price per tonne transported with variable components such as the price of diesel,
water level.

These prices are clearly defined in the contracts and prices are easily allocated between rental and service.
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note 1.20.5. SALES OF EQUIPMENT

The sale of equipment to customers is a regular activity of equipment rental companies. The Touax Group buys, leases and sells
equipment but also carries out trading activities (buying/selling). The equipment sold may be new or used equipment belonging
to the Touax Group or to investors.

a. Equipment belonging to the Touax Group (trading/used equipment activity)

The Touax Group sells its own equipment to end customers, whether this relates to trading or used equipment. The transfer of
the control of the asset takes place at the moment possession of the material is taken and payment is made by the customer. The
Group recognises this transaction as revenue for the amount invoiced and its write-off cost in the balance sheet as "Purchase cost
of sales".

Sales of equipment owned include the proceeds of sales to end customers and from the sale of assets held for rental. The
corresponding purchases of equipment and the net book values are booked under "External Purchases and Expenses" in the type-
classified Income Statement, and under "Purchase cost of Sales" in the function-classified Income Statement. Equipment bought and
not yet resold is included in end-of-period inventories (see the notes to the consolidated financial statements, note 1.10). Disposals
of finance leasing receivables are also included in Sales of equipment.

b. Investor-owned materials (used equipment)

The analysis of sales contracts for used equipment owned by investors to end customers leads the Touax Group to consider that
it acts as an agent because it does not control the equipment sold in accordance with IFRS 15. Consequently, only the margin
between the sale price and the amount returned to the investor is recorded as net income on disposal of equipment held by
investors (see note 1.20.2).

c. Sale of modular buildings in Africa
The modular construction activity in Africa accounts for its sales revenue according to the two methods set out in IFRS 15.

To determine whether a performance obligation should be accounted for based on percentage of completion or at a given date,
contracts must be analysed according to three criteria. If one of the three criteria is met, the performance obligation is accounted
for by percentage of completion.

The three criteria are as follows:

(i)  the customer benefits from the service as the entity's performance improves;

(i)  the customer controls the asset as it is constructed by the entity;

(iii) the asset has no alternative purpose for the entity and the entity has, at any time, in the event of termination by the customer,
an enforceable right to payment for the value of work performed to date.

note 1.20.6. SYNDICATION FEES (SALES OF EQUIPMENT TO INVESTORS)

The Group manages assets on behalf of third parties. As part of this activity, the Group purchases new equipment, carries it on its
balance sheet and leases it to its customers. It may then sell some of its equipment managed concurrently under a management
contract to investors. The sale of equipment to investors is known as syndication and is compensated by a margin equivalent to
the difference between the equipment purchase and sale price. This margin is called the syndication fee. Syndication transactions
fall within the scope of IFRS 16. At the end of the management period, the Group sells equipment belonging to investors to end
customers or other investors. These transactions are grouped together under “management on behalf of third parties”.

Syndication transactions fall outside the scope of IFRS 15, however, when IFRS 15 criteria apply for evaluating the transfer of
control. As such, according to these criteria, syndication is about transferring control of the asset to the investor, with Touax only
retaining the right to use the asset through the management contract. As a reminder, the discussions in progress at the IFRS-IC
could affect the way in which the Group deals with syndication transactions, and call into question the full recognition of the
margin as profit (or loss) on the date of the transaction. These discussions and their implications are presented in note 1.1.

note 1.20.7. OPERATING PROVISIONS
This item mainly records allocations and reversals relating to provisions for bad debts.

The unrecoverable losses are presented in other operating income and expenses.

note 1.20.8. NET DISTRIBUTIONS TO INVESTORS

As mentioned above, the Touax Group manages equipment on behalf of third parties. Relations between investors and the Group
are formalized under management contracts. Under these contracts, the income from the rental of such equipment by the Group to
its customers, is paid to investors after deduction of the Group's management fees and equipment expenses incurred. No return is
guaranteed. Net income paid to investors is variable as it depends on the rental of this equipment, the payment of leases by
customers and related equipment expenses. Net income paid to investors (variable lease payments in accounting terms) is recorded
as net distributions to investors.
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Management contracts entered into prior to the application of IFRS 16 have been analysed as lease contracts, taking into account
the criteria of the standard, and net distributions to investors as totally variable lease payments not based on indices or rates. In
accordance with the transition provisions (paragraph C18), these contracts are treated like any lease at the transition date without
reassessing - as per the provisions of IFRS 16 - the treatment of the sale and leaseback transaction underlying it. Consequently, the
right of use and the resulting lease debt are zero and net distributions to investors are recognised as expenses in the year in which
they are incurred.

The IFRS 16 analysis is presented in note 1.1.

note 1.20.9. OTHER OPERATING INCOME AND EXPENSES

Significant, unusual or infrequent elements are presented separately in the income statement under other operating income and
expenses. As an example, this section includes goodwill impairment, acquisition costs of the equity investments, variations in the fair
value of the additional amounts included in the prices agreed when acquiring stock and restructuring costs.

note 1.21. OPERATING INCOME

Operating income is the difference between pre-tax revenues and expenses, excluding those from financial activities, discontinued
activities or activities being disposed of.

EBITDA (Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortization), after distribution to investors, is an important indicator for the
Group, allowing it to assess economic performance. It is the operating income after depreciation and impairment losses restated
under IAS 36 impairment tests (see the notes to the consolidated financial statements, note 1.9). EBITDAR (“Earnings before interest,
tax, depreciation, amortization and rent”) is calculated before the distribution to investors and corresponds to the EBITDA increased
by the distribution to investors. The EBITDAR reflects the performance of all the business activities and equipment managed by the
Group.

note 1.22. SEGMENT INFORMATION

In view of the basic structure of the Group’s internal organisation and management, the first level of segment information applied in
accordance with IFRS 8 “Segment information” is that based on the Group’s activities.

The Group's business is the operational leasing of standard sustainable transport equipment. It conducts its main business in three
areas: Freight Railcar, River Barges and Containers. The Modular Buildings, property and central costs activities that remain
insignificant are grouped together in a single "miscellaneous" sector.

Geographic sectors depend on the location of markets and reflect asset locations.
For the Freight Railcar and River Barges activities, the services, markets and customers are in identical locations.

In the Container business, however, markets are in other locations than those of the customers and services. The location of the
markets and geographic zones of the Container business correspond to the location of the assets. Containers are moved regularly
from country to country via international trade over hundreds of trading routes. The TOUAX Group has neither knowledge nor control
over the location or movements of leased containers. Based on container leasing contracts in force at 31 December 2019, containers
may be in the ports of over a hundred countries worldwide. As a result, it is not possible to break down the revenue or assets of the
Container business by geographic zone. The Container business is categorised in the international zone. This presentation is
consistent with the practices of the container industry.

MOTE 2. SCOPE OF CONSOLIDATION

nate 2.1. CHANGES IN THE SCOPE OF CONSOLIDATION

Number of consolidated companies 2019 2018
French companies 5 5
Foreign companies 24 27
TOTAL 29 32
Of which perimeter entries

Of which perimeter exits 3 1

On 28 May 2019, the Touax Group, through its subsidiary Touax Africa, disposed of the shares it held in Touax Industrie Modulaire
Algérie, which has not been part of the Touax Group since that date.

In addition, the Group liquidated the companies Touax Cote d’Ivoire and Touax ROM as it no longer carried out any business.
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nate 2.2 LIST OF COMPANIES CONSOLIDATED IN 2019

. Geographical Percentage of Percentage Consolidation
Company name Activity area control of share method
TOUAX SCA Holding, parent company Europe
TOUAX CORPORATE SAS Services Europe 100% 100% FC*
TOUAX UK LIMITED Services Europe 100% 100% FC*
GOLD CONTAINER Corporation Containers North America 100% 100% FC*
TOUAX CONTAINER Asset Financing Ltd Containers Europe 100% 100% FC*
TOUAX CONTAINER Investment Ltd Containers Asia 100% 100% FC*
TOUAX CONTAINER Leasing Pte Ltd Containers Asia 100% 100% FC*
TOUAX CONTAINER SERVICES SAS Containers Europe 100% 100% FC*
TOUAX CORP Containers North America 100% 100% FC*
TOUAX CONTAINER FINANCING Pte Ltd Containers Asia 100% 100% FC*
TOUAX AFRICA SAS Modular Buildings Europe 51% 51% FC*
TOUAX Maroc Capital SARL Modular Buildings Africa 100% 51% FC*
TOUAX MAROC SARL Modular Buildings Africa 100% 51% FC*
RAMCO SARL Modular Buildings Africa 100% 51% FC*
CFCLTOUAX Llc Freight railcars North America 51% 51% FC*
SRF RAILCAR LEASING Ltd Freight railcars Europe 51% 51% FC*
TOUAX RAIL Ltd Freight railcars Europe 100% 100% FC*
TOUAX RAIL FINANCE Ltd Freight railcars Europe 100% 100% FC*
TOUAX RAIL FINANCE 2 Ltd Freight railcars Europe 100% 100% FC*
TOUAX RAIL FINANCE 3 Ltd Freight railcars Europe 52,03% 52,03% FC*
TOUAX RAIL INDIA Ltd Freight railcars Europe 78,03% 78,03% FC*
TOUAX RAILROMANIA SA Freight railcars Europe 57,50% 57,50% FC*
TOUAX TEXMACO RAILCAR LEASING Pte Ltd Freight railcars Asia 50% 39,02% FC*
CS DE JONGE BV River Barges Europe 100% 100% FC*
EUROBULK TRANSPORTMAATSCHAPPIJ BV River Barges Europe 100% 100% FC*
TOUAX RIVER BARGES SAS River Barges Europe 100% 100% FC*
TOUAX LEASING Corp River Barges North America 100% 100% FC*
TOUAX HYDROVIA Corp River Barges South America 100% 100% FC*
TOUAX HYDRO LEASE Corp River Barges South America 100% 100% FC*

*Full Consolidation
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MOTE3. SEGMENT INFORMATION

note 3.1. INCOME STATEMENT BY DIVISION

2019* Freight River . Miscellaneous

. . Containers .. Total
(in thousands of euros) railcars Barges & Eliminations
Leasing revenues on owned equipment 36 322 6227 7584 78 50211
Leasing revenues on managed equipment 13 842 48 981 62 823
Ancillary services 8220 5447 8262 (118) 21811
Total leasing activity 58384 11674 64 827 (40) 134845
Sales of owned equipment 1664 148 11683 13853 27 348
Margin on sales of managed equipment 4894 4894
Total sales of equipment activity 1664 148 16 577 13 853 32242
REVENUES 60 048 11 822 81404 13813 167 087
Fees on syndication 1076 391 1467
Capital gains or losses on disposals unrelated to recurring activities (1) 456 455
REVENUE FROM ACTIVITIES 61124 11 822 81794 14 269 169 009
Cost of sales of equipment (640) (25) (10 201) (11 778) (22 644)
Operating expenses (21 115) (5507) (6 245) (1 006) (33 873)
General and administrative expenses (10 735) (2787) (8 682) 2 (22 202)
GROSS OPERATING MARGIN (EBITDAR) 28 633 3502 56 666 1487 90 290
Net distributions to investors (5552) (47 840) (53 392)
EBITDA 23 081 3502 8 826 1487 36 898
Depreciation and impairments (13927) (2991) (3 545) (1300) (21 763)
Current operating income 9154 511 5281 187 15135
Other operating income and expenses
OPERATING INCOME 9154 511 5281 187 15135
Net financial expense (14 449)
Profit (loss) of investments in associates
CURRENT INCOME BEFORE TAXES 686
Income tax benefit (expense) (1 485)
Net income from retained activities (799)
Net income from discontinued activities (741)
GLOBAL CONSOLIDATED NET INCOME (1 540)
of which non-controlling interest (minority interests) in retained activities 1158

of which non-controlling interest (minority interests) in discontinued

activities

GROUP SHARE OF NET INCOME (2 698)
of which net income from retained activities (1957)
of which net income from discontinued activities (741)

(*) On the 1st of January 2019, IFRS 16 "Leasing contract" has been applied according to the simplified retrospective method.
As a consequence, the 2018 financial statements have not been restated, except for the separate presentation of the ancillary services
(see note 1.1).
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2018 Freight River ) Miscellaneous
. . Containers .. Total

(in thousands of euros) railcars Barges & Eliminations

Leasing revenues on owned equipment 33588 6478 4939 141 45 145
Leasing revenues on managed equipment 12574 59 592 72 167
Ancillary services 7 257 5959 3465 548 17 228
Total leasing activity 53419 12 437 67 996 688 134 540
Sales of owned equipment 2226 2 065 6537 6393 17 220
Margin on sales of managed equipment 1529 1529
Total sales of equipment activity 2226 2065 8 066 6393 18749
REVENUES 55 645 14 501 76 062 7081 153 289
Fees on syndication 687 310 997
Capital gains or losses on disposals unrelated to recurring activities 255 255
REVENUE FROM ACTIVITIES 56 332 14501 76 372 7336 154 541
Cost of sales of equipment (434) (1127) (5 800) (6 283) (13 644)
Operating expenses (18 296) (6 208) (8 300) (1151) (33955)
General and administrative expenses (9 435) (2 645) (7951) (3811) (23 842)
GROSS OPERATING MARGIN (EBITDAR) 28 167 4521 54 321 (3909) 83 100
Net distributions to investors (5293) (52 110) (57 403)
EBITDA 22 874 4521 2211 (3909) 25697
Depreciation and impairments (11 818) (2 668) (2 497) (758) (17 741)
Current operating income 11056 1853 (286) (4 667) 7 956
Other operating income and expenses 156 156
OPERATING INCOME 11 056 1853 (286) (4511) 8112
Net financial expense (10 243)
Profit (loss) of investments in associates

CURRENT INCOME BEFORE TAXES (2131)
Income tax benefit (expense) (475)
Net income from retained activities (2 606)
Net income from discontinued activities (955)
GLOBAL CONSOLIDATED NET INCOME (3561)
of which non-controlling interest (minority interests) in retained activities 597

of which non-controlling interest (minority interests) in discontinued

activities

GROUP SHARE OF NET INCOME (4 158)
of which net income from retained activities (3 203)
of which net income from discontinued activities (955)
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nate 3.2 BALANCE SHEET BY DIVISION

31 December 2019* Freight rail Ri o c . Miscellaneous
(in thousands of euros) reight railcars Vel ontainers & Eliminations
ASSETS
Goodwill 5101 5101
Intangible assets 494 20 165 35 714
Tangible assets 201 601 36 694 55152 3409 296 856
Right of use 173 13 429 547 1991 16 140
Long-term financial assets 1257 17 3771 205 5250
Other non-current financial assets 928 176 1104
Deferred tax assets
TOTAL non-current assets 209 554 50 336 59 635 5 640 325 165
Inventories and Work in Progress 30014 2 12170 1480 43 666
Trade receivables 7722 1023 16 032 3697 28 474
Other current financial assets 3112 731 404 6017 10 264
Cash and cash equivalents 39277 39277
TOTAL current assets 40 848 1756 28 606 50 471 121 681
TOTAL ASSETS 446 846
LIABILITIES
Share capital 56 092 56 092
Hybrid capital 50 161 50 161
Reserves (5791) (5791)
Income for the period, Group’s share (2 698) (2 698)
Shareholders' equity attributable to owners of the

, 97 764 97 764
Group's parent company
Non controlling interests (Minority interests) 33961 (8 640) 25321
Shareholders’ equity 89124 123 085
Loans and Financial liabilities 115 009 115 009
Long-term lease liabilities 11 097 11 097
Deferred tax liabilities 2616 2616
Pension and similar liabilities 39 52 348 439
Other long-term liabilities
TOTAL non-current liabilities 39 52 129 070 129 161
Provisions 95 95
Short-term lease liabilities 1895 1895
Borrowings and current bank facilities 123 585 123 585
Trade payables 9 086 819 2261 3933 16 099
Other current liabilities 12 294 641 33149 6842 52926
TOTAL current liabilities 21380 1460 35410 136 350 194 600
TOTAL LIABILITIES 446 846
Intangible & tangible investments, during the period 19 736 1568 10 687 155 32 146
Workforce by activity (FTE) 60 8 36 129 233

(*) On the 1st of January 2019, IFRS 16 "Leasing contract" has been applied according to the simplified retrospective method. As a consequence, the
2018 financial statements have not been restated, except for the separate presentation of the ancillary services (see note 1.1).
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Miscellaneous

e o —— Freight railcars River Barges Containers & Eliminations

ASSETS

Goodwill 5101 5101
Intangible assets 515 30 193 11 749
Tangible assets 203 799 46 076 34321 3976 288 172
Long-term financial assets 1195 113 3720 6114 11142
Other non-current financial assets 545 215 776 815 2352
Deferred tax assets 95 95
TOTAL non-current assets 211 155 46 434 39010 11011 307 611
Inventories and Work in Progress 24 139 2 40532 2511 67 184
Trade receivables 8288 1632 16 277 2911 29108
Other current financial assets 1062 589 1590 3015 6 255
Cash and cash equivalents 29 246 29 246
TOTAL current assets 33 489 2223 58 399 37 682 131794
TOTAL ASSETS 439 404
LIABILITIES

Share capital 56 092 56 092
Hybrid capital 50 161 50 161
Reserves 2962 2962
Income for the period, Group’s share (4 158) (4 158)
Shareholders' equity attributable to owners of the

Group's parent company 105 057 105 057
Non controlling interests (Minority interests) 32 207 (8 150) 24 057
Shareholders’ equity 96 907 129 114
Loans and Financial liabilities 168 972 168 972
Deferred tax liabilities 2114 2114
Pension and similar liabilities 31 38 284 353
Other long-term liabilities 543 543
TOTAL non-current liabilities 31 581 171 370 171 982
Provisions 504 504
Borrowings and current bank facilities 56 544 56 544
Trade payables 7 589 872 1928 3695 14 084
Other current liabilities 4100 676 54 533 7 867 67 176
TOTAL current liabilities 11 689 1548 56 461 68 610 138 308
TOTAL LIABILITIES 439 404
Intangible & tangible investments, during the period 18 040 634 3197 245 22 117
Workforce by activity (FTE) 59 8 40 139 246
nate 3.3. GEOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION

(in thousands of euros) International Europe N & S America Other TOTAL
2019

Revenue from activities 81671 69 135 2 844 15 359 169 009
Intangible and tangible investments 4117 22729 4 5296 32146
Non-current sectoral assets 8754 266 693 20672 29 046 325165
2018

Revenue from activities 76 259 67 372 3262 7 648 154 541
Intangible and tangible investments 3102 13653 5362 22117
Non-current sectoral assets 38 826 225 460 21482 21748 307 516
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NOTES REGARDING THE INCOME STATEMENT

MOTE 4. REVENUE FROM ACTIVITIES

Breakdown by type

(in thousands of euros) 2019 2018 Variation 2019/2018

Leasing revenues on owned equipment 50211 45 145 5066 11,2%
Leasing revenues on managed equipment 62 823 72167 (9 344) -12,9%
Ancillary services 21811 17 228 4583 26,6%
Total leasing activity 134 845 134 540 305 0,2%
Sales of owned equipment 27348 17 220 10128 58,8%
Margin on sales of managed equipment 4894 1529 3365 220,1%
Total sales of equipment activity 32242 18 749 13493 72,0%
REVENUES 167 087 153 289 13798 9,0%
Fees on syndication 1467 997 470 47,1%
Capital gains or losses on disposals unrelated to recurring activities 455 255 200 78,4%
REVENUE FROM ACTIVITIES 169 009 154 541 14 468 9,4%

Revenue from activities increased by €14.5 million (or +9.4%) from €154.5 million in 2018 to €169 million in 2019. On a constant
scope and currency basis, revenue from activities increased by 6.3%.
[l Leasing activity

Leasing activity includes leasing income, charter revenue, income from services associated with the leasing of equipment and financial
income from financial leases (€0.1 million in 2019 and 2018) in which the Group is a lessor.

Leasing activity increased by €0.3 million from €134.5 million in 2018 to €134.8 million in 2019, representing a +0.2% increase. The
change in leasing activity at constant exchange rate and scope of consolidation was -2.4% (appreciation of the average US dollar
rate): €1.1810in 2018, €1.1195 in 2019).

The Freight Railcar leasing activity increased by €5 million due to higher utilisation rates and leasing prices.

The River Barges division reported a decline in its leasing activity due to lower utilization rates in South America and a decrease in
ancillary services (chartering).

Leasing activity in the Container division was down 4.7% due to a reduction in the fleet (second-hand sales and end of hire-purchase
agreements in 2018), lower utilization rates and lower rental rates. On a constant currency basis, leasing revenues fell by 9.6 %. These
decreases impacted leasing revenues on managed equipment, which was offset by growth in leasing revenues on owned equipment
(investments made) and ancillary services (re-invoicing of repairs).

[l Sales of equipment activity
Equipment sales record sales of new or used equipment to end customers and sales commissions for investor-owned equipment.

Equipment sales increased by €13.5 million (or +72%), from €18.7 million in 2018 to €32.2 million in 2019.

[l Fees on syndication and Capital gains or losses on disposals unrelated to recurring activities

Fees on syndication and capital gains on disposals unrelated to recurring activities amounted to €1.9 million (including €1.5 million
syndication fees) compared to €1.3 million in 2018, an increase of €0.7 million.

MOTE 5. PURCHASES AND OTHER EXTERNAL EXPENSES

Purchases and other external expenses increased by €7.9 million or +14.3% in 2019. The cost of sales increased by €8.6 million, in the
same way as sales revenues. Other external services decreased by €0.9 million, mainly due to the application of IFRS 16 on lease
contracts (impact on EBITDA is €1.3 million) and expired container lease purchases. Decreases are offset by increased costs for car
repairs and overhauls.

MOTE&. STAFF COSTS

(in thousands of euros) 2019 2018 Variation 2019/2018
Salaries & social security contributions (15 826) (15931) 105 -0,7%
WORKFORCE (FTE) AS AT 31 DECEMBER 233 246 (13) -5,3%

In order to enable the employees of the French economic and social unit (which includes the companies TOUAX Corporate, TOUAX
Container Services and TOUAX River Barges) to share in the Group's performance, agreements were signed allowing amounts to be
paid to employees which they can invest in the Company Savings Plan. The formula adopted is the legal calculation formula. Half of
the amount is distributed in proportion to attendance time in the company during the financial year, and half is distributed in
proportion to the salary of each beneficiary during the financial year concerned. No profit share payments were made in 2019.
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MOTE Y. OTHER OPERATING INCOME AND EXPENSES

(in thousands of euros) 2019 2018 Variation 2019/2018
Other operating income 610 1409 (799) -56,7%
Other operating expenses (2 489) (7 800) 5311 -68,1%
TOTAL OTHER OPERATING INCOME AND EXPENSES (1879) (6391) 4512 -70,6%

In 2019, other operating income and expenses recorded a €2 million loss on bad debts. These receivables were provisioned and the
reversal of this provision is included in operating depreciation (see note 8).

In 2018, other operating income and expenses recorded a loss on bad debts of €7.5 million. These receivables were provisioned and
the reversal of this provision is included in operating depreciation (see note 8).

MOTES. OPERATING PROVISIONS

(in thousands of euros) 2019 2018 Variation 2019/2018
Reversals of operating depreciation 6 005 9008 (3003) -33,3%
Operating Depreciation (3988) (2 959) (1029) 34,8%
TOTAL OPERATING PROVISIONS 2017 6 049 (4 032) -66,7%

In 2019, reversals of operating provisions (net of bad debt write-downs) amounted to +€2 million.

In 2018, the reversal of net operating provisions amounted to +€6.1 million corresponding to reversals of net impairment on doubtful
receivables for +£5.9 million and inventory write-downs for +€0.2 million.

MOTE 9. NETDISTRIBUTIONS TO INVESTORS

Net distributions to investors are broken down by division as follows:

(in thousands of euros) 2019 2018 Variation 2019/2018
Freight railcars (5552) (5293) (259) 4,9%
Containers (47 840) (52110) 4270 -8,2%
TOTAL (53 392) (57 403) 4011 -7,0%

Net distributions to investors decreased by €4 million (-7%) from €57.4 million in 2018 to €53.4 million in 2019.

Net distributions to investors correspond to the variable payments of the net income of expenses and the management commission
of the assets belonging to investors who are managed by the Group and leased to its customers. The majority of managed assets are
containers. Containers are denominated in US dollars and leased in US dollars.

On a constant currency basis, distributions to investors decreased by €6.5 million or -3.3% due to the decrease in the fleet.

[ Freight Railcar
In 2019, the Group managed 2,145 railcars (equivalent to 2,757 platforms) in Europe and the United States on behalf of third parties,
compared with 1,949 railcars (2,528 platforms) in 2018.

[l  Containers

At 31 December 2019, the Group managed 376,056 CEUs for third parties, compared with 432,348 CEUs at 31 December 2018. The
decrease in distribution to investors is explained by the reduction in the fleet of containers under management, following the disposal
of older containers.

MOTE 10. DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENTS

(in thousands of euros) 2019 2018 Variation 2019/2018
Allocation for depreciation and impairment of assets (20 125) (17 130) (2995)
Amortization of rights of use (1597) (607) (990)
Depreciation allocations (21 722) (17 737) (3 985) 22,5%
Other provisions (41) (4) (37)
TOTAL (21763) (17 741) (4 022) 22,7%

In 2019, provisions for depreciation and asset impairments amounted to €21.8 million, an increase of €4 million. This increase is
explained by investments made in the Containers division and by the depreciation of overhauls and spare parts capitalization in the
Freight Railcar division.

The allocations included €1.6 million of depreciation on right to use leases, following the application of IFRS 16 “Leases”.

In 2018, provisions for depreciation and asset impairments amounted to €17.7 million.

MOTE 11. OTHER OPERATING INCOME AND EXPENSES

In 2019, there are no other operating income and expenses.

In 2018, other operating income and expenses amounted to €0.2 million due to the compensation of tax audit liability guarantees in
Morocco.
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MOTE 12. FINANCIAL PROFIT OR LOSS

(in thousands of euros) 2019 2018 Variation 2019/2018
Income in cash and cash equivalent 38 20

Interest charges on financing operations (11 884) (10 081)

Gross cost of financial debt (11 884) (10 081)

Net cost of financial debt (11 846) (10 061) (1785) 17,7%
Gains and losses related to the discharge of debts (1883) (228)

Dividends received 19

Interest paid on leases (366)

Discounted financial income and expenses 43 3

Other financial income and expenses (416) 43

Other financial income and expenses (2 603) (182) (2421) 1330,2%
FINANCIAL PROFIT/LOSS (14 449) (10 243) (4 206) 41,1%

Net financial charges increased by €4.2 million (+41.1%), up from €10.2 million in 2018 to €14.4 million in 2019.
The net financial expense is broken down into the cost of net financial debt and other financial income and expenses.

- The cost of borrowing increased by €1.8 million between the two periods, explained by new financing in the Containers and
Corporate divisions and by an increase in interest rates (calculated on average debt) in the Containers and Freight Railcar
divisions.

- Other financial income and expenses increased by €2.4 million.

The other financial income and expenses included an exceptional foreign exchange loss of €1.2 million on intra-group loans in
USD, which was not offset by a foreign exchange hedge with Monex Europe Markets Ltd, a UK broker licensed and regulated
by the FCA in the United Kingdom.

The variation is explained also by a €0.4 million increase in income from GBP exchange transactions in the Freight Railcar
division, and a change in other financial income and expenses of -€0.4 million (ORNANE fair value, waiver fees, commission for
non-use).

Interest on rental debts amounts to €0.4 million, of which €0.1 million on operating leases and €0.3 million on finance leases.

MOTE 13. TAXES ON PROFITS

note 13.1. ANALYSIS OF THE TAX CHARGE RECOGNISED IN THE INCOME STATEMENT

Taxes on profits consist of taxes currently payable by Group companies and deferred tax arising from tax losses and temporary
discrepancies between consolidated income shown in the Group’s Financial Statements and income established for tax purposes.
The Group has opted for the tax consolidation system in the United States, France and the Netherlands and has formed the following
groups:

- TOUAX Corp. and Gold Container Corp. : American tax group;
- TOUAX SCA, TOUAX Container Services SAS, TOUAX Corporate SAS and TOUAX River Barges SAS: French tax group;
- Eurobulk Transport Maatschappij BV and CS de Jonge BV: Dutch tax group.

note 13.1.1. BREAKDOWN OF THE INCOME TAX

Income tax expenses accounted for as profit/loss for the year amounted to €1.5 million (compared with €0.5 million in 2018). It is
broken down as follows:

2019
(in thousands of euros) Current  Deferred Current Deferred
Europe (52) (609) (661) 794 (522) 272
USA 4 4 (55) (45) (100)
Other (807) (21) (828) (682) 35 (647)
TOTAL (859) (626) (1 485) 57 (532) (475)

note 13.1.2. RECONCILIATION BETWEEN THE GROUP’S THEORETICAL TAX CHARGE AND THE TAX CHARGE ACTUALLY
RECOGNISED

(in thousands of euros) 2019 2018
Current net income before global tax (55) (2131)
Theoretical tax at the current French rate of taxation 28,00% 15 597
Restrictions on deferred tax items (1339) (2915)
Temporary differences 259 (174)
Permanent differences and other elements (2 338) 647
New losses during the period

Current benefit of earlier losses 247 1163
Differencein tax rate 1671 207
EFFECTIVE TAX INCOME -2700,00% (1485) (475)
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Outstanding deferred tax assets in France not included in the accounts are estimated at €31.9 million. Outstanding deferred tax
assets in the Netherlands not recognised in the accounts are estimated at €1.3 million for the River Barges division.

note 13.2. TAXES RECOGNISED DIRECTLY IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Deferred tax effects of swaps and futures net investment revaluations are included as shareholders’ equity.

(in thousands of euros) 2018 Equity variation 2019
Redeemable stock warrants (54) (54)
Valuation of swaps 49 30 79
Revaluation of netinvestments

TOTAL (5) 30 25

note 13.3. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

The deferred tax position is as follows:

(in thousands of euros) 2019 2018
Deferred tax assets 95
Deferred tax liability (2 616) (2114)
TOTAL (2616) (2019)

Net deferred tax liabilities are broken down as follows:

(in thousands of euros) 2019 2018
Impairment of fixed assets and restatement of lease (19 468) (23 092)
Deferred losses 16 966 22021
Discounted financial fixed assets (13) (1)
Other (101) (947)
NET BALANCE (2616) (2019)

MOTE 14. NET INCOME FROM DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

Net income from discontinued operations resulted in a price adjustment of €572 thousand (provisioned for €331 thousand at 31
December 2018), and legal fees (see note 33.2).

MOTE 15. NET INCOME PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the company’s net income by the weighted mean number of shares in circulation
during the financial year. The shares held by the company are deducted.

Diluted income per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted mean number of shares in circulation so as to take account of the
conversion of all the Shareholders' equity instruments that could dilute this figure. At 31 December 2019 the Group had no potentially
dilutive shareholders' equity instruments.

2019 2018

Net income in euros (2 697 896) (4 158 368)
Shares in circulation at 31 December 7011547 7011547
Weighted average number of shares in circulation 7 002 819 7 002 362
Potential number of shares

- ORNANE 2015

Weighted mean number of shares for calculating diluted income per share 7 002 819 7 002 362

NET INCOME PER SHARE
- basic (0,39) (0,59)
- diluted (0,39) (0,59)
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NOTES RELATING TO THE BALANCE SHEET

ASSETS
MOTE 16. GOODWILL

Changes in goodwill were as follows:

Conversion Shaectinihe

(in thousands of euros) 2018 Decreases scope of

adjustment A
consolidation

Freight Railcar

SRF Railcar Leasing Ltd 547 547
Touax Rail Limited 4554 4554
TOTAL 5101 5101

No change in Goodwill was recorded in 2019.

[l Impairment tests

Impairment tests have been carried out for each cash-generating unit (CGU) for which goodwill is presented in the accounts. The
recoverable value is based on the unit’s value in use, equal to the amount of future cash flows, discounted using the weighted average
cost of capital. Future cash flows are based on three-year forecasts and a terminal value estimated on the basis of forecast cash flows.

The table below describes the main assumptions for the CGUs presenting goodwill:

Value of

associated 2018 discount Indefinite growth 2019 discount Indefinite growth

(in thousands of euros) ) rate rate 2018 rate rate 2019
goodwill

Freight Railcar 5101 7,28% 1,90% 7,28% 1,90%
TOTAL 5101

The discount rates used are the weighted average cost of capital (WACC) estimated for each activity.

The growth rate used of 1.9% corresponds to the internal growth objectives for the European zone of the Freight Railcar division
based on the rate of inflation.

Analyses of the sensitivity of the recoverable value to a possible change in a key assumption (including variation of +/-50 base points
in the discount rate; change of +/- 50 base points in the growth rate to infinity and variation of +/-5% of the projected cash flows
included in the terminal value) were performed on the CGU presenting an asset with an indefinite useful life.

Sensitivity analysis showed that a change of 50 base points in discount rates or growth rates or 5% in projected cash-flows would not
result in the inclusion of an impairment in Group consolidated financial statements at 31 December 2019.

Sensitivity of the recoverable value according to a +/- 50 base point change in the rates applied:
Rate sensitivity Flow level sensitivity

Change in future cash flows from

Discount rate Indefinite growth rate .
terminal value

(in thousands of euros)

+50 bp -50 bp +50 bp - 50 bp +5%
Freight Railcar (29 339) 35360 32054 (26 622) 14919 (14 919)

MOTE 17. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Reclassifications

Allocations Exchange X
Purchases Disposals during the rate and changes in the
- scope of
(in thousands of euros) Ead variations consolidation
Freight Railcar 515 (18) (3) 494
River Barges 30 (10) 1 21
Containers 193 4 (1) (120) 1 89 166
Other 11 8 (6) 20 33
TOTAL 749 12 (1) (154) (1) 109 714

Intangible assets mainly record licences and software.
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MOTE 1B. TANGIBLE ASSETS

note 18.1. BREAKDOWN BY TYPE

2019 2018
(in thousands of euros) Gross value Deprec. Net value Net value
Land and buildings 5377 (2 536) 2841 3099
Equipment 395327 (107 646) 287 681 281379
Other tangible assets 8403 (7 696) 707 1036
Tangible assets (WIP) 5627 5627 2 658
TOTAL 414734 (117 878) 296 856 288 172

note 18.2. CHANGES BY TYPE

Reclassifications

IFRS 16 and changes in

(in thousands of euros) Purchases Disposals Exchange restatements the scope of
consolidation

Land and buildings 5431 7 (153) 92 5377
Equipment 383293 28 502 (20 830) 1136 (18 131) 21357 395 327
Other tangible assets 8 200 271 (23) 66 (62) (49) 8403
Tangible assets (WIP) 2 658 3354 (65) (320) 5627
TOTAL (GROSS VALUES) 399 582 32134 (21 006) 1229 (18 193) 20988 414 734
Land and buildings (2332) (320) 153 (37) (2 536)
Equipment (101 914) (19 679) 7 985 (181) 5751 392 (107 646)
Other tangible assets (7 164) (507) 23 (61) 3 10 (7 696)
Tangible assets (WIP)
TOTAL (AMORTIZATION) (111 410) (20 506) 8161 (279) 5754 402 (117 878)
Land and buildings 3099 (313) 55 2 841
Equipment 281379 8823 (12 845) 955 (12 380) 21749 287 681
Other tangible assets 1036 (236) 5 (59) (39) 707
Tangible assets (WIP) 2 658 3354 (65) (320) 5627
TOTAL (NET VALUES) 288 172 11628 (12 845) 950 (12 439) 21390 296 856

Acquisitions concern Freight Railcar activity for €19.7 million, in River Barges activity for €1.6 million and Container activity for €10.7
million.

Disposals (gross value) relate to the Freight Railcar activity for €16.2 million, River Barges activity for €2.1 million and Container
activity for €2.5 million.

The Group's tangible assets are made up of leasing equipment (freight railcar, river barges and containers). Unit values of freight
railcar range from €10,000 for used 60-ft railcars to €125,000 for new, articulated intermodal railcars (106-ft). The unit values of river
barges range from €150,000 for used barges (1,700-ton), to over €1 million for new barges (2,800-ton). The unit values of containers
(20 feet) do not generally exceed $2,500.

MOTE 19. RIGHT OF USE

Leased assets have changed as follows (2018 data corresponds to assets accounted for under IAS 17 finance leases):

Right of use Vehicles and

(in thousands of euros) Real estate Barges copiers

Amount at 01/01/2018 13 048 378 13 426
Increases 62 62
Depreciation (668) (3) (671)
Reclassifications (378) (378)
Amount at 31/12/2018 12 439
Capitalization of leases 2762 320 3082
Increases 371 6 051 132 6 554
Reductions (4 339) (4 339)
Depreciation (741) (723) (6) (127) (1597)
Exchange rate fluctuations 1 1
Amount at 31/12/2019 2 392 13 368 54 326 16 141
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The table below presents the right of use by sector and by type:

Right of use 2019
(in thousands of euros) Gross value Amort. Net value
Freight Railcars Division 187 (13) 173
Property lease 187 (13) 173
River Barges Division 17 830 (4 401) 13 429
Property lease 61 (17) 43
Property leases on barges 17 746 (4 378) 13 369
Property leases on vehicles 23 (6) 17
Containers Division 759 (211) 547
Property leases 649 (183) 466
Property leases on vehicles and copiers 109 (28) 81
Africa Modular Constructions Division 315 (70) 245
Property leases on equipment 63 (9) 54
Property leases on vehicles 252 (61) 191
Corporate Division 2304 (558) 1745
Property lease 2235 (526) 1709
Property leases on vehicles and copiers 68 (32) 36
TOTAL 21394 (5 254) 16 140

MOTE 20. FINANCIAL ASSET INSTRUMENTS

[l Fair value of financial asset instruments

Financial assets valued at fair value by the corresponding income consist mainly of negotiable securities, which are carried at fair
value. Long-term financial assets are discounted at the rate for risk-free lending (government bonds). The effects of financial
instruments on income are shown in note 25.5 below.

Financial risk management policy is described in note 34.

Both swaps and cash and cash equivalents are valued at their fair value. For trade receivables, the book value is used for the fair
value, as these credits are all very short term.

Other non-current financial assets are valued at their depreciated cost calculated using the effective interest rate.

Other non-current financial assets and other non-current fixed assets undergo impairment tests on the basis of the estimated future
income streams.
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mote 20.1. NON-CURRENT FINANCIAL ASSETS
Financial asset at fair value

(in thousands of euros)

Opening total 900 900
Conversion adjustment 3
Closing total 903 900

Other Non Current financial assets - Gross value

(in thousands of euros)

Opening total 10242 9010
Increases 67 2741
Decreases (2 734) (1 635)
Conversion adjustment 72 125
Other changes (3 300) 1

Closing total 4347 10 242

Other Non Current financial assets - Depreciation by result 2019 2018

(in thousands of euros)

Opening total (135)
Conversion adjustment 135
Other changes

Closing total

Other Non Current financial assets - Net value

(in thousands of euros)

Opening total 10 242 8 875
Closing total 4 347 10 242
TOTAL Long-term financial assets 5250 11142

I Financial asset at fair value

The Touax Group has a residual stake in the capital of TXRF4 (railcar asset company) for €0.9 million, or less than 3% of the capital.

[0l Other non-current financial assets

Other non-current financial assets mainly consisting of government securities for €3.5 million and other securities for the balance.
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note 20.2. OTHER NON-CURRENT FINANCIAL ASSETS

Finance lease receivables - Gross value 2019 2018

(in thousands of euros)

Opening total 289 563
Increases 72
Decreases (115) (353)
Conversion adjustment 2 7

Closing total 176 289

Finance lease receivables - Impairment in income statement 2019 2018

(in thousands of euros)
Opening total

Closing total

Finance lease receivables - Net value 2019 2018
(in thousands of euros)

Opening total 289 563
Closing total 176 289

Derivatives asset instruments at fair value

(in thousands of euros)

Opening total 815
Changein fair value (841) 1019
Other changes 26 (204)

Closing total 815

Trade receivables - Gross value 2019 2018

(in thousands of euros)

Opening total 1248 3453
Increases 431 111
Decreases (68) (69)
Conversion adjustment 6 47
Other changes (689) (2 294)

Closing total 928 1248

Trade receivables - Impairment loss 2019 2018

(in thousands of euros)
Opening total

Closing total

Trade receivables - Net value 2019 2018
(in thousands of euros)

Opening total 1248 3453
Closing total 928 1248
TOTAL Other non-current financial assets 1104 2 352

The Group’s assets include assets held under hire-purchase agreements, in which it acts as lessor, amounting to a net book value of
€0.3 million (€0.2 million in other non-current assets and €0.1 million in other current assets) and a historical cost of €1.4 million.

. Updated minimum
Future payments (min.)

(in thousands of euros) future payments
For less than one year 145 116
Between one and five years 233 176
Over five years

TOTAL 378 292
Present value adjustment, finance leases 86

UPDATED MINIMUM FUTURE PAYMENTS 292 292
Presentation of finance lease credits in the Balance Sheet

Other current assets 116
Other non-current assets 176
TOTAL 292

The interest rate applied to hire-purchase contracts is determined on the day the contract is signed. The average rate of interest used
was 8.7% at 31 December 2019. The interest income from hire-purchase contracts is recorded under leasing revenues (€0.1 million
in 2019 and in 2018).
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[ EBITDA

For the Group, EBITDA corresponds to recurring operating income restated for depreciation and provisions. EBITDA is a non-
accounting concept but is particularly used by financial analysts, investors and other users of financial statements to measure the
operational performance of the activity. Users of the Group’s Financial Statements would find the restated EBITDA shown below to
be a better measure of this performance.

[0l Restated EBITDA

Restated EBITDA is EBITDA plus capital repayments of the net investment in hire-purchase granted to customers, amounting to €0.3
million at 31 December 2019.

(in thousands of euros) Freight Railcar River Barges Containers

EBITDAR (gross operating margin) 28 463 3502 56 666 1490 90121
Net distributions to investors (5552) (47 840) (53 392)
EBITDA 22911 3502 8 826 1490 36 729
Prm_cnpal payments of finance-lease receivables 78 915 993
received

Restated EBITDA 22911 3580 9041 1490 37 022

MOTE 21. INVENTORIES AND WORK IN PROGRESS

Inventories and WIP include equipment to be sold as well as spare parts. The equipment is mainly intended to be sold to investors
under asset management programs.

2019 2018
(in thousands of euros) Gross value Prov. Net value Change Net value
Equipment 18 327 (114) 18 213 (26 693) 44 906
Spare parts 25453 25453 3175 22278
TOTAL 43 780 (114) 43 666 (23 518) 67 184

The inventory of the Freight Railcar division holds spare parts stocks of €24.5 million and railcars for €5.2 million.
The inventory of containers corresponds to about 8,300 CEUs worth a total of €12.2 million.
The Modular Buildings business in Africa has an inventory of goods or goods in production worth €0.5 million and raw materials worth

€1 million.

MOTE 22. RECEIVABLES AND RELATED ACCOUNTS

Trade receivables - Gross value 2019 2018

(in thousands of euros)

Opening total 38 041 43 957
Change (3 069) (9302)
Conversion adjustment 434 1045
Other changes 166 2342

CLOSING TOTAL 35572 38 041

Trade receivables - Impairment in income statement 2019 2018

(in thousands of euros)

Opening total (8 933) (14 382)
Increases (3 900) (2 908)
Decreases 5816 8 668
Conversion adjustment (81) (264)
Other changes (47)

CLOSING TOTAL (7 098) (8 933)

Trade receivables - Net value 2019 2018

(in thousands of euros)

Opening total 29 108 29 575

CLOSING TOTAL 28474 29108

On first booking, trade receivables are recognised at their fair value which corresponds to their nominal value. At 31 December 2019,
outstanding customer receivables totalled €28.5 million on the balance sheet. This is a reasonable estimate of the fair value.

The average duration of customer credit is 51 days. The average duration of customer credit was 57 days in 2018.

Before a new customer is accepted, the Group checks its solvency with credit rating agencies and determines the applicable credit
limits.
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At 31 December 2019 the Group recorded net overdue receivables of €10.3 million, the vast majority of which is outstanding for less
than six months.

Aged balance 2019

Trade receivables,

(in thousands of euros) — Depreciation Trade receivables
Unmatured 18 192 (63) 18129
0 - 6 months 8477 (1236) 7 241
6 -12 months 1353 (686) 667
> 1 year 7 550 (5113) 2437
TOTAL 35572 (7 098) 28474

MOTE 23. OTHER CURRENT FINANCIAL ASSETS

(in thousands of euros) 2019 2018
Deferred expenses 707 1082
Taxes 5107 4109
Finance leasing receivables of less than one year 116 289
Other 4334 775
TOTAL 10 264 6 255

Taxes and Duties are mainly made up of VAT at the end of period.
Other current assets are all recoverable within one year.

MOTE 24. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents

2019 2018
(in thousands of euros)
Investments of less than three months 1008 1004
of which, Negotiable securities
Cash 38 269 28 242
CLOSING TOTAL 39 277 29 246

The balances of cash and cash equivalents shown on the Group's balance sheet at 31 December 2019 include €16.2 million in cash
unavailable for Group daily cash management. This balance corresponds largely to €3.3 million of contractual reserves on asset
financing companies, and €12.6 million due to the cash flow of companies not 100% owned.

MOTE 25. FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Non-current and current financial liabilities are classed as “Borrowings and Financial Debts” and “Borrowings and Current Bank
Facilities”. Lease liabilities are no longer included in liabilities since the application of IFRS 16 on 1 January 2019 (see note 26).

note 25.1.  ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY

2019
(in thousands of euros) Non- Current Non- Current
current current

Bonds 26282 781 27 063 16 402 24 275 40 677
Medium/long-term loans with recourse 41585 10 965 52 550 5677 7912 13589
Finance-lease commitments with recourse (1) 2541 3754 6295
Renewable lines of credit with recourse 3000 3000 2000 2000
Debts without recourse 47 142 107 285 154 427 144 351 15362 159713
Bank overdrafts payable with recourse 597 597 1902 1902
Bank overdrafts payable without recourse 107 107 487 487
Derivative instruments with recourse

Derivative instruments without recourse 850 850 853 853
TOTAL FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 115 009 123 585 238 594 168 972 56 544 225516

(1) At 31 December 2019, finance lease commitments are recognized as lease liabilities (excluding borrowings), following the application of IFRS
16.

Non-recourse debts are not guaranteed by the Group's parent company TOUAX SCA. This relates to:

. Asset financing is not guaranteed by the parent company TOUAX SCA. Debt must be serviced by the income generated from
the assets financed (from leasing income and sale proceeds);
. Financing is granted to consolidated subsidiaries even if not wholly owned by the Group.

According to IAS 7, changes in net financial debt are presented in the table below:
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Non cash "variations"

Ch i Exch
2019 anges n xenange Fair value Other Total .
scope of rate . N . Closing
. w - changes variations "Non cash
(in thousands of euros) consolidation  effects
Bonds 40677 (13 407) (281) 74 (206) 27 063
Medium/long-term loans with recourse 13589 38 407 259 295 554 52550
Finance-lease commitments with recourse (1) 6 295 1 (6296) (6 295) 0
Renewable lines of credit with recourse 2 000 1000 3000
Debts without recourse 159 713 (6 491) 612 593 1205 154427
Derivative instruments with and without 353 (30) 26 3) 850
recourse
Subtotal 223 127 19 509 872 (311) (5307) (4 745) 237 891
Bank overdrafts payable with and without 5389 (1371) (316) ) (314) 704
recourse
Total financial liabilities 225516 18 138 (316) 874 (311) (5307) (5059) 238594

(1) At 31 December 2019, finance lease commitments are recognized as lease liabilities (excluding borrowings), following the application of
IFRS 16.

Non cash "variations'

e . Net cash Exchange Fair value Other Total .
Opening rate . Closing
flow changes variations "Non cash"

(in thousands of euros) effects

Bonds 30038 9536 428 675 1103 40677
Medium/long-term loans with recourse 15918 (2961) 608 24 632 13 589
Finance-lease commitments with recourse 7947 (1653) 1 1 6295
Renewable lines of credit with recourse 23697 (475) (21 222) (21 222) 2000
Debts without recourse 131 242 5237 1428 21 806 23234 159 713
Derivative instruments with and without recourse 979 (2) 79 (203) (124) 853
Subtotal 209 821 9 682 2038 507 1081 3623 223127
Bank overdrafts payable with and without recourse 1101 1269 19 19 2 389
Total financial liabilities 210922 10950 2 056 507 1081 3642 225516

IFRS 7.8 defines the following categories of financial instruments:

At 31 December 2019

Consolidated

Financial liabilities categories X K Measured at . . diff. with fair
. financial X % diff. Sensitivity: +1%
(in thousands of euros) fair value value
statements
Financial liabilities valued at depreciated cost 237 744 244011 2,64% 241 304 -1,11%
Financial liabilities valued at fair value 850 850 0,00% 0,00%
TOTAL 238 594 244 861 2,63% 241 304 -1,45%

At 31 December 2018

Consolidated

Financial liabilities categories X K Measured at . diff. with fair
, financial X Sensitivity: +1%
(in thousands of euros) fair value value
statements
Financial liabilities valued at depreciated cost 201 382 203 278 0,94% 202 024 -0,62%
Financial liabilities valued at fair value 24 134 24134
TOTAL 225516 227 412 0,84% 202 024 -11,16%

As indicated in note 1.17.3, financial liabilities are valued at their depreciated cost using the effective interest rate method, with the
exception of redeemable bonds (ORNANE) fully repaid at the end of September 2019. To value at fair value, the level used is level 3.

Applying the fair value principle would value financial liabilities at €244.9 million, using the average rate of fixed-rate debt at 31
December 2019.

The fair value of fixed-rate debt is determined for each borrowing by discounting future cash-flows. The discount rate used is the
average rate of fixed-rate debt considered representative of the financing rate for the Group's risk class in the absence of listed
securities (credit derivatives or bond yields).

The net book value of variable-rate debt (both long-term and short-term) provides a reasonable approximation of their fair value.

Derivative liabilities are assessed using the values obtained from first-rate financial institutions.
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note 25.2. BREAKDOWN BY DUE DATE OF CONTRACTUAL LOAN PAYMENTS AT 31 DECEMBER 2019

(in thousands of euros) 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 +5 years TOTAL
Bond loans without recourse 781 1 16 282 10 000 27063
Medium/long-term loans with recourse 10965 264 287 287 38272 2474 52550
Revolving loans and other debts with recourse 3597 3597
Debts without recourse 108 242 4490 3816 30923 1819 6 094 155 384
TOTAL CAPITAL FLOW ON LOANS 123 585 4754 4104 47 492 40 091 18 567 238 594
Future interest flow on loans 8 849 8412 6163 5938 5313 4359 39033
TOTAL FLOW ON LOANS 132434 13 166 10 267 53431 45 404 22 926 277 627

Future interest payable on variable rate loans is estimated based on the interest rates applicable at 31 December 2019.

Borrowing maturities include the regular annual depreciation of loans up to their extension and the depreciation of certain loans. At
31 December 2019, the total for lines to be renewed in 2020 is €113.1 million. To ensure its ability to repay these debts in fine, the
Group particularly monitors the loan-to-value ratio and the amounts of assets to be refinanced or that are free of finance which
enable it to refinance these lines.

Work is already underway to refinance these lines, as specified in note 34.3

note 25.3. COMMITMENTS AND SPECIFIC CLAUSES OF THE LOANS

The default clauses on non-compliance with financial ratios (financial covenants) of recourse debts concern medium-term bank and
obligatory loans (€PP). They entitle credit institutions and/or investors to insist on early repayment if the terms of these are not met.
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The financial covenants calculated on the Group's consolidated financial statements are presented in the following table:

Touax Hydrovia

Borrower Corp Touax SCA Touax SCA Touax SCA

Type of facility bilateral Private Euro Placement Private Euro Placement Loan

Period and issue 7 year long-term L

mode redeemable debt 5 years in fine 5 years and 6 months 5 years

Maximum amount $22.3m €16.6m €10m €40m

Outstanding

31/12/2019 11.2 m USD €16.6m €10m €40m
TOUAX SCA consolidated financial consolidated financial

Scope of calculation

consolidated
financial statements

statements
TOUAX SCA

statements
TOUAX SCA

TOUAX SCA consolidated

financial statements

Gearing (net
financial debt with
recourse/sharehold
ers' equity)

Below 1.9

Loan to Value

less than or equal to 70%

less than or equal to 70%

less than or equal to 70%

Interest Coverage
(restated EBITDA
after distribution /
Net financial
expenses)

greater than 1.5

greater than or equal to 2

greater than or equal to 2

greater than or equal to 2

Asset Valuation
Ratio (FMV/NBV)

greater than 1.0 (annual)

Net Leverage Ratio
(net financial

less than or equal to 7.5

debt/restated (semi-annual)
Ebitda)
Frequency of
covenant Semi-annual Annual Annual Semi-annual / Annual
calculations
Loan maturity date 30/06/2020 31/07/2023 01/02/2025 21/06/2024
ki f
Guarantees package o no no package of guarantees
guarantees

Cross-default
clauses

default on a debt
greater than €5
million within the
scope of calculation

default on a debt greater
than €5 million within the
scope of calculation

default on a debt greater
than €5 million within the
scope of calculation

default on a debt greater
than €5 million within the

scope of calculation

Financing of assets and acquisitions borne by dedicated companies also include financial covenants that may result in compulsory
prepayment of the loans concerned.

Financial covenants calculated on the Group's consolidated financial statements were honoured as at 31 December 2019.

Within the legal documentation, clauses requiring control of the Group by the WALEWSKI family have also been included.

Note that the TOUAX Group has no official financial credit rating and that in the financing agreements there is no advanced repayment
clause which could be triggered by a lower credit rating.
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note 25.4. ANALYSIS OF THE INDEBTEDNESS

Consolidated net financial debt is as follows:

(in thousands of euros) 2019 2018

Financial liabilities 238 594 225516
Active Derivative Instruments 815
Negotiable securities & other investments 1008 1004
Liquid assets 38 269 28 242
CONSOLIDATED NET FINANCIAL DEBT 199 317 195 455
Debt without recourse 155 384 161 053
FINANCIAL INDEBTEDNESS EXCLUDING DEBT WITHOUT RECOURSE 43 933 34 402

Recourse debt corresponds to asset financing for which TOUAX SCA does not collateralize. The lenders are secured primarily by the
assets being financed and their underlying leasing contracts.

[l Financial liabilities broken down by currency

(in thousands of euros) 2019 2018
Euro (EUR) 154 116 143 009
US dollar (USD) 51037 49 345
Pound (GBP) 18 484 19371
Other 14 956 13791
TOTAL 238 594 225516
[l Breakdown of gross debit by fixed rate — variable rate (including hedging instruments)
Breakdown before cover:
(in thousands of euros) 2019 2018
Fixed rate 95 853 75 135
Variable rate 142 740 150 380
TOTAL 238 594 225516
Breakdown after cover:
(in thousands of euros) 2019 2018
Fixed rate 188 028 181 889
Variable rate 50 566 43 627
238 594 225516

TOTAL

[l  Average rate of gross debt by currency

2019 2018

Average debt rate in Euro (EUR) 4,27% 3,55%
Average debtrate in US dollar (USD) 4,95% 5,30%
Average debt rate in pounds (GBP) 3,98% 4,04%
Average debt rate in other currencies 8,72% 8,13%
AVERAGE RATE OF OVERALL GROSS DEBT 4,68% 4,26%
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note 25.5. EFFECT OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS ON NET INCOME

Financial assets Financial
(€ thousands) measured at instruments at

amortized cost fair value
Dividends received 19 19
Financial expenses (11 884) 192 (11 692)
Financial charges on rental contracts (366) (366)
Effect on income (12 250) 211 (12 039)
Currency gain/loss (1 883)
Effect of present value adjustment, 43
Earnings from cash deposits 38
Other (609)
FINANCIAL PROFIT OR LOSS (14 450)

Financial assets Financial
(€ thousands) measured at instruments at

amortized cost fair value
Financial expenses (10 043) 157 (9 886)
Effect on income (10 043) 157 (9 886)
Currency gain/loss (227)
Effect of present value adjustment, 3
Earnings from cash deposits 20
Other (153)
FINANCIAL PROFIT OR LOSS (10 243)

MOTE 26. LEASE LIABILITIES

[l Lease liabtilities by segment and by type

The table below presents the lease liability by segment and by type:

Lease liabilities

(in thousands of euros) Non current Current
Freight Railcars Division 152 24 176
Property lease 152 24 176
River Barges Division 9290 1050 10339
Property lease 27 17 44
Property leases on barges 9251 1027 10278
Property leases on vehicles 11 6 17
Containers Division 344 215 560
Property leases 297 180 478
Property leases on vehicles and copiers 47 35 82
Africa Modular Constructions Division 137 91 228
Property leases on equipment 12 22 34
Property leases on vehicles 125 69 194
Corporate Division 1173 515 1689
Property lease 1158 494 1652
Property leases on vehicles and copiers 15 21 36
TOTAL 11 097 1895 12 992

[l Breakdown by due date of lease liability

Future payments relating to lease debts are broken down by due date as follows:

(in thousands of euros) 2019
Less than a year 1895
From 1 to 5 years 5752
More than 5 years 5345
TOTAL 12 992
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[0l Variation in lease liabilities according to IAS 7

As per IAS 7, variations to lease liability are presented in the table below:

2019

Net cash Exchange rate

Opening flow

(in thousands of euros)

"non-cash" variations

Total

Other variations " "
non cash

effects Closing

Real estate leases (782) (2) 3134 3132 2350
Equipment leases for barges and other equipment (919) 11231 11231 10312
Equipment leases for vehicles and copiers (123) 453 453 330
Total lease liabilities (1824) (2) 14 818 14 816 12 992

MOTE 27. SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

Details of Shareholders’ Equity are given in the Schedule of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity.

[0l Management of capital

The Group’s objective in managing its Shareholders' equity is to maximise the company’s value by arranging for an optimal capital
structure that minimises the cost of capital and ensures the best possible return to shareholders.

The Group manages its borrowing structure by optimising its debt/shareholders' equity ratio in the light of changes in economic
conditions, its own objectives, and management of its risks. It assesses its working capital requirements and its expected return on
investment, in order to control its financing requirements. Depending on the growth of its market and expectations of managed
assets’ profitability, the Group decides whether to issue new equity or to sell assets to reduce its debt.

The Group uses its gearing ratio as an indicator for managing its debt/shareholders' equity ratio. This ratio corresponds to the net

debt with and without recourse divided by Shareholders’ Equity. The debt/equity ratios are as follows:

(in thousands of euros) 2019
Debts with recourse 83 210
Debts without recourse 155 384
Total shareholders’ equity 123 085
Debt ratio (excluding debt without recourse) 0,68
Debt ratio of debt without recourse 1,26
DEBT RATIO 1,94

[0l Hybrid securities

The Group made two issues of Undated Super Subordinated Notes (TSSDI) in 2013 and another in 2014, constituting a single stub to
the amount of €50.8 million. The Group will have the option to pay them back at par value from August 2019. The Group did not
exercise the option to repurchase the instrument on 01/08/2019. Since then, the Group has had an option to buy every 3 months. In
addition, the coupon is quarterly at variable rate since then (01/08/2019). The payment of the coupon depends on the payment of a
dividend by the parent company. In accordance with IFRS standards, these securities are recognised as capital stock. This financial
instrument enhances the structure of the Group's balance sheet when considering the lifetime of the Group's assets and its business
development financing requirements.

Hybrid Securities

(in thousands of euros) Tranche 1 Tranche 2 Tranche 3

Issue price 20525 12 250 18 025 50 800
Net costs (481) (156) (2) (639)
Hybrid securities net of issue costs 20044 12094 18 023 50 161
Received Coupons 301 1158 1460
TOTAL 20 044 12 395 19 182 51621

I Non-controlling interests (minority interests)

Minority interests amounted to €25 million. These correspond to the participation of financial partners, mainly in the SRFRL company
for €14 million and in the TRF3 company for €13 million.

MOTE 2E. PROVISIONS

R | R | not
(in thousands of euros) 2018  Allocation eversa eversalno Exchange Reclassification
used used
Other (Africa and Holding) 504 69 (479) 1 95
Provision for Risks 504 69 (479) 1 95

Risk provisions are for industrial risk.

The reversal mainly relates to disputes over the adjustment of the sale price of Touax Solutions Modulaires shares in 2017.
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MOTE 29. PENSION AND SIMILAR LIABILITIES

Changes in superannuation commitments can arise from:

- of personnel movements (arrivals of new personnel and departures),
- acquisition of entitlement by staff members during their employment within the business,
- changes in pay, and other actuarial assumptions.

Changein the

Changein
(in thousands of euros) 2018 Allocation REVERSAL scope of o Reserves
X K exchangerate
consolidation
River Barges 31 35 (31) 5 40
Containers 38 5 9 52
Other 284 315 (284) 32 347
TOTAL 353 355 (315) 46 439

The following assumptions were made to assess superannuation commitments:

- Employees’ predicted length of service, calculated using probability coefficients for the various age groups,
- Adiscount rate of 0.7%,

- Payrises of 2.03%,

- Changes in assumptions set the retirement age at 62 for non-executives and 65 for executives.

MOTE 30. OTHER LONG-TERM LIABILITIES

(in thousands of euros) 2019 2018
Containers 543
TOTAL >43

Other long-term liabilities represent operating debt due in more than one year for the Container activity.

MOTE 31. TRADE PAYABLES

(in thousands of euros) 2019 2018
Freight Railcar 9 086 7 589
River Barges 819 872
Containers 2261 1928
Other 3933 3695
TOTAL 16 099 14 084

All Trade Payables are due within one year.

MOTE 32. OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES

(in thousands of euros) 2019 2018
Trade payables of assets 8919 25404
Tax and social debts 8983 3938
Operating liabilities 25488 29 375
Deferred income 776 1016
Other current liabilities 8 760 7 443
TOTAL 52 926 67 176

In 2019, supplier asset-liability debt accounted for €5.3 million for the purchase of containers and €3.6 million for the purchase of
railcars. In 2018, supplier asset-liability debt accounted for €24.5 million for the purchase of containers and €0.9 million for the
purchase of railcars.

Operating liabilities mainly represent debts related to the distribution to investors of leasing and sales activities. The variation is
mainly due to the containers activity.

Other current liabilities mainly include the amounts due to investors in respect of compensation paid by clients in relation to lost or
damaged materials.

MOTE 33. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

note 33.1. TAXAUDIT

Touax Container Investment Ltd has been audited by the tax authorities since 2012. This audit resulted in numerous requests for
information to which we responded in a precise and documented manner. In continuance of the adversarial procedure, the Group
was legally obliged to buy Tax Reserve Certificates (equivalent to 4.4 million USD since the beginning of the audit to date). As the
Company and the tax authorities are still in disagreement, the case is now filed with the court of first instance. Since the position of
the administration is unfounded according to our analyses, no provision has been recorded in the accounts to date.
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Touax Maroc was audited for tax for the period 2014 to 2017. The accounts were rejected and we initiated an appeal to the National
Tax Appeal Commission in parallel with ongoing exchanges with the tax authorities. The authorities' position appears in our analysis
largely unfounded and the adjustments required only have an impact on non-activated tax deficits. Thus, no provisions have been
recorded in the accounts.

note 33.2. GUARANTEE OF LIABILITIES
A guarantee of assets and liabilities was agreed in 2017 with the purchaser of European modular buildings activity, WH BIDCO.
This guarantee on asset and liability granted for potential corporate and commercial litigation is still applicable. No provision has

been recorded against this guarantee in the accounts to 31 December 2019.

MOTE 34. RisK MANAGEMENT

note 34.1. IMARKET RISK
Financial and market risks include currency risk, interest-rate risk, equity risk, and counterparty risk.

Interest rate and currency risks are monitored through monthly reporting and are managed centrally within the Group Treasury and
Finance department, which reports them to the Management Committee on a monthly basis.

This reporting includes loans from financial institutions as well as loans made between Group subsidiaries under treasury agreements.
The information is checked, analysed, consolidated and forwarded to the Executive Committee.

note 34.2. CREDIT RISK
Credit risk is dealt with in note 22.

note 34.3. LIQUIDITY RISK AND COUNTERPARTY RISK

[ Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is managed by the Treasury and Financing Department, which reports to the General Administration and Finance
Department. Overall cash flow management at Group level allows compensation for surplus cash and cash requirements in order to
limit the use of financial borrowing.

Liquidity risk management is assessed based on the Group's 5-year plan, the annual cash flow budget and quarterly, monthly, weekly
and daily cash-flow forecasts. These forecasts reflect the anticipated operating cash flows of each of the divisions and the Group's
debt maturities. They therefore make it possible to define the financial strategy established with the executive committee. The
objective is to meet the Group's maturities, to best back the service of debts to the income generated by the assets, while trying to
optimise the financial cost of the debt and to finance, if necessary, the Group's growth.

To this end, the Group has credit lines confirmed by its financial partners, mainly in the form of (i) medium-long-term loans, (ii) asset
financing lines (borrowing and finance leasing) and (iii) bond borrowing.

All of the loans are negotiated or approved by the Treasury and Finance Department after agreement from the Group's management
in order to control the legal and financial commitments (both on and off the balance sheet) made by the Group.

Some loans include drawdown conditions (asset eligibility) and others include financial commitments (ratios) that the Group must
comply with, as indicated in note 25.3.

To meet its borrowing obligations, the Group has cash flows available from asset leasing and sales, and is establishing a program to
(re)finance assets for renewing or refinancing end of term redeemable lines as detailed in note 25.2.

A liquidity risk can occur if the Group does not have sufficient resources to meet its short-term needs, particularly its loan maturity
dates. The liquidity risk of the Group thus largely depends on its ability to refinance the in fine lines coming to maturity.

The Group's refinancing capacity depends on the amount of unfunded assets and the Group's loan to value ratio, which stood at 54%
at the end of 2019, relatively stable against 52% at the end of 2018. Where appropriate, the Group may have to implement larger
syndications or disposals of assets in the short or medium term. Already, €1 million of these debts correspond to railcar assets already
identified for syndication.

At 31 December 2019, the Group held €39.3 million in cash, €3 million of undrawn available lines and the equivalent of €1.9 million
of assets in inventory, to be sold to investors in addition to fixed assets.

The Group's future maturities are detailed in note 25.2. The breakdown of 2020 with recourse and non-recourse debt maturities is
as follows:
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(in millions of Euros) 2020

Maturities of medium long-term credit with recourse 11,0
Maturities of bonds with recourse 0,8
Non-recourse debt maturities 108,2
Annually revolving credit terms 3,6
TOTAL 123,6
Financial costs (estimated) 8,8
TOTAL 132,4

The amount of depreciation, amortization and repayment of medium and long-term recourse loans of €11 million corresponds mainly
to asset financing (barges) for €10.3 million.

The amortization of non-recourse debt of €108.3 million mainly corresponds to asset financing of €66.5 million for the Freight Railcar
division and €38.9 million for the Container division.

The Group intends to refinance these outstanding liabilities through new financing of long-term assets and/or corporate as well as
by the sale (syndications) of assets to investors. The Group believes that it is able to cope with these refinancings thanks to favourable
Loan to Value levels of this financing.

The timetable of dates when the Group’s debt falls due is as follows:

(in millions of Euros) 2024 +5 years
Debts with recourse 83,2 15,3 0,3 0,3 16,6 38,3 12,5
Debts without recourse 155,4 108,2 4,5 3,8 30,9 1,8 6,1
TOTAL 238,6 123,6 4,8 4,1 47,5 40,1 18,6

[0l Counterparty risk for the Group
It consists of the following 3 main risks:

- cancellation of approved credit lines following the default of a lender ;
- counterparty default in the unwinding of an over-the-counter derivative ;
- non-repayment of cash surpluses invested in spot or futures markets with a financial institution or as part of an investment.

The Group prefers financial institutions with first-rate banks, in other words institutions with excellent credit ratings from
international credit rating agencies, for both renewable credit facilities and over-the-counter trading of hedging derivatives.

The Group only invests its surpluses in non-dynamic monetary investment products with first-rate banks in spot or futures markets.

Accordingly, the TOUAX Group believes that its exposure to counterparty risk remains limited. The Group therefore does not use any
derivative instruments to manage this counterparty risk.

note 34.4, INTEREST-RATE RISK

To carry out its investment policy, the TOUAX Group uses debt. A majority of the Group's debt is concluded at variable rates. Interest
rate risk is thus mainly linked to these variable rate loans.

To limit the negative impact of a rise in short-term rates (although certain reference rates were negative in 2019) the Group's policy
is not to speculate on interest rates and use plain vanilla derivatives. The Group negotiates new fixed-rate or variable-rate loans
according to its ability to vary the fixed to variable rate distribution of its debt.

At 31 December 2019, fixed-rate debt (after hedging operations) represents approximately 79% of total debt.

1l Hedging of Interest Rate Risk

The Group obtains financing at both variable and fixed rates, and uses interest rate derivatives in order to reduce its net exposure to
interest rate risk. It should be recalled that these instruments are never held for speculative purposes.

Those instruments are mainly interest rate swap agreements, but the Group may occasionally use interest rate options (by purchasing
caps or floor). These instruments are traded over-the-counter with first-rate bank counterparties.

The following describes off-balance sheet financial instruments at 31 December 2019:

Nominal amount distributed by maturity Valuation on

Nominal amount
31/12/19

< 1year from 1to 5 years > 5 years

(in thousands of euros)

Fixed rate borrower/fixed rate lender rate swaps

EUR Euribor / fixed rate 71486 39785 31897

USD Euribor / fixed rate 8438 8438

GBP Euribor / fixed rate 12 251 12 251

TOTAL INTEREST RATE HEDGING 92 175 60474 31897 (818)

In accordance with the lenders' requirements, the Group has set up the following hedging instruments:

- In 2015, when a Freight Railcar financing line was refinanced for €55 million (SRFRL joint venture), a swap aimed at hedging
variable interest rate fluctuations (EURIBOR) was put in place covering 90% of the Long Term Loan in euros.
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- In 2016, at the EUR and GBP refinancing of a €29.7 million-equivalent Freight Railcar financing line (TRF3 joint venture), a
swap to cover variable interest rate fluctuations (LIBOR GBP) had been set up covering 75% of the Long Term Loan in GBP,
with the EUR share being hedged by using a cap.

- In 2018, when a Freight Railcar financing line (TRF/TRF2) was refinanced for €48 million, a swap aimed at hedging variable
interest rate fluctuations (EURIBOR) was put in place covering 90% of the Long Term Loan in euros. An adjustment to this
swap was made in December 2019 following syndication.

- In 2018, when refinancing an equivalent of €22.7 million container financing line (TCAF), a swap to hedge variable interest
rate fluctuations (LIBOR USD) was set up to cover 50% of the Long Term Loan in USD.

The fair value of these hedges was -€818 thousand at 31 December 2019.
The impact of derivative instruments on the gross debt per currency is presented below:

e o s Amounts on 31 December 2019

before hedging operations Impact of derivatives after hedging operations
Euro at fixed rate 68 907 71486 140 393
Euro at variable rate 85 209 (71 486) 13723
Dollar at fixed rate 12 099 8438 20 537
Dollar at variable rate 38 938 (8 438) 30 500
Pound at fixed rate 12 251 12 251
Pound at variable rate 18 484 (12 251) 6234
Other currencies at fixed rate 14 847 14 847
Other currencies at variable rate 109 109
TOTAL fixed rate debt 95 853 92175 188 028
TOTAL variable rate debt 142 740 (92 175) 50 566
TOTAL DEBT 238 594 238 594

[l Sensitivity to changes in interest rates

A 1% increase in short-term interest rates would directly impact the Group's financial charges of approximately €0.5 million, or
approximately 4.6% of theoretical financial costs at 31 December 2019. This theoretical calculation is determined after taking into
account derivatives, on the assumption that gross debt remains stable over the coming financial year.

note 34.5. CURRENCY RISK

[0l Operational currency risk

The TOUAX Group has an international presence and activity. It is therefore exposed to currency fluctuations. In fact, the US dollar
accounted for nearly 50% of the Group's activities.

Despite this significant exposure to currencies, the Group considers that it is subject relatively little to operational currency risk
because most of its expenses are denominated in the same currency as income. In addition, financings at Group subsidiary level are
generally made in local currency.

However, the Group may need to set up hedges for its budget or for orders when operational currency risks are identified. In this
case, the hedging instruments used are forward sales or purchases, or plain vanilla options.

The Group's main identified operational currency risks are related to:

- the structure of overheads for the Containers business, which are mostly in euros while revenues are in US dollars;
- the production of modular buildings, where the Moroccan dirham is the main currency but sales are in euros or foreign
currencies.

Operational currency risk was not hedged to 31 December 2019.

I Financial currency risk

The Group's objective is to minimise financial currency risks, i.e. risks related to financial operations in a currency whose fluctuations
would affect financial income. Balance sheet positions in foreign currency are tracked monthly and reported to the Executive
Committee. At 31 December 2019, these positions mainly include current account positions with subsidiaries, particularly in US dollar,
which are therefore hedged satisfactorily by futures.

As part of its overall cash flow management, the Group is led to change surpluses of a currency into euros, in order to minimise
financial expenses and recourse to bank debt. As part of this multi-currency cash management, the Group regularly sets up forward
buying/selling contracts making it possible to offset variations in the value of inter-company loans. These forward contracts are taken
out with first-rate banking counterparts.

I Currency risk on Investments

Due to its presence in various countries, the Group is subject to currency risks related to its investments in foreign subsidiaries. This
risk arises in the changes in the Group's equity (net investment rule) and in the conversion of the subsidiary's income into euros in
the parent company.

The Group does not hedge the currency risk concerning its equity. However, on several occasions in the past it has hedged the risk
of converting the foreign currency income of some of its subsidiaries into Euros by purchasing options from first-rate counterparties,
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using the entities' budgeted income as a reference. At 31 December 2019 the Group did not have any hedging positions for its foreign
currency income budget for 2020.
[l Hedging of Currency Risk

The Group therefore sets up forward exchange transactions on a regular basis in order to hedge its exposure linked to managing its
cash in foreign currencies (USD).

The following describes the foreign currency forward exchange transactions portfolio at 31 December 2019:

(in thousands of euros) Nominal amount Maximum term
Term Purchase Portfolio USD 2670 31/01/2020
TOTAL TERM PURCHASE PORTFOLIOS 2670

> Currency risk management

(in thousands of euros) 2019
Changein fair value of hedge (256)
Changein fair value of hedged item 280
NET IMPACT ON GROUP INCOME FROM HEDGES OF FAIR VALUE 25

I Impact of the exchange rate on the operating income and on shareholders' equity

The Group’s exposure to fluctuations in exchange rates is mainly concentrated on shifts in the US dollar, the Moroccan Dirham and
the Indian Rupee. other foreign currencies are insignificant. The parity used to convert foreign currency accounts of subsidiaries into
euros has the following impact on the Group’s income and share of shareholders’ equity in case of a 10% fall in value.

Impact on current operating Impact on shareholders' equity -
income as at 31/12/2019 Group share at 31/12/2019
10% fall in the US dollar -3,59% -3,76%
10% fall in the Moroccan Dirham 0,14% 0,76%
10% fall in the Indian rupee -1,09% -0,37%

The Modular Buildings activity in Africa is mainly denominated in euros and Moroccan dirhams. The River Barges and Freight Railcar
activities are mainly denominated in euros in Europe, in US dollars in the United States and South America (for barges), and in Indian
rupees in India (for railcars). The leasing and sale of Containers is international, and is mostly denominated in US dollars.

For long-term assets and liabilities the Group's policy is to correlate fixed assets denominated in foreign currency with borrowings
denominated in the same currency, to avoid exposure to foreign exchange risk.

note 34.6. EQUITY RISK
Equity risk is the risk of an adverse change in the price of equity securities held by the Group.

The Group’s investment strategy provides for only investing surplus liquidity in cash-based mutual funds (UCITS) for short periods.
The Group has no dealings on the financial stock markets.

The main equity risk concerns the liquidity agreement that the Group signed with an investment services provider. The amounts
currently invested do not represent a significant risk for the Group.

note 34.7. RAW MATERIAL PRICES RISK

This risk is further explained under risk factors, in paragraph 4.3.24 of the universal registration document.

note 34.8. TAXRISK

See note 33.1 on contingent liability in the appendix to the consolidated financial statements.

note 34.9. EMPLOYMENT RISK

See note 33.2 on contingent liability in the appendix to the consolidated financial statements.

MOTE 35. RELATED PARTIES AS DEFINED IN |AS 24

The definition used for related parties is that given in IAS 24.9. Related parties are the key management personnel of TOUAX SCA, i.e.
those who have authority and responsibility for planning, managing, and controlling the Group’s activities. The officers who fit this
description are Fabrice and Raphaél WALEWSKI, the Managing Partners of TOUAX SCA, as well as Société Holding de Gestion et de
Participation (SHGP) and Société Holding de Gestion et de Location (SHGL), General Partners. Members of the Supervisory Board, in
view of their control function, are also regarded as related parties.

€257 thousand in statutory remuneration for the year 2018 was paid to the General Partners in 2019.
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A related party has a significant influence if it is able to take part in financial and operational policy decisions, without however
exerting control over these policies. This influence is deemed to be significant if a physical person, legal entity or group of persons
holds over 20% of the voting rights: Alexandre, Fabrice and Raphaé&l WALEWSKI acting together hold directly and indirectly over 20 %
of the shares.

The Group has not concluded any significant transactions with related parties.

The remuneration of corporate officers is detailed in chapter 15 of the reference document. The total remuneration of
corporate officers in 2019 was €1,179 thousand and $193 thousand.

A transaction was indirectly concluded between TOUAX SCA and its Managing Partners, through a real estate investment trust,
relating to the leasing of its premises in the Tour Franklin for a total of €0.8 million per year.

The remuneration of members of the Supervisory Board is detailed in chapter 15 of the reference document. It amounted to €63
thousand.

Relations between the parent company and its subsidiaries are explained in section 7.2 of this reference document and in note 26.5
of the appendix to the individual financial statements.

NOTE 36. IFRS16

[l Summary

- The accounting and transition principle and approach are presented in note 1.1.

- Leases are presented in note 1.20.3 (lessor perspective).

- Revenue from activities is presented in note 1.20.1 to note 1.20.6 and note 4.

- Net distributions to investors are presented in note 1.20.8 and note 9 (lessee perspective).

- Therestated lease amount is presented in note 5.

- Depreciation for right-of-use assets is presented in note 10.

- Interest paid on leases is presented in note 12.

- The reclassification of leased assets as right-of-use is presented in note 18.2.

- Right of use is presented in note 19.

- Lease liabilities are presented in note 26.

- Leases exempt from the standard (whose term is less than 1 year or whose asset value is less than $5,000) are presented in
note 37.1.

[l Lease payments

The total amount of lease payments made in 2019 was €58 million:

note no. (in thousands of euros) 2019

9 Net distributions to investors 53392
26 Lease payments related to real estate leases 782
26 Lease payments related to equipment leases for barges and other equipment 3819
26 Lease payments related to equipment leases for vehicles and copiers 123

37.1 Lease payments related to short-term leases or for low-value goods 180
TOTAL 58 296

The amount disbursed does not differ significantly from the lease expenses.

MOTE 37. OFF-BALANCE SHEET COMMITMENTS

The presentation made does not omit any significant off-balance sheet commitments according to current accounting standards.

note 37.1. NON-CAPITALIZED OPERATING LEASES

Under IFRS 16, most operating leases are now capitalised. The Group has retained the exemption proposed by the standard not to
activate short-term or low-value contracts.

The table below therefore presents the leases whose term is less than 1 year or whose underlying asset has a value of less than
$5,000 when new:

Freight

(in thousands of euros) Railcar River Barges Containers Other 2019
Rentals on property contracts 65 45 110
Leases relating to non-operating property leases 28 25 17 70
Rental expenses in 2019 93 0 25 62 180
Rentals on property contracts 65 46 111
Leases relating to non-operating property leases 21 9 7 37
Rental commitments in 2020 86 0 9 53 148
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note 37.2. OTHER COMMITMENTS MADE

[l Bank guarantees issued by the Group at 31 December 2019

(in thousands of euros) Amount Maximum maturity
Bank guarantees 1551

River barges 6 indefinite period
Modular Buildings Africa 1544 indefinite period

[l Materials from external suppliers of firm orders

At 31 December 2019, orders and firm investments in operational assets from third parties amounted to €82.7 million,
including €2.4 million in barges and €80.3 million in railcars.

note 37.3. OTHER UNDERTAKINGS RECEIVED

[0l Fixed-term operating leases

The minimum receivable future payments under operating leases totalled €230.9 million.

(in thousands of euros) Freight Railcar River Barges Containers

0 - 6 months 21894 2947 20870 45711
6 months - 1 year 20377 2957 15931 39 265
Between 1 and 5 years 64 073 14 750 44 970 123793
More than 5 years 15 829 424 5 869 22 122
TOTAL OPERATIONAL RENTS 122 173 21 078 87 640 230 891
(in thousands of euros) Freight Railcar River Barges Containers

0 - 6 months 16 253 2816 21594 9 40 672
6 months - 1 year 13391 2523 16 570 32484
Between 1 and 5 years 36283 10 152 47 409 93 844
More than 5 years 9 265 1916 4023 15204
TOTAL OPERATIONAL RENTS 75 192 17 407 89 596 9 182 204

note 37.4. SECURED DEBT PROVIDED

To guarantee the loans granted to finance the Group's proprietary assets (apart from leasing agreements), the Group's subsidiaries
have granted the following security interests:

31 December 2019
Pledged asset

Balance Sheet

(in thousands of euros) Commencement Maturity (original collateral .
item gross value

value)

Mortgages (river barges)

2012 2020 4978
2012 2020 9747
2013 2020 9747
TOTAL 24472 58 117 42,1%
Tangible assets pledged
Freight Railcars 188 879 314 629
2015 2020 91 023
2018 2021 